The value of stable isotope applications to identify the origin and fate of NO_3^- in small catchments

DISSERTATION

To attain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Science

(Dr. rer.nat.)

Submitted to

the Bayreuth Graduate School for Mathematical and Natural Sciences (BayNAT) of the University of Bayreuth

Presented by

Silvia Parra Suárez Born February 22, 1986 In Cuenca (Ecuador)

First Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Gerhard Gebauer

Bayreuth, December 2017

This doctoral thesis was prepared at the Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry at the University of Bayreuth from 04.2013 until 12.2017 and was supervised by Prof. Dr. Gerhard Gebauer.

Date of submission: 18.12.2017 Date of re-submission: 19.02.2018 Date of defense: 20.03.2018

Acting director: Prof. Dr. Dirk Schüler

Doctoral committee: Prof. Dr. Gerhard Gebauer (reviewer) Prof. Dr. Egbert Matzner (reviewer) Prof. John Tenhunen, PhD (chairman) JProf. Dr. Johannna Pausch

Summary

In the last decades we have witnessed an increase in the nitrogen pollution of water resources worldwide. High nitrate accumulation in drinking water resources can be potentially dangerous to human health, but more specifically, it can reduce the environmental quality of terrestrial/aquatic ecosystems and increase the water management costs. Furthermore, nitrate accumulated in waterlogged soils stimulates microbial denitrification and thus, contributes to emissions of the greenhouse gas N_2O .

Since complex mountainous terrains represent about 20% of the world and provide fresh water to half of the humanity (Liniger et al., 1998), it is essential to study nitrate-N dynamics in terrestrial ecosystems, identifying non-point nitrate pollution sources in water and understand the fate/transformations of nitrate into the environment in these complex mountainous terrains. This could give us a better view of the total global nitrate-N cycle in catchments under the influence of different land use types, like forests and agroecosystems and also explore nitrate/ N_2O relationships during the final phase of the nitrogen cycle.

The main focus of this thesis is (1) to quantify the proportional contribution of different nitrate sources to the export of nitrate from the Haean agricultural and two forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed in the northern part of South Korea as influenced by the monsoon precipitation regime. (2) Identify the origin/fate of nitrate export in the Haean agricultural and the two forest sub-catchments using nitrate $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ isotope abundance. (3) Improve the methodology to assess and distinguish between N₂O production from NO₃⁻ and N₂O consumption via further denitrification to N₂.

Considering summer rainfall inputs from a monsoon season (2103) with precipitations above the eleven years average (Kim et al., 2007) and an almost failed monsoon season (2014) with rainfalls clearly below the average, we develop scenarios for nitrate exports from forest and agricultural catchments in East Asian summer monsoon climate regions under conditions as predicted by global climate change scenarios. We also address a quantitative assessment of the N₂O production/consumption in waterlogged soils at a mountainous peat bog in the Czech Republic.

Heavy monsoon events, as in 2013, were the most pronounced drivers of nitrate leaching being responsible for more than 80 % of the nitrate output in the river runoff in both agricultural and forest sub-catchments. On the other hand, an almost missing summer monsoon in 2014 drove the

nitrate runoff in a different manner, being responsible for less than 1% of the total nitrate nitrogen river discharge in the previous year in both land use types.

Results of nitrate nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundance analyses suggest soil microbial nitrification as the most important contributor to the nitrate in the river runoff in the Haean agricultural and the forest sub-catchments. In addition, nitrate from groundwater, specifically in the agricultural land, and partially affected by microbial denitrification, contributed to the nitrate in the river runoff due to river-aquifer exchange fluxes especially after onset of the monsoon season.

In addition to nitrate from soil microbial nitrification wet atmospheric nitrate deposition played an important role especially at the mixed forest site, where it became a considerable source for the nitrate runoff after onset of the monsoon season. The deciduous forest showed better nitrate assimilation and retention capacities than the mixed forest. Despite higher nitrate concentrations as observed for the soil along depth profiles in parallel with higher soil pH values at the deciduous forest site nitrate losses by discharge were consistently lower than at the mixed forest site. In this thesis we confirm under field conditions a conceptual model developed by Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994), in which they postulated that nitrate from microbial mineralization and nitrification follows in its isotopic composition the soil total nitrogen isotope gradient. In our final study related with N₂O production/consumption we found that this waterlogged soil site was a sink for N₂O rather than a source. The relation of NO₃⁻ and N₂O isotope composition was complex with a combination of various processes along a soil depth gradient.

Our investigation shows that in extremely different monsoon seasons, as in 2013 and 2014, the nitrate leaching in the Haean agricultural and forest catchments was influenced by different hydrological and biogeochemical processes leading to different nitrate export scenarios during summer monsoon seasons. The simultaneous analysis of nitrate nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundances turned out as an elegant tool to separate the majority of these complex processes.

Zusammenfassung

In den letzten Jahrzehnten haben wir weltweit einen Anstieg der Stickstoffbelastung der Wasserressourcen erlebt. Eine hohe Nitratakkumulation in den Trinkwasserressourcen kann für die menschliche Gesundheit potenziell gefährlich sein, insbesondere jedoch die Umweltqualität terrestrisch/aquatischer Ökosysteme verringern und die Wassermanagementkosten erhöhen. Weiterhin stimuliert Nitrate in feuchten Böden die mikrobielle Denitrifikation und trägt so zur erhöhten Emission des Treibhausgases N₂O bei.

Da komplexe Gebirgsregionen etwa 20% der Erdoberfläche ausmachen und die Hälfte der Menschheit mit Trinkwasser versorgen (Liniger et al. 1998), ist es wichtig, die Nitrat-N-Dynamik in terrestrischen Ökosystemen zu untersuchen, nicht-punktförmige Nitratquellen im Wasser zu identifizieren und das Schicksal sowie den Umsatz von Nitrat in den Ökosystemen dieses komplexen gebirgigen Terrains besser zu verstehen. Damit könnten wir einen besseren Überblick über den gesamten globalen Nitrat-N-Zyklus in Einzugsgebieten unter dem Einfluss verschiedener Landnutzungstypen, wie Wald- und Agrarökosystemen, gewinnen und auch die Nitrat/N₂O-Beziehungen in einer weit fortgeschrittenen Phase des Stickstoffzyklus besser verstehen.

Das Hauptaugenmerk dieser Arbeit ist (1) die Quantifizierung des proportionalen Beitrags verschiedener Nitratquellen zum Nitrataustrag aus dem landwirtschaftlich geprägten Haean-Einzugsgebiet und zweier Waldeinzugsgebiete in der Lake Soyang Region im nördlichen Teil von Südkorea. (2) Die Identifikation der Herkunft und des Schicksals von Nitrat im agrarisch geprägten Einzugsgebiet von Haean und den beiden Waldeinzugsgebieten unter Zuhilfenahme der Stickstoffund Sauerstoffisotopenhäufigkeit von Nitrat. (3) Die Verbesserung der Methodik zur Bewertung und Unterscheidung der Prozesse bei der N2O-Bildung aus NO3⁻ und des N2O-Verbrauchs bei der weiteren Denitrifikation zu N2.Unter Berücksichtigung eines extrem hohen Niederschlags während des ostasiatischen Sommermonsuns 2013 mit Niederschlägen weit über dem elfjährigen Durchschnitt (Kim et al. 2007) und eines fast vollständig ausgefallenen Sommermonsuns 2014 mit deutlich unter dem Durchschnitt liegenden Regenfällen, entwickeln wir Szenarien für den Nitrataustrag aus Waldwie und landwirtschaftlichen Einzugsgebieten unter Bedingungen, sie von globalen Klimawandelszenarien für Regionen mit Sommermonsun vorhergesagt werden. Darüberhinaus beschäftigen wir uns auch mit einer quantitativen Bewertung der N2O-Produktion und des-Verbrauchs in wassergesättigten Böden in einem gebirgigen Torfmoor in der Tschechischen Republik.

Starker Monsunregen im Jahr 2013 warder Hauptgrund für einen hohen Nitrataustrag. Mehr als 80% des Nitrataustrags fanden sowohl im landwirtschaftlich geprägten als auch in den beiden Waldeinzugsgebieten mit dem Monsunregen statt. Ein fast fehlender Sommermonsun im Jahr 2014 führte hingegen zu einem erheblich verringeren Nitratabfluss, der für beide Landnutzungstypen weniger als 1% des gesamten Nitratstickstoffaustrags im Vorjahr ausmachte. Die Ergebnisse der Nitratstickstoff- und -sauerstoff-Isotopenhäufigkeitsanalysen weisen darauf hin, dass die mikrobielle Nitrifikation im Boden in allen untersuchten Einzugegebieten der wichtigste Faktor für den Nitrataustrag im Abfluss verantwortlich war. Darüber hinaus trug Nitrat aus dem Grundwasser, das teilweise durch mikrobielle Denitrifikation beeinflusst war, aufgrund von Austauschprozessen zwischen Fluss und Grundwasser insbesondere in den landwirtschaftlichen Flächen bei Beginn der Monsunzeit zum Nitrataustrag bei.

Zusätzlich zum Nitrat aus der mikrobiellen Nitrifikation im Boden spielte auch der Nitrateintrag aus der atmosphärischen Deposition insbesondere im Mischwaldeinzugegebiet eine wichtige Rolle. Dort wurde er nach Beginn der Monsunzeit zu einer beachtlichen Quelle für den Nitrataustrag. Insgesamt war im Laubwald die Nitratassimilations- und –retentionskapazität höher als im Mischwald. Trotz höherer Nitratkonzentrationen im Bodenprofil und eines höheren Boden-pH-Werts war der Nitrataustrag aus dem Laubwald durchgängig niedriger als aus dem Mischwald. In dieser Arbeit bestätigen wir auch unter Feldbedingungen ein von Nadelhoffer und Fry (1994) entwickeltes konzeptionelles Modell, in dem sie postulierten, dass Nitrat aus der mikrobiellen Mineralisierung und Nitrifikation in seiner Isotopenzusammensetzung dem Isotopengradienten im Gesamtstickstoff des Bodens folgt. In unserer abschließenden Studie, die sich der N₂O-Produktion aus Nitratund dem N₂O-Verbrauch widmete, zeigte sich, dass der hier untersuchte wassergesättigte Moorkörper eher eine Senke für N₂O als eine N₂O-Quelle war. Die Beziehung in der isotopischen Zusammensetzung von NO₃⁻ und N₂O erwies sich als komplex mit einer Kombination verschiedener Prozesse entlang des Bodentiefengradienten.

Unsere Untersuchung zeigt, dass der Nitrataustrag in den untersuchten Agrar- und Waldeinzugsgebieten in extrem unterschiedlichen Monsunperioden, wie in den Jahren 2013 und 2014, durch unterschiedliche hydrologische und biogeochemische Prozesse beeinflusst wurde, die zu unterschiedlichen Nitrataustragsszenarien während des Sommermonsuns führten. Die simultane Bestimmung der Stickstoff- und Sauerstoffisotopenhäufigkeit im Nitrat erwies sich als elegantes Mittel zur weitgehenden Trennung dieser komplexen Prozesse.

Acknowledgements

"The attitude of gratitude is the highest form of life, and it is the greatest truth, the highest truth, you cannot live with an applied conscience until you understand that you have to be grateful for what you have. If you are grateful for what you have, then Mother Nature will give you more." - Yogi Bhajan, 8/30/91

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who supported me and contributed to the successful completion of this thesis. The deepest meaning of "Doctoral Father" says it all. I have to express my greatest thankfulness to Gerhard Gebauer for believing in me, for enhancing my strengths and reinforce my weaknesses, for teaching me and guide me whenever I need it, although, as his first foreign student, my very different cultural and academic background may have been quite difficult to deal with. I thank to John Tenhunen for coordinating and getting me involve in TERRECO. Also to my mentorat, Prof. Stefan Peiffer and Prof. Egbert Matzner for all the feedback they gave me along the sampling camping and the analysis of my results. I thank Martin Novak for the great opportunity to work with him in such amazing project in the Czech Republic, and for his ability to work on a manuscript within the shortest time possible. I thank to the founding of this thesis to DFG (GRK 1565/1) and also to SENESCYT (National Secretary for Higher Education Science and Technology) from the Ecuadorian government and its scholarship that financed the data analysis period for this research.

I thank to Mi-Hee Lee and Jean Lionel Payeur-Poirier for the amazing time in South Korea and all the logictic coordination in the field work. I want to thank Steve Linder and Sebastian Arnhold (†) for being my friends and family during all these years, I thank them specially for babysitting my son whenever I need it. But especially to Seb who always brought joy to our home, we deeply miss you my friend; our lives will never be the same again.

I thank to Julienne Schiebold, for the nice and sometimes very long talks with tons of coffee included, for being a good friend who listened to me whenever I was homesick.

I thank the technicians Christine Tiroch, Petra Eckert, Isolde Baumann, from the Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry for the very long hours of analyzing my samples. I also would like to thank to Jutta Eckert from the Department of Hydrology for helping me with the nitrate concentration analysis.

Last but not less important, I want to thank my family for always supporting me. To my mother for establish the foundations of who I am, for helping me growing in a human, spiritual and professional way, for being the mother of my son when I was absent, she is my teacher and best friend. She always thought I can do everything. I thank to my father for all the sacrifice he has had to make for my wellbeing. He showed me how far you can go for your own child. I thank my brothers and aunt, each one of them has contributed so that my time away from home is more bearable. I want to thank and apologize to my son Mati, for all the time I was not there, in his birthdays, when he got sick, and in many other important events. He is the reason why I do everything, he is my friend and I know I will never be alone if he is next to me. I want to thank the love of my life Andreas Kolb, without him nothing would have been possible, he supported me in many ways, he made me laugh so laud when I was frustrated, he hugged me and dry my tears when I was sad, he helped me get up on the many occasions in which I felt and wanted to give up. He did everything to see me happy. Te amo mucho mi amor.

Contents

Sı	ımmaryi
Zı	ısammenfassungiii
A	cknowledgementsv
C	ontentsvi
Li	st of figuresix
Li	st of tables xii
Li	st of abbreviations xv
C	hapter 1: Extended summary 1
1.	General Introduction1
	 1.1 Nitrate-N inputs and generation in complex terrains under the influence of East Asian monsoon season
2. 3. 4.	Objectives
	4.1 Sampling site 1 (Chapter 2 and 3)
5.	 4.2.2. Anarysis
6. 7. 8.	Concluding remarks.28Record of contribution to this thesis.29References.31

	Abstract	41
1.	Introduction	42
2.	Materials and methods	44
	2.1 Study site	44
	2.2 Field instrumentation and data collection	46
	2.2.1 Weir locations and discharge calculations	46
	2.2.2 Weather stations and rainfall measurements	47
	2.2.3 Groundwater wells	47
	2.3 Sample collection, storage, transportation and analysis	48
	2.3.1 Nitrate concentration analysis	49
	2.3.2 Sample preparation and nitrate isotope abundance analysis	49
	2.4 Calculation of nitrate fluxes, isotope data treatments and statistical analyses	51
3.	Results	52
	3.1 Hydrological characteristics	52
	3.2 Nitrate concentrations and seasonality of nitrate fluxes	54
	3.2.1 Rainfall	54
	3.2.2 Stream runoff	57
	3.2.3 Groundwater	61
	3.3 Stable isotope abundances in nitrate and fertilizers	62
4.	Discussion	63
	4.1 Hydrological situation in the Haean sub-catchment in the seasons 2013 and 2014	63
	4.2 Seasonality of nitrate concentrations and fluxes in precipitation input and stream r the seasons 2013 and 2014	unoff in
	4.3 Groundwater nitrate	66
	4.4 Identifying the origin and fate of nitrate in the Haean sub-catchment based o	n stable
	isotope abundances	67
5.	Conclusion	72
6	Acknowledgements	73
7.	References	74

Chapter 3: The fate of monsoonal atmospheric nitrate deposition in two forest catchments in Soyang lake watershed, South Korea – A mass balance and stable isotope approach......80

	Abstract	.81
1.	Introduction	82
2.	Materials and methods	.84
	2.1 Research site	84
	2.2 Field instrumentation and data collection	86
	2.3 Weir locations and discharge calculations	87
	2.4 Weather stations and rainfall measurements	87
	2.5 Laboratory analysis	87

2.5.1 Nitrate concentration analysis	
2.5.2 Sample preparation and isotope analysis	
2.5.3 Nitrate fluxes, isotope calculations and statistical analysis	
3. Results	
3.1 Hydrological and Weather Features	90
3.2 Nitrate concentrations and seasonality of nitrate fluxes	91
3.2.1 Nitrate in rain	91
3.2.2 Nitrate in stream runoff	95
3.3 δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O of nitrate input and output	96
3.4 Soil nitrate status	98
4. Discussion	102
4.1 Extremely different monsoon seasons and hydrological responses	102
4.2 Seasonality of nitrate input and output at the deciduous and mixed forest site	102
4.3 Nitrate source identification	104
4.4 Soil nitrate status.	106
5. Conclusion	100
7. Poforences	/ 100 100
/. References	108
Chapter 4:Relationship between nitrogen isotope ratios of NO ₃ ⁻ and N ₂ O in vertical po	re-water
profiles through a polluted rain-fed peat bog (Ore Mts., Central Europe)	114
Abstract	115
1 Introduction	116
 Materials and methods 	118
2.1 Study site	110
2.1 Study Site	110
	120
2.2.1 N ₂ O gas samplers	120
2.2.2 NO ₃ water samplers	121
2.2.3 N_2O gas sampling	121
2.2.4 N_2O gas sampling	
2.3 Analysis	122
3. Results	123
2.2 Development in N concentration in solid next	123
3.2 Downcore trends in N concentrations in peat nore water	120
$3.4 ^{15}\text{N}$ values of pore-water NO ⁻ and N ₂ O	120
3.5 Pore-water δ^{18} O-H ₂ O values	120
5.5 Tore water 0 0 1120 values	1/X
4. Discussion	128
4. Discussion	128
 4. Discussion	128 131 131 131
 4. Discussion	128 131 131 131 133
 4. Discussion	128 131 131 131 133 133
 4. Discussion	128 131 131 131 133 134 135

Declaration – Erklärung	145
7. References	140
6. Acknowledgements	
5. Conclusion	

List of figures

Chapter 1:

- Fig.2 Soyang lake watershed (b) located in the northeastern part of South Korea (a).....11

Fig.3	Investigated sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed (a). A river area (c) within the agricultural Haean sub-catchment located in the northern part of the watershed (b) was chosen as the most representative in terms of land use and water flow. Complementary research was conducted in a pure deciduous forest (d) located within the Haean sub-catchment and a mixed forest (coniferous-deciduous) located 6 km from Haean agricultural sub-catchment (e)
Fig.4	Weirs located in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment (a and c) and the mixed (b) and deciduous (d) forest sub-catchments
Fig. 5	Weather stations (a) and rainfall collectors (b) recorded precipitation data and rain samples in the investigated agricultural Haean and forest sub-catchments
Fig. 6	Groundwater wells (b) installed at two sampling points in a different altitudinal gradient and under distinct land uses (a)
Fig. 7	Equal equipment was installed in the forest sub-catchments. Throughfall collectors for rain samples (c). Cero tension plates (b) and suction ceramic cups (a) for soil water samples16
Fig. 8	Scheme of the nitrate isolation procedure
Fig. 9	Study site location. (a) The Brumiste Bog (BR) is situated 20 km west of the "Black Triangle" region near the state border between the Czech Republic, Poland and Germany. The N isotope study was conducted in a <i>Sphagnum</i> lawn (b) extending over the southern tip of BR

Chapter 2:

- **Fig.2** Nitrogen input from nitrate deposition by rainfall (kg ha⁻¹) measured at the three sampling locations forest, dry land and rice paddies within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-

catchment and temporal distribution and intensity of rainfall events during the sampling campaigns (May to August) 2013 and 2014......54

- **Fig.7** Nitrate ŏ18O values from stream samples during pre-monsoon and monsoon season 2013 compared with the total rainfall per day and precipitation events in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment. All the sampling points are included in this graph......71

Chapter 3:

- **Fig.3** Temporal distribution of total N_{NO3}^{-1} fluxes (kg ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) in discharge runoff measured at the forest sub-catchments, during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in deciduous site (a) 2013 and (b) 2014 and mixed site (c) 2013 and (d) 2014. Correlations between peaks in N_{NO3}^{-1} (kg ha⁻¹) and storm events (mm) at the deciduous forest during monsoon season 2013 (e) and

- **Fig.7** Nitrate δ¹⁵N and δ¹⁸O values in stream water collected in 2013 plotted together with a calculated theoretical microbial nitrification (lined box) and denitrification (dotted line) in the investigated deciduous and mixed forest during growing season. Arrow represent the direction of the nitrate δ¹⁸O isotope composition in atmospheric deposition (Lee et al. 2008)......105

Chapter 4:

- Fig.4 Reactive nitrogen compounds and water oxygen isotopes in BR peat pore water, early summer 2017. (a) NO₃⁻ concentrations; (B) N₂O concentrations; (c) ð¹⁸O-H₂O values. Means and standard errors are given. Down arrows mark atmospheric inputs and surface runoff......129

Fig.6	Negative details	correlation	between	ð ¹⁵ N-NO ₃ -	and	$ð^{15}$ N-N ₂ O	values	in	peat	pore	waters.	See	text	for 130
	actanon													120

List of tables

Chapter 2:

- **Table 1.** Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) daily (a) input (mm d⁻¹) and (b) discharge runoff (m³ d⁻¹) data for the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. On days without rainfall the minimum of daily input was of course zero. Daily values were summed up to obtain total rain input (mm) and discharge runoff (m³) data and separated for the usually dry pre-monsoon season (May and June) and the usually rainy monsoon season (July and August).......53

Chapter 3:

- **Table 6.** Soil pH values at different soil depths in the investigated deciduous and mixed forest subcatchments. Mean pH values are shown in bold font for each site......100

Chapter 4:

Table 1.	Study site characteristics
Table 2.	Chemism of Brumiste (BR) bog water, number of samples n = 8 (Bohdalkova et al., 2013)
Table 3.	Concentration and δ^{15} N values of ammonium (NH ₄ ⁺) and nitrate (NO ₃ ⁻) in atmospheric deposition and runoff, Brumiste Bog (BR), Ore Mountains, Czech Republic124
Table 4.0	Concentration and ð ¹⁵ N values of pore-water N ₂ O along vertical profiles through Sphagnum- dominated peat bog BR (Czech Republic)127
Table 5. (Concentration and ð ¹⁵ N values of pore-water NO ₃ ⁻ along vertical profiles through Sphagnum dominated peat bog BR (Czech Republic)128

Table 6 . δ^{18} O values of pore water along vertical peat profiles, BR (Czech Re	public)130
Table 7. Atmospheric deposition fluxes of reactive nitrogen forms in the vic Data from catchment Jezeri, Ore Mts. (Oulehle, 2018)	inity of Brumiste (BR).

List of abbreviations

BaI ₂	Barium iodide
Ba(NO ₃) ₂	Barium nitrate
BR	Brumiste
C:N	carbon nitrogen ratio
СО	Carbon Monoxide
DFG	Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
H ₂ O	Water
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency
KNP	Potassium, Nitrogen and Phosphorous
MAFRA	Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
Ν	Nitrogen
NaI	sodium iodide
N2	Atmopsheric nitrogen
N2O	Nitrous oxide
NH4+	Ammonium
NO	Nitric oxide
NOx	Nitrogen oxides
NO3-	Nitrate
NK	Nitrogen Potassium
pН	Hydrogen potential
SENESCYT	National Secretary for Higher Education Science and Technology
TERRECO	Complex TERRain and ECOlogical Heterogeneity

WAMIS	Water resources management information system
WHO	World Health Organization

Chapter 1

Extended Summary

1. General Introduction

Almost the entire country of South Korea is composed of a heterogeneous mountainous landscape with complex and irregular topography. Due to the fact that 70% of the landscape is mountainous terrain (Bashkin et al., 2002), the remaining non-mountainous landscape fractions are not sufficient for cities and agricultural land. Thus, large mountainous areas are also under extensive agricultural use. East Asian monsoon with extreme precipitation regimes in summer time adds as a second hazard to the mountainous topography and makes natural and agricultural complex terrain ecosystems in this part of the world rather fragile. High precipitation events (monsoon), steep slopes, different flow directions, high erosion rates, land use change, mountainous agriculture, high river discharge rates that carry large amounts of sediments and contaminates, as nitrate, imply a large hazard to water quality and other ecosystem services. Therefore, nitrate source identification is a priority for the decision makers in South Korea. Simultaneously, this part of the world is a perfect location to improve our understanding of nitrate-N dynamics in both forest and agroecosystems.

1.1 Nitrate-N inputs and generation in complex terrains under the influence of East Asian monsoon season

Nitrate input and generation in ecosystems mostly has different origins. In natural ecosystems, microbial mineralization and nitrification are responsible for the nitrate available in soils (Vitousek and Howarth, 1991). Nitrate from nitrification of organic N needs ammonium (NH_4^+) as source material. Ecosystems can have high nitrification rates with simultaneously low ammonium and nitrate concentrations in the soil. This can be explained by the fact that nitrate is highly mobile and is taken up by plants, leached from soils or even denitrified as fast as it has been produced (Chapin et al., 2002). This panorama changes when we observe ecosystems with high atmospheric nitrogen deposition, in which nitrification rates are solved to be a solved to be an increase by 25% (McNulty et al., 1990). Inputs of atmospheric nitrate-N to ecosystems free of anthropogenic pollution are considered as rather small (Hedin et al.,

1995).On the other hand, anthropogenic activities increase these inputs in a way that nitrate-N of atmospheric origin can become the major nitrogen source for lots of ecosystems on the globe. Especially the emission of nitric oxides through fossil fuel combustion in industrialized countries is counted as directly responsible for at least 80% of the NO_X emissions that enter as the follow-up product nitrate into the nitrogen cycle (Delmas et al., 1997; Galbally, 1985; Logan, 1983). Therefore, high atmospheric nitrate deposition is common in highly populated and industrialized countries, like South Korea.

High atmospheric nitrate-N deposition affects mostly natural pristine ecosystems. For example, in forested watersheds nitrate-N deposition can contribute to: (1) nitrogen saturation, (2) changes in microbial mineralization and its subsequent nitrification, as a secondary process that increases while nitrogen availability begins to saturate plant/tree demand (Aber et al., 1998; Gundersen et al., 1998) and (3) the subsequent increase in nitrate leaching from soils (Aber et al., 1998, 1989; Stoddard, 1994; Vitousek et al., 1997). Atmospheric nitrogen wet deposition in complex mountainous terrain is known to be higher and increases with the altitude on hills and mountains due to major precipitation events (Lovett and Kinsman 1990). Therefore, summer monsoon season, counted as responsible for more than the 70% of the total rainfall per year in South Korea (Arnhold et al., 2013), can be considered as a large atmospheric wet nitrate deposition source.

Another important global nitrate input comes from synthetic fertilizers. They are counted as the main nitrate source in agroecosystems. Nitrate amounts drained into streams under the influence of agriculture are considered as higher than nitrate losses from forest ecosystems and urban areas (Fig. 1) (Sub-Global Assessments Working Group 2005). In South Korea fertilizer application is considered as the most important nitrate source affecting aquatic systems. Within the East Asian region South Korea is one of the heaviest mineral fertilizer users with 293 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The total mineral fertilizer amounts applied in the East Asian region is 445 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, three times more than in South and Southwest Asia (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2014). The two most frequent forms of mineral fertilizers used in South Korea are ammonium and nitrate. Ammonium can be retained in the soil for longer time than nitrate, because it adsorbs to clay particles. However, under aerobic conditions ammonium is easily nitrified. Therefore, important nitrification

rates can occur in nitrogen rich agricultural soils (Chapin et al., 2002) followed by nitrate leaching into surface and groundwater (Mayer et al., 2001). Contrary, the direct use of nitrate as fertilizer makes it immediately susceptible to leaching due to its high solubility in water.



Fig. 1 Nitrate concentrations in streams draining from forested, suburban and agricultural watersheds in a long term (8 years) research monitoring (Groffman et al., 2004).

1.2 Nitrate-N losses from forests and agroecosystems in complex terrain under East Asian monsoon season

The initial indicators of N enrichment in forest watersheds and agroecosystems are: (1) the leaching of nitrate from soil into river and groundwater (Driscoll et al., 2003; Stoddard, 1994) and (2) the transformation and transfer of nitrate-N into the atmosphere as NO, N_2O or N_2 by microbial denitrification once nitrogen additions exceed biotic requirements (Galloway et al. 2003):

1. Large amounts of nitrate from synthetic fertilizers in agroecosystems, or atmospheric nitrogen deposition in forested watersheds transported into groundwater, streams and lakes can cause severe problems, as eutrophication, biodiversity loss (Smil, 1999) and human health risks (methaemoglobinaemia, cancer). Nitrate leaching depends directly on the

amount and sources of nitrogen inputs, precipitation, type of soil and land use (Boumans et al., 2008, 2005; Di and Cameron, 2002). In forest ecosystems nitrate leaching is considered as a direct response to chronic atmospheric nitrogen deposition (Aber et al., 1989; Aber and Magill, 2004; Adams et al., 2004; Creed and Band, 1998; Driscoll et al., 2003; Magill et al., 1997; Stoddard, 1994; Vitousek et al., 1979; Vitousek and Reiners, 1975) and is influenced by a variety of other factors, as vegetation type, retention capacities and flow paths (Lovett et al., 2002, 2000; Vitousek and Reiners, 1975; Williard et al., 1997). Also monsoon precipitation is one of the driving factors for excessive nitrate losses, especially in agricultural areas, which were found to be major contributors to nitrate losses at catchment scale (Kettering et al., 2012). Monsoon is also responsible for the well-studied hydrological flushing effect (Burns, 2005; Creed et al., 1996; Creed and Band, 1998) in forest ecosystems, where nitrate leaches from surface layers by a rising water table. In any case, nitrate losses are strongly depending on wetness conditions, storm events driven by monsoonal weather and hillslope elevation. About 60% of the N applied to agricultural sandy soils are considered to be lost to aquatic systems (Hansen and Djurhuus, 1996). In mountainous agricultural areas in South Korea, farmers add every year sandy soil on top of their fields to compensate for high erosion during the monsoon season.

2. The greenhouse gas N_2O is of special concern, because of its high global warming potential. Its emission due to microbial denitrification in natural ecosystems (60%) and ecosystems with influence of anthropogenic activities (mainly agroecosystems 40%) represent 121% since pre-industrial times (World Meteorological Organization, 2016). N_2O emissions from forest soils are influenced by soil moisture, temperature, soil type, tree species composition and atmospheric nitrogen deposition (Kesik et al., 2006; Menyailo and Huwe, 1999; Pilegaard et al., 2006; Skiba et al., 2009, 1998). In agroecosystems factors like amount of nitrogen fertilizer, type of crops and soils add to the factors mentioned above (Cole et al., 1997; Van Groenigen et al., 2010). On a global scale about 12% of the total nitrogen added is denitrified (Smil, 1999). In general terms all the nitrogen added to most agroecosystems is lost already within a year (Galloway et al., 2003). Therefore, Korean complex mountainous terrain together with the increase of soil temperature and the summer monsoon regime affect N₂O fluxes especially from agricultural soils (Berger et al., 2013b) and from groundwater where nitrate (mostly originating from fertilizers) is denitrified. All the studied variables related with N_2O emissions from soils suggest in the first instance that South Korea would have conditions for high N_2O emission. Despite of the extreme moisture generated in the monsoon season and the amount of fertilizer or atmospheric deposition added to the soil, recent investigations, however, indicate that forests in the northern part of the country can act more as a sink of N_2O instead of a source, due to prolonged drought periods before monsoon season (Berger et al., 2013a, 2013b).

Although the main nitrogen input and turnover pathways in this complex mosaic of forest and agricultural ecosystems are identified, all the factors described above make the nitrate origin identification for water systems in South Korea rather complicated due to great variability in velocity and parallel occurrence of different biogeochemical processes. Identifying sources and biogeochemical processes behind the nitrate contamination in waters remains a conceptual and methodological challenge.

1.3 Stable Isotope approaches to identify nitrate sources and biogeochemical processes

The nitrate ion is composed of atoms belonging to two elements, nitrogen and oxygen. Each of these elements has a light and frequent isotope, ¹⁴N and ¹⁶O, and one or two heavier and rare isotopes, ¹⁵N, ¹⁷O and ¹⁸O. Thus, nitrate isotope abundance analysis can either focus on nitrogen or oxygen isotope abundance or simultaneously on the isotope abundance of both elements.

Stable isotope abundance of nitrate has already frequently been used to identify nitrate sources in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. All these approaches make use of isotopic fractionations from sources to products that happen in chemical transformations during biogeochemical processes. Unfortunately natural nitrogen isotope abundance frequently has overlapping ð¹⁵N ranges in different sources e.g. processes like atmospheric nitrate deposition and soil microbial nitrification cannot be separated free of doubt between each other and among other sources based on nitrogen isotope abundances alone (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998). These two biogeochemical processes also overlap the ð¹⁵N composition of fertilizers and animal waste. However, natural ð¹⁵N of nitrate resulting from animal waste is far more enriched than nitrate from soils without any fertilizer applications (Kreitler and Jones, 1975). Therefore, between fertilizer and animal waste we can find generally

distinctive δ^{15} N values. Microbial denitrification can also be identified by use of δ^{15} N natural isotope abundance and simultaneous nitrate concentration analysis. Decreases in nitrate concentration in aquifers alone can either be due to nitrate consumption during denitrification or dilution with low nitrate content waters. While dilution does not affect the nitrogen isotope composition, isotope discrimination in incomplete denitrification causes a characteristic ¹⁵N enrichment in the remaining nitrate (Gormly and Spalding 1979; Mariotti et al. 1988; Böttcher et al. 1990).

The δ^{15} N values of nitrate from atmospheric deposition are usually in the range of -15% to +7% (Garten, 1996, 1992; Heaton et al., 1997; Hoering, 1957), and mineral fertilizers, main source in agroecosystems, have low δ^{15} N values due to their synthesis from atmospheric N₂ with a δ^{15} N value of 0% by definition (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998). Specifically nitrate fertilizers have mean δ^{15} N values between +2.75% and 0.76% (Hübner, 1986). Organic fertilizers, including animal waste, have a much wider range of δ^{15} N values (+2% to +30%) (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998).

In the majority of soils ¹⁵N isotope abundance ranges between -6‰ and +9‰ (Gebauer et al., 1994; Gebauer and Schulze, 1991). These values are affected by soil depth, vegetation, climate and land use history. Isotope abundance from agricultural soils that have been treated with mineral and organic fertilizers are specifically enriched in ¹⁵N although both sources overlap ð¹⁵N values of nitrate from precipitation and natural soils (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998). In depth gradients of undisturbed soils, ð¹⁵N of total soil nitrogen tends to increase while simultaneously nitrogen concentrations decrease (Durka et al., 1994; Gebauer and Schulze, 1991; Nadelhoffer and Fry, 1994, 1988; Shearer et al., 1978).

Identification of nitrate sources is considered a real challenge when only $\delta^{15}N$ is used. Therefore, a dual stable isotope approach using simultaneously $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ of nitrate turned out as much more promising to separate atmospheric, terrestrial (Amberger and Schmidt, 1987; Durka et al., 1994; Kendall et al., 1996, 1995) and nitrogen fertilizer sources (Aravena et al., 1993; Aravena and Robertson, 1998; Wassenaar, 1995). In addition, this approach can also differentiate N₂O produced from microbial nitrification and denitrification (Wahlen and Yoshinari, 1985).

What makes the simultaneous analysis of nitrate $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ values more promising to distinguish the origin and fate of nitrate is the greater range in δ^{18} O values found in nitrate of different origins (80%) corresponding to a smaller range in δ^{15} N values (30%). The most positive δ^{18} O values occur in nitrate from atmospheric deposition (δ^{18} O‰ = +25‰ to +76‰; Durka et al. 1994; Kendall 1998), because ¹⁸O-enriched ozone is involved in the formation of atmospheric nitrate (Hastings et al., 2003; Johnston and Thiemens, 1997). The oxygen of nitrate in mineral fertilizers originates from atmospheric O_2 and thus, has $\delta^{18}O$ values close to +23.5‰ (Amberger and Schmidt, 1987). Due to their characteristic ¹⁸O-enrichments nitrate from atmospheric deposition and nitrate in mineral fertilizers are clearly separated from nitrate originating from microbial nitrification. In microbial nitrification (conversion of NH_4^+ into NO_3^-) in soils two oxygen atoms originate from soil water and one from atmospheric O_2 with a constant $\delta^{18}O$ value of +23.5‰ (Andersson and Hooper, 1983; Hollocher, 1984; Kumar et al., 1983). The δ^{18} O value in soil water is driven by the δ^{18} O value of precipitation, which depends on the location and season of the rainfall. The δ^{18} O values in precipitation can be modelled for any location on earth by the Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator (Bowen, 2008). Therefore, the d¹⁸O value of nitrate from soil microbial nitrification can be calculated based on Eq. 1 (Amberger and Schmidt, 1987). Isotopic δ^{18} O values from microbial nitrification should be in the range of -2‰ and +6‰ (Kendall and McDonnell, 1998), although they can vary depending on the studied site (Amberger and Schmidt, 1987; Campbell et al., 2002; Durka et al., 1994; Mayer et al., 2001; Spoelstra et al., 2001). This theoretical approach of δ^{18} O calculation for nitrate from soil nitrification is based on the following assumptions: (1) the proportion of oxygen from water and atmosphere are the same in field samples as in laboratories, (2) no fractionation occurs during the incorporation of oxygen in the process and (3) the δ^{18} O values used by the microbes are identical to the bulk water from soil and the O2 from atmosphere (Campbell et al., 2002). From here onwards any microbial process that uses nitrate is expected to fractionate both, oxygen and nitrogen atoms.

Eq. 1
$$\delta^{18}O(NO_3) = 2/3 \, \delta^{18}O(H_2O) + 1/3 \, \delta^{18}O(O_2)$$

Denitrification changes the isotopic composition of nitrate in a distinctive manner and enriches nitrogen and oxygen in a ratio of 2:1 (Amberger and Schmidt, 1987; Böttcher et al., 1990). At the same time N₂O emitted from soils as product of microbial denitrification becomes depleted in ¹⁵N when compared to the remaining nitrate. Thus, a negative correlation between the isotopic composition of nitrate and N₂O during ongoing denitrification should be expected. However, things may become also more complicated when considering that N₂O can be also further reduced to N₂ in denitrification or when soils switch from N₂O sources to N₂O sinks (Goldberg and Gebauer 2009a, b; Berger et al. 2013a). N₂O production, consumption or biological cycling in soils is controlled by the availability of nitrate as substrate and by diffusion conditions. It is currently debated to what extent scavenging of air-borne N₂O by soil microorganisms generates a major flux on an annual basis, but this research avenue can clearly contribute to clarifying the current imbalance in global N₂O budgets (Billings, 2008). The nearly 30% discrepancy between the known global N₂O sources and sinks could be partly explained by an underestimation of N₂O sinks in terrestrial ecosystems (Limpens et al., 2006). Natural δ^{15} N isotope abundance has been used to distinguish the production and consumption relationship of N₂O along soil profiles in different ecosystems (Novák et al., 2003, 1999). However, none of these studies simultaneously analyzed N isotope composition of co-existing NO₃⁻ and N₂O in the soil. Yet, complementary data from such an isotope analysis could help to distinguish between N₂O production from nitrate by denitrification, N2O consumption by reduction to N2, and scavenging of atmospheric N₂O by soil microorganisms along concentration gradients.

The powerful use of stable isotopes lies in their capacity of source and process identification: (1) organic vs. mineral fertilizers, (2) microbial denitrification vs. nitrification and (3) microbial nitrification vs. atmospheric nitrate deposition. Furthermore, stable isotopes are suited to identify the fate of nitrate in (1) surface waters vs. groundwater and (2) to separate N_2O production by denitrification in soils vs. consumption of N_2O either originating from denitrification or from the atmosphere.

2. Objectives

This study was carried out within the International Research and Training Group (DFG-IRTG) TERRECO (Complex <u>TERR</u>ain and <u>ECO</u>logical Heterogeneity). The group was composed of scientists with high level of expertise and great diversity of backgrounds as hydrologists, soil scientists, biologists and social-economists. The main objective of the

project was to provide science-based concepts that help local decision makers to develop plans for land management in mountain regions that lead to a sustainable water yield and improved ecosystem service quality. The specific objectives for this thesis are:

• Quantifying the proportional contributions of an agricultural and two forest sub-catchments to the nitrate export as influenced by different monsoonal precipitation regimes (Chapters 2 and 3).

• Identifying the biogeochemical and hydrological processes together with the origin and fate of nitrate export in the Haean agricultural sub-catchment using a nitrate dual isotope abundance approach in stream water and groundwater samples (Chapter 2).

• Comparing the fate of atmospheric nitrate deposition in a broadleaf and a coniferdominated mixed forest catchment as influenced by monsoonal precipitation using a dual isotope approach (Chapter 3).

- Elucidating the isotope composition and concentration of nitrate along depth profiles of undisturbed forest soils and underlying biogeochemical processes (Chapter 3).
- Investigating relationships between isotope abundances of nitrate and N₂O along depth profiles of a peat bog and underlying biogeochemical processes (Chapter 4).

3. Hypotheses

- 1. Nitrate export from the agricultural catchment is much higher than nitrate export from the forest catchments.
- 2. Nitrate export from the agricultural and the forest catchments increases with increasing monsoonal precipitation intensities.

- 3. Fertilizers applied to the soils at the agricultural catchment, during growing season and before monsoon rainfalls, are being transported directly into the water systems due to a "Flushing effect" driven by the intense precipitation regime.
- 4. Microbial nitrification and denitrification are biogeochemical processes that are contributing as sources to the nitrate discharge, but in a lower rate than fertilizers in the agricultural basin, although they may play a major role at the forest sites.
- 5. Atmospheric nitrate deposition plays no major role as a direct source in the discharge runoff from the agricultural catchment, because the fertilizer application rates exceed the potential atmospheric nitrate contribution.
- 6. Atmospheric nitrate deposition plays a much greater role in the discharge runoff from the forested sites than from the agricultural catchment.
- 7. The mixed forest catchment is more vulnerable for nitrate loss by discharge runoff than the broadleaf forest catchment, due to a lower nitrate assimilation capacity of conifers.
- 8. In undisturbed soils nitrate isotope abundances and concentrations along depth profiles are positively correlated with total nitrogen isotope abundances and concentrations.
- 9. Nitrate and N₂O nitrogen isotope abundances in pore-water along depth profiles are negatively correlated.

4. General materials and methods

4.1 Sampling site 1 (Chapter 2 and 3)

The study was conducted in the northeastern part of South Korea within the Soyang lake watershed located in the Gangwon-do province, which is the largest water reservoir in the country (Kim et al., 2000), and it is the main source of drinking water for the 20 million metropolis Seoul (Fig. 2). The total area of the watershed is 2.675 km². Soyang lake watershed is dominated by

forested mountainous land (over 85%). Agricultural land has decreased due to urbanization within the watershed, while the highland agricultural area has increased. Despite the relatively small area compared to forested land, the agricultural area (mainly highland farming area) is considered as the most important nitrate contributor to the Soyang lake. The mean annual air temperature in this area is 10.5° C with minimum monthly temperature of -10° C in January and maximum monthly temperature of 27° C in August (1999 - 2013). Annual average precipitation is 1300 mm and between 50 – 60 % of the annual rainfall happens during the summer monsoon period (July – Sep) (WAMIS, 2014).



Fig. 2 Soyang lake watershed (b) located in the northeastern part of South Korea (a)

The first and in most detail studied sub-catchment within Soyang lake watershed was Haean-myun located in Yanggu–County (128° 5' to 128° 11' E, 38° 13' to 38° 20' N) (Fig. 3b). The punchbowl shaped basin has a total area of 64 km². It is the major farming territory of the entire watershed (Park et al., 2010) with about 30% area under agricultural land use (22% dry land fields and 8% rice paddies). 58% of the area are forested mountains and 12% are residential and semi-natural areas including grassland, field margins, riparian areas, channels, and farm roads (Arnhold et al., 2013). For our research, a river area within the sub-catchment was chosen as the most representative in terms of land use and water flow (Fig. 3c). The main dry land crops cultivated in the Haean catchment were in the years of the investigation primarily cabbage, potato, radish and soybean (7.8 %), orchards and ginseng (8.3%), and maize, pepper, rye, and sunflowers (4.1 % of the total catchment included as other dryland crop) (Maharjan, 2015).

Forest sub-catchments were chosen as complementary research sites. One of these forest sub-catchments is a pure deciduous forest within the Haean agricultural basin (Lat. 38.251532, N 128.11991 Long. W, 586-1005 m asl) (Fig. 3d). The sub-catchment is dominated by tree species as *Juglans mandshurica, Acer pictum, Quercus dentata, Quercus mongolica,* and *Fraxinus rhynchophylla*. The entire deciduous sub-catchment area is 39.78 ha. The third studied sub-catchment is a mixed (coniferous/deciduous) forest located in Seohwa outside of the Haean agricultural basin (Fig. 3e), 6 km distance from the pure deciduous site (Lat.38.206828 N, Long. 128.185719 W, 368-682 m asl). The total area of the mixed sub-catchment is 15.6 ha with 6.1 ha of coniferous forest (39%) and 9.5 ha of deciduous forest (61 %). The mixed forest sub-catchment is dominated by coniferous trees including *Larix kaempferi* and *Pinus densiflora*, in the lower part of the basin. The upper part of the mixed sub-catchment is dominated by deciduous trees, including *Juglans mandshurica, Acer pictum, Quercus dentata, Tilia amurensis* and *Ulmus davidiana*.



Fig. 3 Investigated sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed (a). A river area (c) within the agricultural Haean sub-catchment located in the northern part of the watershed (b) was chosen as the most representative in terms of land use and water flow. Complementary research was

conducted in a pure deciduous forest (d) located within the Haean sub-catchment and a mixed forest (coniferous-deciduous) located 6 km from Haean agricultural sub-catchment (e)

4.1.1 Field instrumentation, sample and data collection

The sampling design was made to determinate the influence of the precipitation regime and land use on the sources and total nitrate discharge from each sub-catchment. All the samples were collected every second day or after every rain event in the dry pre-monsoon season. During heavy monsoon season samples were collected after rain events up to every six hours in precipitation events that lasted at least 12 hours. Discharge was measured with V-notch weirs located in the outflow of each sub-catchment (Fig 4). In the agricultural sub-catchment additional measurements were taken with an electromagnetic device using the velocity-area method. Weather data and precipitation was measured with automatic weather stations and rain collectors located in each sub-catchment (Fig. 5).



Fig. 4 Weirs located in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment (a and c) and the mixed (b) and deciduous (d) forest sub-catchments

In the Haean agricultural sub-catchment groundwater wells were installed perpendicular to the stream at different elevation zones of the altitudinal transect (Fig. 6) for groundwater sampling. In the forest sub-catchments extra instrumentation was installed: Autosamplers for automatic stream water sampling at the outflow of each forest. Throughfall collectors for rain water sampling. Cero tension plates (0-20 cm) and suction ceramic cups (30-60 cm) for soil water sampling at different depths. All samples were collected for nitrate concentration and stable isotope abundance analysis (Fig. 7).



Fig. 5 Weather stations (a) and rainfall collectors (b) recorded precipitation data and rain samples in the investigated agricultural Haean and forest sub-catchments.



Fig. 6 Groundwater wells (b) installed at two sampling points in a different altitudinal gradient and under distinct land uses (a).

4.1.2 Laboratory analyses

Nitrate concentration

Rain, throughfall, stream water, groundwater and soil water samples were analyzed for nitrate concentrations using an anion exchange high performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC) and subsequent UV detection (HPLC LC4000 Jasco Europe S.r.l., Cremella, Italy). For further details of this method see Gebauer et al. (1984).

Sample preparation and isotope abundance analysis

Nitrate extraction from each water sample as described by Huber et al. (2011) was required before their subsequent isotope abundance analysis. Nitrate isolation consisted in the precipitation of Ba(NO₃)₂. A solution of NaI + acetone + hexane was added to each sample to separate insoluble compounds. After separation we added BaI₂ to the samples to the final precipitation of Ba(NO₃)₂. We dried aliquots of each sample into tin (for N isotope abundance analysis) or silver capsules (for O isotope abundance analysis) (Fig. 8).


Fig. 7 Equal equipment was installed in the forest sub-catchments. Throughfall collectors for rain samples (c). Cero tension plates (b) and suction ceramic cups (a) for soil water samples.

Relative nitrogen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$) were measured with an elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba 1108, Milano, Italy) coupled to an isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta S, Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany). Nitrogen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a six-point calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard acetanilide with known nitrogen content of 10.36% (Gebauer and Schulze, 1991). Relative oxygen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$) were measured by thermal conversion through a pyrolysis system (HTO, HEKAtech, Wegberg, Germany) coupled to an isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta V advantage, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described by Gebauer et al. (2016). Oxygen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a six-point calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard benzoic acid with known oxygen content of 26.20%.



Fig. 8 Scheme of the nitrate isolation procedure

Nitrate fluxes and isotope calculations

Nitrate flux calculations were carried out using the calculated N_{NO3} from nitrate concentrations multiplied by the total stream area discharge and rain input per day. We calculated fluxes in rain input using bulk precipitation and throughfall data, because during heavy monsoon rainfall no major differences in nitrate concentrations of rain between under and out-canopy could be registered.

Stable isotope abundance results from nitrate in stream and groundwater were plotted together with the natural abundance of the major nitrate sources that may influence aquifers (Kendall, 1998), like microbial nitrification, denitrification and atmospheric deposition. A theoretical microbial nitrification was calculated to compare this source with the stream water, groundwater and soil water nitrate isotope abundance data in the research area (Eq. 1).

4.2 Sampling site 2 (Chapter 4)

The study was conducted in an ombrotrophic peat bog located on a mountain plateau of the Ore Mts. (Erzgebirge, Krusne hory) in the northwestern Czech Republic, Central Europe (Fig. 9). The bog's elevation is 930 m, and long-term annual precipitation averages 1080 mm. The unforested southern part of the bog is nearly 100 % Sphagnum covered, separated by dense, 2.5-m high dwarfpine dominated vegetation. The entire wetland is surrounded by mature stands of Norway spruce which were moderately affected by acid rain (ca. 1970-1995). The bog is located 30 km upwind from a cluster of 11 coal-burning power plants that were a major source of acidifying SO₂ and NO_x gases.



Fig. 9 Study site location. (a) The Brumiste Bog (BR) is situated 20 km west of the "Black Triangle" region near the state border between the Czech Republic, Poland and Germany. The N isotope study was conducted in a *Sphagnum* lawn (b) extending over the southern tip of BR.

4.2.1 Sampling

N_2O gas samplers

Six gas-sampler cylinders were installed in a circle at distances between 2.5 and 3 m to collect soil gas from the peat bog along a depth gradient (Fig. 11). Each sampler consisted of a 60 cm long PVC cylinder divided in six compartments, 10 cm in length. Each compartment was perforated by drill holes (diameter of 5 mm) in a 2.5.cm wide band in its center. For more details see Goldberg et al. (2008). Peat pore-water gas samples were taken through a tube connected on one end

to an evacuated 100 mL glass bottle and on the other end to an air bag filled with N_2 gas at ambient pressure. The gas sample volume extracted from the compartments at different depths was replaced by N_2 from the attached bag.

NO_3^- water samplers

Thirty six suction cups were installed to collect water samples from the peat bog at six different depths (10-60 cm). Six cups were located at 1 m distance from each gas sampler (Fig. 10). Each cup was made of ceramic material (porosity 48 vol. %, maximum) with a PVC tube long enough to reach the required peat depth. To collect samples, all suction cups were connected to a vacuum device, which allowed the solution from each cup to be transported by under-pressure to the bottles. The equipment was linked to a computer control system (Electronic Technical Center, University of Bayreuth), which kept a nearly constant under-pressure (HS260P-30 Black Swan, Hanover Solar GmbH, Germany). For more details see Göttlein et al. (1996), Göttlein and Matzner (1997). In all, 36 N₂O and 36 NO₃⁻ samples were collected from six replicates at six different depths.

4.2.2. Analysis

The pore-water gas samples from different peat depths were analyzed for N_2O concentration and N isotope abundance ratios. We used a gas chromatograph–isotope ratio mass spectrometer coupling with a pre-GC concentration device. As a laboratory standard, N_2O gas (99.997 %, Rießner, Lichtenfels, Germany) was used previously calibrated with N_2 and N_2O reference gas. N_2O concentrations were calculated from the volume of the gas samples and the peak area on m/z 44 using a calibration curve. For further details see Goldberg et al. (2008) and Berger et al. (2013).



Fig. 10 Design and installation of equipment in the peat bog for collection of gas (gas cylinder located in the center of the installation) and water samples (six suction ceramic cups located around the gas sampler) connected to an automatic vacuum system.

Laser absorption spectroscopy was used for the determination of oxygen stable isotope ratios in peat pore water. The ${}^{18}\text{O}/{}^{16}\text{O}$ isotope ratios were expressed in the $\eth^{18}\text{O}$ notation as a relative ‰ deviation from an agreed-on standard (V-SMOW).

Samples of atmospheric deposition and runoff were analyzed for NH_4^+ concentrations by spectrophotometry (Perkin-Elmer 200 Hitachi, 2 SD of 4.4 %), and for NO_3^- concentrations by liquid chromatography (Knauer 1000, 2 SD of 3.8 %). For N isotope analysis, 500 mL of atmospheric deposition or peat porewater were concentrated on Dowex 50W and Dowex 1 x cation and anion exchange resins, and separated into NH_4^+ and NO_3^- . Solution aliquots were made alkaline with MgO and steam-distilled into a small excess of diluted H_2SO_4 (Bremner, 1965). Prior to distillation, Devardas alloy was added for NO_3^- analysis. The resulting ammonium sulfate was dried and analyzed for N isotope ratios. A Fisons 1108 elemental analyzer was connected to a Finnigan MAT 251 mass spectrometer (Bremen, Germany) to measure the N isotope composition. The $^{15}N/^{14}N$ isotope ratios are expressed in the $\delta^{15}N$ notation as a relative ‰ deviation from an agreedon standard (atmospheric N_2). The 2 SD reproducibility for N isotopes in water was 0.2‰.

5. Thesis outline

In chapters 2 and 3 nitrate fluxes and sources were examined and identified in: 1) an agricultural sub-catchment and 2) in a deciduous and a mixed forest sub-catchment under the influence of two extremely different monsoon seasons. Nitrate inputs by atmospheric nitrate-N deposition were similar in all sub-catchments, but different between years 2013 and 2014. In the forest sub-catchments 90% of the nitrate-N rain input was during monsoon in the growing season 2013. In the following year (2014) the lack of monsoon affected nitrate-N deposited by rain, which represented only 40% of the year before (2013). The deciduous forest acted as a sink of nitrate-N, because total nitrate-N atmospheric deposition was 2.5 times higher than the N_{NO3}^{-1} discharge. On the other hand, the mixed forest showed a lower retention capacity than the deciduous forest (confirming hypothesis 7). In the Haean agricultural sub-catchment atmospheric nitrate-N deposition represented only 5.2% in 2013 and 0.7% in 2014 in relation to the synthetic fertilizer applications in the area (313 kg N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) confirming hypothesis 5.

Nitrate-N exports were higher from the agricultural Haean sub-catchment than from the forest sites (confirming hypothesis 1). Monsoon was directly related with the nitrate export in all sub-catchments. Nitrate-N leaching from the Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the monsoon season 2013 represented 90% of the total nitrate discharge. In the mixed forest catchment nitrate leaching was affected by the monsoon precipitation, where 80% of the nitrate discharge was during this period. More stable nitrate export was observed in the deciduous forest where 50% of the nitrate-N discharge was during monsoon season. Thus, hypothesis 2 was partially confirmed. In the Haean agricultural sub-catchment nitrate concentrations in stream were $(0.4 - 64.1 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$ higher than in the forest sites $(6.5 - 26.7 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$. The highest values were recorded in groundwater under the influence of dry-land crops. The results of nitrate identification indicated that nitrate of microbial nitrification was the main nitrate source in stream water in all sub-catchments. In the Haean agricultural sub-catchment denitrification occurred in the groundwater, which contributed to the river discharge especially after onset of the monsoon season, due to aquifer connectivity. In the mixed sub-catchment direct contribution from atmospheric nitrate was observed during monsoon season, which lead us to partially accept hypothesis 6. In the deciduous forest microbial nitrification was the only nitrate source observed during the growing season. We rejected the hypotheses 3 and 4.

Nitrate concentrations collected along soil depth gradients (10-60 cm) in the forest soils, showed lower values in the mineral soil (50 and 60 cm) of the mixed and of the deciduous forest. The organic layer (0-20 cm) had higher nitrate concentrations in both forest sub-catchments, although in the deciduous forest we observed significantly higher nitrate concentrations than in the mixed forest. Negative and significant correlations between nitrate concentration and $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}^{-}$ with soil depth were found in both forests. Significate differences in $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}^{-}$ values were observed between organic and mineral layers in both studied sites. This finding indicates that nitrate collected in the various soil depths always originated from nitrification of organic matter in the respective soil depth and was always associated with the same isotope fractionation.

The $\delta^{15}N$ values of soil total nitrogen (literature data from the same forest sites) increased from the organic layer to the mineral soil of the deciduous and mixed forest. This increase in $\delta^{15}N$ of soil total nitrogen ran mostly in parallel with our depth gradient in $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ for both investigated forest sites. Soil nitrate from identical positions along the gradient was consistently more depleted in $\delta^{15}N$ than soil total nitrogen, confirming hypothesis 8.

Previous research in soils of the agricultural Haean sub-catchment observed low N_2O emissions, which had two possible explanations: 1) further denitrification of N_2O to N_2 or 2) large amounts of the highly mobile NO_3^- leached before denitrification (Berger, 2012). In this thesis we observed high amounts of nitrate-N in the river and groundwater, which may explain the low N_2O emissions from soil at the Haean sub-catchment. Still, additional investigation was needed in aim to understand in a mechanistic way, how N_2O emissions from soils occur during further denitrification into N_2 , and if NO_3^- and N_2O are coupled through denitrification, or de-coupled as a result of microbial scavenging of atmospheric N_2O .

. In chapter 4 we assess N₂O production and consumption in a waterlogged soil. We used nitrogen stable isotopes of N₂O and NO₃⁻ in aim to distinguish between N₂O diffusion in pore water, N₂O production from NO₃⁻ *via* denitrification, and N₂O consumption *via* further reduction to N₂. Nitrous oxide concentrations in the atmosphere were nearly 20 % higher than in peat pore water gas, suggesting that the wetland served as a sink for air-borne N₂O, rather than a N₂O source. Following a soil depth gradient, nitrate-N between atmospheric input and runoff, indicated an export of secondary residual nitrate. At a depth of 10-20 cm, nitrate-N was isotopically identical to the atmosphere. At 60cm isotope values were identical to the runoff. N₂O concentrations were constant

through the profile with higher δ^{15} N-N₂O values upcore and a strong negative correlation between δ^{15} N values of nitrate and nitrous oxide in the 60-30 cm interval, which could not be explained by a single denitrification step. We suggest that the relatively high δ^{15} N values of nitrate in the deepest peat layer reflected higher rates of NO₃⁻ reduction, compared to the 30 cm depth, and that the progressively heavier N₂O-N upcore corresponded to residual N₂O following partial reduction to N₂, along with an increasing proportion of atmospheric N₂O in the pore water. These results lead us to partially accept the hypothesis 9.

Further results of the three investigations are listed below within the synopsis of each chapter.

5.1 Nitrate runoff in the Haean agricultural sub-catchment: Comparison of two extremely different monsoon seasons (Chapter 2)

The monsoon season in South Korea has a great influence on the biogeochemical and hydrological processes in the entire country, but is specifically of concern in the Soyang lake watershed, the main drinking water reservoir for the 20 million metropolis Seoul. Consequently, control of water quality and especially nitrate concentrations in lake Soyang is of high public priority. The watershed has a complex terrain with different types of land uses, including intensive agricultural management. The Haean sub-catchment is the most prominent agriculture-dominated basin of the Soyang lake watershed. It is composed of a forested belt in the steep top slopes of the bowl-shaped basin, followed by a dry-land agriculture belt in the bottom-slope areas and rice paddies at the bottom of the basin.

In areas with only one recognizable nitrate source the calculation of total nitrate exports might be sufficient for an effective decision making. However, in areas with complex terrain, extreme weather events and non-point nitrate sources, like in the Haean basin, a simple nitrate export mass balance would not be sufficient to elucidate in a mechanistic manner the origin of nitrate exports. Additional information on biogeochemical key processes in the nitrogen cycle is required. Therefore, stable isotopes are a useful tool to quantify and determinate the origin of nitrate inputs into lake Soyang. The δ^{15} N values of nitrate from different sources often show overlapping ranges, but the additional measurement of the δ^{18} O values allows a more precise classification (Deutsch, 2006; Durka et al., 1994; Mayer et al., 2002). According with this principle the nitrate

derived from sewage or manure or fertilizes is isotopically distinct between each other and from the other sources and processes as microbial nitrification and denitrification.

With a sampling design made to determinate the influence of the precipitation regime and the land use in the nitrate discharge, river water samples, and rain samples were taken before and during the monsoon season to analyze the nitrate concentration, and $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ abundance in each phase of the nitrogen cycle. The sampling years 2013 and 2014 were particularly different among each other, especially in terms of intensity and frequency of rain events. Data from amount of rain and river discharge were taken to quantify the proportional contribution of nitrate from this sub-catchment during both growing seasons. This data base together with the climate information helped showing how the monsoon season behaves and how differences in the monsoon intensity can influence the isotope signatures in the Haean agricultural valley.

Heavy monsoon events, as in 2013, were the most pronounced drivers of nitrate leaching being responsible for more than 80 % of the nitrate output in the river runoff. On the other hand, an almost missing summer monsoon in 2014 drove the nitrate runoff in a different manner, being responsible for only 0.4% of the total nitrate nitrogen river discharge of the previous year. Results of nitrate nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundance analyses suggest soil microbial nitrification as the most important contributor to the nitrate in the river runoff. In addition, nitrate from denitrification in groundwater, specifically from the dry land areas, contributed to the nitrate in the river runoff due to river-aquifer exchange fluxes especially after onset of the monsoon season. Direct leaching of nitrate from mineral fertilizers applied in the area and atmospheric nitrate deposition were obviously only minor contributors to the nitrate in the river runoff. Our investigation shows that in extremely different monsoon seasons, as in 2013 and 2014, the nitrate leaching in the Haean agricultural catchment was influenced by different hydrological and biogeochemical processes leading to different nitrate export scenarios during summer monsoon.

5.2 The fate of monsoonal atmospheric nitrate deposition in two forest catchments: A mass balance and stable isotope approach (Chapter 3).

South Korea has about 70% mountainous area (MAFRA, 2013), and the total forest land use is about 64.1% (Korean Forest Service, 2013). Deciduous forest represents 27% of the total forest

land, while coniferous and mixed forests are 41% and 29%, respectively (Kim et al., 2017; Korean Forest Service, 2013). Great parts of the forested areas in this country are located in catchments surrounding highly populated cities, like the metropolis Seoul.

The main anthropogenic nitrate-N source for natural and semi natural forests is wet atmospheric deposition (Aber et al., 2003). The nitrogen additions in areas unaffected by industrial sources should be smaller than 2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Aber et al., 1989; Lovett et al., 1982). On the other hand nitrate deposition in forest areas influenced by anthropogenic activities in densely populated and industrialized regions can reach 40 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Therefore, atmospheric nitrate deposition may play an important role in biogeochemical processes and nitrate discharge, especially in the Soyang lake watershed, located 140 km northeast from the 20 million metropolis Seoul (Arnhold et al., 2014; Berger et al., 2013b; Kettering et al., 2013).

A dual stable isotope approach, which uses $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ signatures, is a powerful tool to identify nitrate sources that can overlap when solely $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$. is used. The $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values are especially useful for differentiating between nitrate deposited from the atmosphere and nitrate formed by microbial nitrification. The formation of nitrate in the atmosphere involves exchange of oxygen atoms with ozone, which has a high $\delta^{18}O$ value (Curtis et al 2011). In contrast, nitrate formed by microbial nitrification derives two of its oxygen atoms from water, which has a low $\delta^{18}O$ value. (Curtis et al. 2011). In other words, microbial nitrification uses two oxygen atoms come from water and one from the atmosphere (Andersson and Hooper, 1983; Hollocher, 1984; Kumar et al., 1983). In this investigation we measured nitrate concentrations of stream water, rain and soil water and $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ isotope abundance of stream and soil water. For the first time, we confirm under field conditions the conceptual model developed by Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994), in which they postulated that nitrate from microbial mineralization and nitrification follows in its isotopic composition the soil total nitrogen isotope gradient.

Extremely different summer monsoon seasons drove the nitrate discharge from the deciduous and mixed (deciduous-coniferous) forest sub-catchments in the Soyang lake watershed. Total nitrate-N export was closely related with the rainfall events and intensity in both years. The nitrate-N discharge runoff at the deciduous forest was lower than the atmospheric nitrate-N deposition at this site, thus sink conditions characterized the deciduous forest during growing the seasons 2013 and 2014. Nitrate-N discharge runoff at the mixed forest was six times higher than the atmospheric

nitrate-N deposition in both years. Nitrate was the most important nitrogen ion in the discharge runoff over NH₄⁺ (Lee et al., 2016) in both sites and years. Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O isotopic composition of stream water from both forests revealed microbial nitrification as the main nitrate source in the discharge runoff during both summer monsoon seasons. Specifically in the mixed forest, atmospheric nitrate deposition contributed as an extra nitrate source for the discharge runoff at the onset of the monsoon season 2013. No direct response from atmospheric deposition in the stream runoff at the deciduous forest was found. Thus, this forest had probably better retention capacities then the mixed forest (Gebauer and Schulze 1997; Magill et al. 1997; Lovett et al. 2000). Despite higher nitrate concentrations as observed for the soil along depth profiles in parallel with higher soil pH values at the deciduous forest site due to most probably higher microbial mineralization and nitrification rates (Pardo et al. 2007) the nitrate retention capacities of the deciduous forest site were higher than at the mixed forest site. Nitrate ð¹⁵N in soil solution followed the same depth gradient as $\delta^{15}N$ of soil total nitrogen. Furthermore, nitrate concentrations in the soil solution decreased with increasing depth indicating lower nitrification in the mineral soil than in the organic layer. This finding of characteristic nitrate isotope depth gradients could probably only be realized in a dry monsoon season as in 2014. Otherwise soil water movement due to frequent rainfall would have interfered with gradients built up by biogeochemical processes, like microbial nitrification.

5.3 Relationship between nitrogen isotope ratios of NO₃⁻ and N₂O in vertical porewater profiles through a polluted rain-fed peat bog (Chapter 4)

Assessments of N₂O production and consumption in waterlogged soils are needed for the formulation of efficient mitigation strategies and assess the global N₂O budgets which currently have a 30% imbalance between the known global sources and sinks. It is on debate to what extent scavenging of air-borne N₂O by soil microorganisms generates a major flux on an annual basis. The balance between N₂O production, emission and biological cycling in the soil is controlled by the availability of the NO₃⁻ substrate and carbon skeletons as electron donors, enzymatic activity of the denitrifying community, and diffusion conditions (Berger et al., 2017; Hill et al., 2016; Morley and Baggs, 2010).

Sources and sinks of various species of reactive nitrogen in soils can be localized, and sometimes also quantified, by measurements of ¹⁵N/¹⁴N isotope ratios (Nadelhoffer and Fry, 1988). We report on measurements of a combination of $\delta^{15}N_{NO3-}$ and $\delta^{15}N_{N2O}$ values along vertical porewater profiles in an ombrotrophic, high-elevation peat bog in the Czech Republic (Central Europe). Vertical peat profiles often exhibit a down-core shift to isotopically heavier N (i.e., to higher $\delta^{15}N$ values), resulting from preferential mineralization and export of the light isotope ¹⁴N from deeper and older peat layers (see chapter 5.2, Kohzu et al., 2003; Novák et al., 1999). Production of N₂O by denitrification is characterized by a large N-isotope shift towards the isotopically lighter product (Goldberg et al., 2008). The residual NO₃N is considered to become progressively enriched in the heavier isotope ¹⁵N (see chapter 5.1). Currently available methodologies do not permit direct measurements of the d¹⁵N signature of N₂O emitted from waterlogged and aerated/rewetted soils, because extremely long sampling times would be required. Instead, recent studies have provided insights into N₂O production/consumption by measuring δ^{15} N values of N₂O dissolved in peat bog pore-water along depth profiles (Goldberg et al., 2008; Novak et al., 2015). None of these studies, however, simultaneously analyzed N isotope composition of co-existing NO3⁻ and N2O in the porewater. Our objective was to use natural-abundance isotopes to distinguish between N₂O diffusion in pore water, N₂O production from NO₃⁻ via denitrification, and N₂O consumption via further reduction to N₂. Atmospheric N input into the peat bog was isotopically fingerprinted by monthly monitoring of wet deposition between January 2016 and May 2017. Runoff export was analyzed over the same period of time. Nitrate-N in runoff was isotopically heavier than NO₃N in atmospheric deposition (mean ð¹⁵N values of -2.7‰ and -6.3 ‰, respectively), indicating export of secondary, organically cycled, residual nitrate. Nitrate-N in pore-water was identical to atmospheric deposition at a depth of 10-20 cm, isotopically very light at a depth of 30 cm (δ^{15} N of -9.5 ‰), and identical to runoff at a depth of 60 cm. Nitrous oxide concentrations in the atmosphere were nearly 20 % higher than in peat pore water gas, suggesting that the wetland served as a sink for air-borne N₂O, rather than a N₂O source. Within the vertical pore-water profile, nearly constant N₂O concentrations contrasted with a clear-cut shift towards higher $\delta^{15}N_{N2O}$ values up-core (from -5.0 to 2 ‰). In the 60-30 cm depth interval, there was a strong negative correlation between the $\delta^{15}N$ values of nitrate and nitrous oxide. Because reduction of NO3⁻ to N2O is associated with an isotope fractionation towards isotopically lighter N in the product, the found negative N isotope correlation explained denitrification process in this depth interval. We suggest that the relatively high $\delta^{15}N$ values of nitrate in the deepest peat layer reflected higher rates of NO3⁻ reduction, compared to the

30-cm depth, and that the progressively heavier N_2O -N up-core corresponded to residual N_2O following partial reduction to N_2 , along with an increasing proportion of atmospheric N_2O in the pore water.

6 Concluding remarks

- 1. Increased monsoon precipitation as predicted by global climate change scenarios for Southeast Asia in the future may even increase nitrate leaching from the Haean agricultural subcatchment and seriously affect the quality of the Soyang lake drinking water reservoir. In order to avoid an increase of nitrate leaching from the Haean agricultural sub-catchment or better achieve reduced nitrate leaching a considerable reduction of nitrogen fertilizer application by local farmers is required. A specifically critical role in this framework is played by the dry land farming in the lower slopes of the Haean catchment. Regional decision makers are fully aware of this problem and initiated a change of agricultural practices. A switch from annual crop growing towards less fertilizer demanding and soil erosion preventing perennial crops, like ginseng, vineyards and orchards, is currently on the way (MAFRA, 2014, 2013; Yanggu Office, 2014).
- 2. Our results suggest that forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed in South Korea are under the influence of atmospheric nitrate deposition especially in periods of heavy monsoon rainfall. Although the main nitrate source in both forest river waters was microbial nitrification, the influence of wet atmospheric nitrate deposition played an important role especially in the mixed forest. The most probable reason for the lower nitrate retention capacity of the mixed forest is the lower nitrate assimilation capacity of conifers compared to broadleaf trees. Soil nitrate isotopes (δ¹⁵N_{NO3}⁻) along soil depth profiles showed gradients corresponding to what has been observed for soil total nitrogen δ¹⁵N by other studies (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1988; Gebauer and Schulze 1991; Gebauer et al. 1994; Högberg et al. 1996; Sah and Brumme 2003), but with an offset towards more negative δ¹⁵N values. The δ¹⁵N_{NO3}⁻ depth gradients of this investigation confirm for the first time under field conditions the conceptual model considerations by Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994) on the mechanisms and the isotope fractionation of microbial nitrogen mineralization and nitrification along depth gradients in forest soils.

3. Our study confirmed that the investigated ombrotrophic peat bog was not a major source of the greenhouse gas N₂O for the atmosphere. At the same time, N isotope systematics in the peat pore water indicated that denitrification proceeded, but probably at low rates and in deeper horizons along the peat profile. Only in depths 60-30 cm below surface a strong negative correlation between δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values was found as to be expected for denitrification with N₂O as end product. Low N₂O concentrations – sometimes even below N₂O concentration in the ambient atmosphere – accompanied by less negative or even positive δ^{15} N-N₂O values and a decoupling from the δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ values indicate a further reduction of N₂O to N₂ in surface-near horizons of the peat profile.

7. Record of contributions to this thesis

Chapter 1

Chapter 1: Extended summary and synopsis were written by me. In this dissertation we present three manuscripts, two written by me and one was written by Martin Novak within collaboration between the Laboratory of Isotopes Biogeochemistry – University of Bayreuth and the Czech Geological Survey in Prague. All three manuscripts have been submitted. The contribution of me and all co-authors is listed below.

Chapter 2

Parra Suarez, S., Peiffer, S., Gebauer G. 2017. Origin and fate of nitrate runoff in an agricultural catchment: Haean, South Korea – Comparison of two extremely different monsoon seasons (submitted: Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 05.12.2017; Submission N°: AGEE19540)

- Parra, S.: 70% (concepts, field and laboratory work, interpretation, discussion and presentation of results, manuscript preparation)
- Peiffer, S.: 10% (concepts, discussion of results)
- Gebauer G: 20% (concepts, discussion of results, contribution to manuscript preparation)

Chapter 3

Parra Suarez, S., Gebauer, G. 2017. *The fate of monsoonal atmospheric nitrate deposition in two forest catchments in Soyang lake watershed, South Korea* – *A mass balance and stable isotope approach.* (Submitted: Biogeochemistry, 17.12.2017; Submission N^o: BIOG-D-17-00332)

Parra, S.: 70% (concepts, field and laboratory work, interpretation, discussion and presentation of results, manuscript preparation)

Gebauer G: 30% (concepts, discussion of results, contribution to manuscript preparation)

Chapter 4

Novak, M., Parra Suarez, S., Gebauer, G., Thoma, M., Buzek, F., Cejkova, B., Jackova, I., Stepanova, M., Prechova, E., Curik, J., Veselovsky, F., Valkoca, I. 2017 Relationship between nitrogen isotope ratios of NO₃⁻ and N₂O in vertical porewater profiles through a polluted rain-fed peat bog (Ore Mts., Central Europe) (Submitted: Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 11.01.2018).

Novak, M: 25% (Concepts, results interpretation, manuscript preparation)

Parra-Suarez, S: 25% (Sampling design, field work, contribution to the manuscript preparation)

Gebauer, G: 15% (Concepts, supervision of the N₂O laboratory analysis)

- Thoma, M: 10% (Field work)
- Buzek, F: 10% (Nitrate laboratory analysis)
- Cejkova, B: 2% (Laboratory work)
- Jackova, I: 2% (Laboratory work)
- Stepanova, M: 3% (Statistical analysis)
- Prechova, E: 2% (Laboratory work)
- Curik, J: 2% (Laboratory work)
- Veselovsky, F: 2% (Laboratory work)
- Valkova, I: 2% (Laboratory work)

References

- Aber, J., Mcdowell, W., Nadelhoffer, K., Magill, A., Berntson, G., Kamakea, M., Mcnulty, S., Currie, W., Rustad, L., Fernandez, I., Aber, J., Mcdowell, W., Nadelhoffer, K., Magill, A., Berntson, G., Mcnulty, S., Currie, W., Rustad, L., Fernandez, I., 1998. Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems: Hypotheses revisited. BioScience 48, 921–934.
- Aber, J.D., Goodale, C.L., Ollinger, S. V., Smith, M.-L., Magill, A.H., Martin, M.E., Hallett, R. a., Stoddard, J.L., 2003. Is nitrogen deposition altering the nitrogen status of northeastern forests? BioScience 53, 375.
- Aber, J.D., Magill, A.H., 2004. Chronic nitrogen additions at the Harvard forest (USA): The first 15 years of a nitrogen saturation experiment. Forest. Ecol. Manag 196, 1–5.
- Aber, J.D., Nadelhoffer, K.J., Steudler, P., Melillo, J.M., 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems: Excess nitrogen from fossil fuel combustion may stress the biosphere. BioScience 39, 378–386.
- Adams, M., Ineson, P., Binkley, D., Cadisch, G., Tokuchi, N., Scholes, M., Hicks, K., 2004. Soil functional responses to excess nitrogen inputs at global scale. AMBIO 33, 530–6.
- Amberger, A., Schmidt, H.L., 1987. Natürliche Isotopengehalte von Nitrat als Indikatoren f
 ür dessen Herkunft. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 51, 2699–2705.
- Andersson, K.K., Hooper, A.B., 1983. O₂ and and H₂O are each the source of one O in NO₂⁻ produced from NH₃ by Nitrosomonas: ¹⁵N-NMR evidence. Fed. Eur. Biogeochem. Soc. Lett. 164, 236–240.
- Aravena, R., Evans, M.L., Cherry, J.A., 1993. Stable isotopes of oxygen and nitrogen in source identification of nitrate from septic systems. Ground Water 31:2, 180-186
- Aravena, R., Robertson, W.D., 1998. Use of multiple isotope tracers to evaluate denitrification in ground water: Study of nitrate from a large- flux septic system plume. Ground Water 36, 975– 982.
- Arnhold, S., Lindner, S., Lee, B., Martin, E., Kettering, J., Nguyen, T.T., Koellner, T., Ok, Y.S., Huwe, B., 2014. Conventional and organic farming: Soil erosion and conservation potential for row crop cultivation. Geoderma 219–220, 89–105.
- Arnhold, S., Ruidisch, M., Bartsch, S., Shope, C.L., Huwe, B., 2013. Simulation of runoff patterns and soil erosion on mountainous farmland with and without plastic-covered ridge-furrow cultivation in South Korea. Am. Soc. Agric. Biol. Eng. 56, 667–679.
- Bashkin, V., Park, S., Choi, M., Lee, C., 2002. Nitrogen budgets for the Republic of Korea and the Yellow sea region. Biogeochemistry 57/58, 387–403.
- Berger, S., 2012. Comparisons of N₂O and CH₄ fluxes as affected by land use systems and climate in small catchments in Korea. Dissertation. University of Bayreuth.
- Berger, S., Gebauer, G., Blodau, C., Knorr, K.H., 2017. Peatlands in a eutrophic world Assessing the state of a poor fen-bog transition in southern Ontario, Canada, after long term nutrient

input and altered hydrological conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 114, 131-144.

- Berger, S., Jung, E., Köpp, J., Kang, H., Gebauer, G., 2013a. Monsoon rains, drought periods and soil texture as drivers of soil N₂O fluxes - Soil drought turns East Asian temperate deciduous forest soils into temporary and unexpectedly persistent N₂O sinks. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57, 273–281.
- Berger, S., Kim, Y., Kettering, J., Gebauer, G., 2013b. Plastic mulching in agriculture-Friend or foe of N₂O emissions? Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 167, 43–51.
- Billings, S.A., 2008. Nitrous oxide in flux. Nature 456, 888-889
- Böttcher, J., Strebel, O., Voerkelius, S., Schmidt, H., 1990. Using isotope fractionation of nitratenitrogen and nitrate- oxygen for evaluation of microbial denitrification in a sandy aquifer. J. Hydrol. 114, 413–424.
- Boumans, L., Fraters, D., Drecht, G., 2008. Mapping nitrate leaching to upper groundwater in the sandy regions of The Netherlands, using conceptual knowledge. Environ. Monit. Assess. 137, 243–249.
- Boumans, L.J.M., Fraters, D., Van Drecht, G., 2005. Nitrate leaching in agriculture to upper groundwater in the sandy regions of the Netherlands during the 1992-1995 period. Environ. Monit. Assess. 102, 225–241.
- Bowen, G.J., 2008. The Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator [WWW Document]. Water Isot. URL http://www.waterisotopes.org/2013 (accessed 1.1.13).
- Bremner, J.M., 1965. Inorganic forms of nitrogen, in: Black, C.A. (Ed.), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, pp. 179–1237.
- Burns, D., 2005. What do hydrologists mean when they use the term flushing? Hydrol. Process. 19, 1325–1327.
- Campbell, D.H., Kendall, C., Chang, C.C.Y., Silva, S.R., Tonnessen, K.A., 2002. Pathways for nitrate release from an alpine watershed determination using ð¹⁵N ans ð¹⁸O. Water Resour. Res. 38, 1–9.
- Chapin, F.S., Matson, P.A., Mooney, H.. A., 2002. Principles of Terrestrial Ecosystem Ecology, System.
- Cole, C. V, Duxbury, J., Freney, J., Heinemeyer, O., Minami, K., Mosier, A., Paustian, K., Rosenberg, N., Sampson, N., Sauerbeck, D., Zhao, Q., 1997. Global estimates of potential mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions by agriculture. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 49, 221– 228.
- Creed, I.F., Band, L.E., 1998. Export of nitrogen from catchments within a temperate forest: Evidence for a unifying mechanism regulated by variable source area dynamics. Water Resour. Res. 34, 3105–3120.
- Creed, I.F., Band, L.E., Foster, N.W., Morrison, I.K., Nicolson, J.A., Semkin, R.S., Jeffries, D.S., 1996. Regulation of Nitrate-N release from temperate forests: A test of the N flushing

hypothesis. Water Resour. Res. 32, 3337–3354.

- Delmas, R., Serca, D., Jambert, C., 1997. Global inventory of NOx sources. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 48, 51–60.
- Deutsch, B., 2006. Identification an Quantification of Diffuse nitrogen Inputs by means of Stable Nitrogen and Oxygen Isotopes in Nitrate: Investigations in the Warnow river system. University of Rostock.
- Di, H.J., Cameron, K.C., 2002. Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems: Sources, factors and mitigating strategies. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 64, 237–256.
- Driscoll, C.T., Whitall, D., Aber, J., Boyer, E., Castro, M., Cronan, C., Goodale, C.L., Groffman, P., Hopkinson, C., Lambert, K., Lawrence, G., Ollinger, S., 2003. Nitrogen pollution in the northeastern United States : Sources, effects, and management options. BioScience 53, 357– 374.
- Durka, W., Schulze, E.-D., Gebauer, G., Voerkelius, S., 1994. Effects of forest decline on uptake and leaching of deposite nitrate determined from ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O measurementes. Nature 372, 764–767.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2014. FAO Statistical yearbook 2014- Asia and the Pacific food and agriculture.
- Galbally, I.E., 1985. The emision of nitrogen to atmosphere remote atmosphere, in: Galloway, J., Charlson, R., Andreae, M., Rodhe, H., Marston, M. (Eds.), Biogeochemical Cycling of Sulfur and Nitrogen in Remote Areas. D.Reidel, St. Georges, Bermuda, pp. 27–47.
- Galloway, J.N., Aber, J.D., Erisman, J.W., Seitzinger, S.P., Howarth, R.W., Cowling, E.B., Cosby, B.J., 2003. The Nitrogen Cascade. BioScience 53, 341.
- Galloway, J.N., Schlesinger, W.H., Clark, C.M., Grimm, N.B., Jackson, R.B., Law, B.E., Thornton, P.E., Townsend, A.R., 2014. Biogeochemical cycles, in: Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., Yohe, G.W. (Eds.), Climate Change Impacts in the United States :The Third National Climate Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, pp. 350–368.
- Garten, C.T., 1996. Stable nitrogen isotope ratios in wet and dry nitrate deposition collected with an artificial tree. Tellus Chem. Phys. Meteorol. 48, 60–64.
- Garten, C.T., 1992. Nitrogen isotope composition of ammonium and nitrate in bulk precipitation and forest throughfall. Intern. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 47, 33–45.
- Gebauer, G., Giesemann, A., Schulze, E.D., Jäger, H.J., 1994. Isotope ratios and concentrations of sulfur and nitrogen in needles and soils of Picea abies stands as influenced by atmospheric deposition of sulfur and nitrogen compounds. Plant Soil 164, 267–281.
- Gebauer, G., Melzer, A., Rehder, H., 1984. Nitrate content and nitrate reductase activity in Rumex obtusifolius L. Oecologia 63, 136–142.
- Gebauer, G., Preiss, K., Gebauer, A.C., 2016. Partial mycoheterotrophy is more widespread among orchids than previously assumed. New Phytol. 211, 11–15

- Gebauer, G., Schulze, E.-D., 1997. Nitrate nutrition of central European Forest trees, in: Rennenberg, H., Eschrich, W., Ziegler, H. (Eds.), Tree- Contrubutions to Modern Tree Physiology. Backhuys Plublishers, Leiden, pp. 273–291.
- Gebauer, G., Schulze, E.D., 1991. Carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios in different compartments of a healthy and declining Picea abies forest in the Fichtelgebirge, N.E. Bavaria. Oecologia 87, 198–207.
- Goldberg, S.D., Gebauer, G., 2009. Drought turns a Central European Norway spruce forest soil from an N₂O source to a transient N₂O sink. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 850–860.
- Goldberg, S.D., Gebauer, G., 2009. N₂O and NO fluxes between a Norway spruce forest soil and atmosphere as affected by prolonged summer drought. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 1986–1995.
- Goldberg, S.D., Knorr, K.-H., Gebauer, G., 2008. N2O concentrations and isotope signature along profiles provide deeper insight into the fate of N₂O in soils. Isotopes Environ. Health Stud. 44, 377–391.
- Gormly, J.R., Spalding, R.F., 1979. Sources and concentrations of Nitrate-Nitrogen in ground water of the Central Platte region, Nebraska. Ground Water17:3, 291-301.
- Göttlein, A., Hell, U., Blasek, R., 1996. A system for microscale tensiometry and lysimetry. Geoderma 69, 147–156.
- Göttlein, A., Matzner, E., 1997. Microscale heterogeneity of acidity related stress-parameters in the soil solution of a forested cambic podzol. Plant Soil 192, 95–105.
- Groffman, P.M., Law, N.L., Belt, K.T., Band, L.E., Fisher, G.T., 2004. Nitrogen fluxes and retention in urban watershed ecosystems. Ecosystems 7, 393–403.
- Gundersen, P., Emmett, B.A., Kjønaas, O.J., Koopmans, C.J., Tietema, A., 1998. Impact of nitrogen deposition on nitrogen cycling in forests: A synthesis of NITREX data. Forest. Ecol. Manag. 101, 37–55.
- Hansen, E.M., Djurhuus, J., 1996. Nitrate leaching as affected by long-term N fertilization on a coarse sand. Soil Use Manag. 12, 199–204.
- Hastings, M.G., Sigman, D.M., Lipschultz, F., 2003. Isotopic evidence for source changes of nitrate in rain at Bermuda. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 4790–4802.
- Heaton, T.H.E., Spiro, B., Robertson, S.M.C., 1997. Potential canopy in uences on the isotopic composition of nitrogen and sulphur in atmospheric deposition. Oecologia 109, 600–607.
- Hedin, L.O., Armesto, J.J., Johnson, A.H., 1995. Patterns of nutrient loss from unpolluted, oldgrowth temperate forests: Evaluation of biogeochemical theory. Ecology 76, 493–509.
- Hill, B.H., Jicha, T.M., Lehto, L.R.L.P., Elonen, C.M., Sebestyen, S.D., Kolka, R.K., 2016. Comparisons of soil nitrogen mass balances for an ombrotrophic bog and a minerotrophic fen in northern Minnesota. Sci. Total Environ. 550, 880–892.

Hoering, T., 1957. The isotopic composition of the ammonia and the nitrate ion in rain. Geochim.

Cosmochim. Acta 12, 97–102.

- Högberg, P., Högbom, L., Schinkel, H., Högberg, M., Johannisson, C., Wallmark, H., 1996. 15N abundance of surface soils, roots and mycorrhizas in profiles of European forest soils. Oecologia 108, 207–214.
- Hollocher, T.C., 1984. Source of the oxygen atoms of nitrate in the oxidation of nitrite by Nitrobacter agilis and evidence against a PON anhydride mechanism in oxidative phosphorylation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 233, 721–727.
- Hübner, H., 1986. Isotope effects on nitrogen in the soil and biosphere, in: Fritz, P., Fontes, J.C. (Eds.), Handbook of Environmental Isotope Geochemistry. Elsevier, pp. 361–425.
- Johnston, J.C., Thiemens, M.H., 1997. The isotopic composition of tropospheric ozone in three environments. J. Geophys. Res. 102, 395–404.
- Kendall, C., 1998. Tracing Nitrogen Sources and Cycling in Catchments, in: Kendall, C., McDonnell, J. (Eds.), Isotope Tracers in Catchment Hydrology. Elsevier, Oxford, UK.
- Kendall, C., Campbell, D.H., Burns, D. a, Shanley, J.B., Silva, S.R., Chang, C.C.Y., 1995. Tracing sources of nitrate in snowmelt runoff using the oxygen and nitrogen isotopic compositions of nitrate, in: Biogeochemistry of Seasonally Snow-Covered Catchments Proceedings of a Boulder Symposium, July 1995. pp. 339–347.
- Kendall, C., McDonnell, J., 1998. Isotopes tracers in Catchment Hydrology, First. ed. Oxford, UK.
- Kendall, C., Silvia, S.R., Chang, C.C.Y., Burns, D.A., Campbell, D.H., Shanley, J.B., 1996. Use of the ð¹⁸O ans ð¹⁵N of nitrate to determine sources of nitrate in early spring runoff in forested catchments, in: Isotopes in Water Resources Management. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria, pp. 167–176.
- Kesik, M., Brüggemann, N., Forkel, R., Kiese, R., Knoche, R., Li, C., Seufert, G., Simpson, D., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2006. Future scenarios of N₂O and NO emissions from European forest soils. J. Geophys. Res. 111, 1–14.
- Kettering, J., Park, J.H., Lindner, S., Lee, B., Tenhunen, J., Kuzyakov, Y., 2012. N fluxes in a mountainous catchment under intensive agriculture: An extensive budget approach at different scales. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 161, 101–111.
- Kettering, J., Ruidisch, M., Gaviria, C., Ok, Y.S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Fate of fertilizer ¹⁵N in intensive ridge cultivation with plastic mulching under a monsoon climate. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 95, 57–72.
- Kim, G., Chung, S., Lee, C., 2007. Water quality of runoff from agricultural-forestry watersheds in the Geum River Basin, Korea. Environ. Monit. Assess. 134, 441–452
- Kim, B., Choi, K., Kim, C., Lee, U.H., Kim, Y.H., 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Wat. Res. 34, 3495–3504.
- Kim, M., Lee, W., Kurz, W., Kwak, D., Morken, S., Smyth, C., Ryu, D., 2017. Estimating carbon

dynamics in forest carbon pools under IPCC standards in South Korea using CBM-CFS3. iForest - Biogeosciences Forest. 10, 83–92.

- Kohzu, A., Matsui, K., Yamada, T., Sugimoto, A., Fujita, N., 2003. Significance of rooting depth in mire plants: Evidence from natural15N abundance. Ecol. Res. 18, 257–266.
- Korean Forest Service, 2013. Korean Forest at a Glance 2013. Seoul, South Korea.
- Kreitler, C.W., Jones, D.C., 1975. Natural soil nitrate: the cause of the nitrate contamination of ground water in Runnels County, Texas. Ground Water 13:1, 53-62.
- Kumar, S., Nicholas, D.J.D., Williams, E.H., 1983. Definitive ¹⁵N NMR evidence that water serves as a source of "O" during nitrite oxidation by Nitrobacter agilis. Fed. Eur. Biogeochem. Soc. Lett. 152, 71–74.
- Lee, M.H., Payeur-Poirier, J.L., Park, J.H., Matzner, E., 2016. Variability in runoff fluxes of dissolved and particulate carbon and nitrogen from two watersheds of different tree species during intense storm events. Biogeosciences 13, 5421–5432.
- Limpens, J., Heijmans, M.P.D., Berendse, F., 2006. The nitrogen cycle in boreal peatlands, in: Wieder, R.K., Vitt, D.H. (Eds.), Boreal Peatland Ecosystems. Springer, Berlin, pp. 195–230.
- Liniger, H., Weingartner, R., Grosjean, M., 1998. Mountains of the World : Water Towers for the 21 st Century. Swiss Agency Dev. Coop. 1, 1–32.
- Logan, J.A., 1983. Nitrogen oxides in the troposphere: Global and regional budgets. Geophys. Res. 88, 2156–2202.
- Lovett, G.M., Kinsman, J.D., 1990. Atmospheric pollutant deposition to high-elevation ecosystems. Atmos. Environ. 24, 2767–2786.
- Lovett, G.M., Reiners, W.A., Olson, R.K., 1982. Cloud droplet deposition in subalpine Balsam fir forest: Hydrological and chemical inputs. Science . 218, 1303–1304.
- Lovett, G.M., Weathers, K.C., Arthur, M.A., 2002. Control of nitrogen loss from forested watersheds by soil carbon: Nitrogen ratio and tree species composition. Ecosystems 5, 712–718.
- Lovett, G.M., Weathers, K.C., Sobczak, W. V, Applications, S.E., Feb, N., 2000. Nitrogen saturation and retention in forested Watersheds of the Catskill Mountains, New York. Ecol. Appl. 10, 73–84.
- MAFRA, 2014. Korean ministry for food agriculture, forestry, and fisheries.
- MAFRA, 2013. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs [WWW Document]. URL http://english.mafra.go.kr/main.jsp
- Magill, A.H., Aber, J.D., Hendricks, J.J., Bowden, R.D., Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A., 1997. Biogeochemical response of forest ecosystems to simulate chronic Nitrogen deposition. Ecol. Appl. 7, 402–415.
- Maharjan, G.R., 2015. Integrated watershed modeling of mountainous landscapes : Assessing the

environmental performance of an intensive farming system in South Korea. Dissertation. University of Bayreuth.

- Mariotti, A., Landreau, A., Simon, B., 1988. ¹⁵N isotope biogeochemistry and natural denitrification process in groundwater: Application to the chalk aquifer of northern France. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 52, 1869–1878.
- Mayer, B., Bollwerk, S.M., Mansfeldt, T., Hütter, B., Veizer, J., 2001. The oxygen isotope composition of nitrate generated by nitrification in acid forest floors. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 65, 2743–2756.
- Mayer, B., Boyer, E.W., Goodale, C., Jaworski, N.A., Van Breemen, N., Howarth, R.W., Seitzinger, S., Billen, G., Lajtha, K., Nadelhoffer, K., Van Dam, D., Hetling, L.J., Nosal, M., Paustian, K., 2002. Sources of nitrate in rivers draining sixteen watersheds in the northeastern U.S.: Isotopic constraints. Biogeochemistry 57–58, 171–197.
- McNulty, S.G., Aber, J.D., McLellan, T.M., Katt, S.M., 1990. Nitrogen cycling in high elevation forests of the northeastern US in relation to Nitrogen deposition. AMBIO 19, 38–40.
- Menyailo, O., Huwe, B., 1999. Denitrification and C, N mineralization as function of temperature and moisture potential in organic and mineral horzons of an acid spruce forest soil. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 162, 527–531.
- Morley, N., Baggs, E.M., 2010. Carbon and oxygen controls on N₂O and N₂ production during nitrate reduction. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 1864–1871
- Nadelhoffer, K.J., Fry, B., 1994. Nitrogen Isotope studies in forest ecosystems, in: Lajtha, K., Michener, R.H. (Eds.), Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. pp. 22–44.
- Nadelhoffer, K.J., Fry, B., 1988. Controls on natural Nitrogen-15 and Carbon-13 abundances in forest soil organic matter. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 52, 1633.
- Novák, M., Buzek, F., Adamová, M., 1999. Vertical trends in ð¹³C, ð¹⁵N and ð³⁴S ratios in bulk Sphagnum peat. Soil Biol. Biochem 31, 1343–1346.
- Novák, M., Buzek, F., Harrison, A.F., Přechová, E., Jačková, I., Fottová, D., 2003. Similarity between C, N and S stable isotope profiles in European spruce forest soils: Implications for the use of δ34S as a tracer. Appl. Geochemistry 18, 765–779.
- Novak, M., Gebauer, G., Thoma, M., Curik, J., Stepanova, M., Jackova, I., Buzek, F., Barta, J., Santruckova, H., Fottova, D., Kubena, A.A., 2015. Denitrification at two nitrogen-polluted, ombrotrophic Sphagnum bogs in Central Europe: Insights from porewater N₂O-isotope profiles. Soil Biol. Biochem. 81, 48–57.
- Pardo, L.H., Hemond, H.F., Montoya, J.P., Pett-Ridge, J., 2007. Natural abundance ¹⁵N in soil and litter across a nitrate-output gradient in New Hampshire. Forest. Ecol. Manag. 251, 217–230.
- Park, J.-H., Duan, L., Kim, B., Mitchell, M.J., Shibata, H., 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environ. Intern. 36, 212–225.

- Pilegaard, K., Skiba, U., Ambus, P., Beier, C., Brüggemann, N., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dick, J., Dorsey, J., Duyzer, J., Gallagher, M., Gasche, R., Horvath, L., Kitzler, B., Leip, A., Pihlatie, M.K., Rosenkranz, P., Seufert, G., Vesala, T., Westrate, H., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., 2006. Factors controlling regional differences in forest soil emission of nitrogen oxides (NO and N₂O). Biogeosciences 3, 651–661.
- Sah, S.P., Brumme, R., 2003. Natural ¹⁵N abundance in two nitrogen saturated forest ecosystems at Solling, Germany. J. For. Sci. 49, 515–522.
- Shearer, G., Kohl, D.H., Chien, S., 1978. The nitrogen-15 abundance in wide variety of soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 42, 899–902.
- Skiba, U., Drewer, J., Tang, Y.S., van Dijk, N., Helfter, C., Nemitz, E., Famulari, D., Cape, J.N., Jones, S.K., Twigg, M., Pihlatie, M., Vesala, T., Larsen, K.S., Carter, M.S., Ambus, P., Ibrom, A., Beier, C., Hensen, A., Frumau, A., Erisman, J.W., Brüggemann, N., Gasche, R., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Neftel, A., Spirig, C., Horvath, L., Freibauer, A., Cellier, P., Laville, P., Loubet, B., Magliulo, E., Bertolini, T., Seufert, G., Andersson, M., Manca, G., Laurila, T., Aurela, M., Lohila, A., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Kitzler, B., Schaufler, G., Siemens, J., Kindler, R., Flechard, C., Sutton, M.A., 2009. Biosphere-atmosphere exchange of reactive nitrogen and greenhouse gases at the NitroEurope core flux measurement sites: Measurement strategy and first data sets. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 133, 139–149.
- Skiba, U.M., Sheppard, L.J., MacDonald, J., Fowler, D., 1998. Some key environmental variables controlling nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural and semi-natural soils in Scotland. Atmospheric. Environ. 32, 3311–3320.
- Smil, V., 1999. Nitrogen in crop production: An account of global flows. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 13, 647–662.
- Spoelstra, J., Schiff, S.L., Elgood, R.J., Semkin, R.G., Jeffries, D.S., 2001. Tracing the sources of exported nitrate in the Turkey Lakes Watershed using ¹⁵N/¹⁴N and ¹⁸O/¹⁶O isotopic ratios. Ecosystems 4, 536–544.
- Stoddard, J.L., 1994. Long-term changes in watershed retention of nitrogen, in: Baker, L.A. (Ed.), Advances in Chemistry Series: Environmental Chemistry of Lakes and Reservoirs. American Chemical Society, Atlanta, Georgia, pp. 223–284.
- Sub- Global Assassments Working Group, 2005. Ecosystems and human well being Multiscale Assessments, 4th ed. IslandPress, Washington, D.C.
- Van Groenigen, J.W., Velthof, G.L., Oenema, O., Van Groenigen, K.J., Van Kessel, C., 2010. Towards an agronomic assessment of N₂O emissions: A case study for arable crops. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 61, 903–913.
- Vitousek, P.M., Aber, J.D., Howarth, R.W., Likens, G.E., Matson, P.A., Schindler, D.W., Schlesinger, W.H., Tilman, D.G., Tilman9, D.G., 1997. Human alteration of the global Nitrogen cycle: Sources and Consequences. Ecol. Appl. 7, 737–750.
- Vitousek, P.M., Gosz, J.R., Grier, C.C., Melillo, J.M., Reiners, W.A., Todd, R.L., 1979. Nitrate losses from disturbed ecosystems. Science 204, 469–474.

- Vitousek, P.M., Howarth, R.W., 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13, 87–115.
- Vitousek, P.M., Reiners, W.A., 1975. Ecosystem succession and nutrien retention a hypotesis. BioScience 25, 376–381.
- Wahlen, M., Yoshinari, T., 1985. Oxygen isotope ratios in N₂O from different environments. Nature 313, 780–782.
- WAMIS, n.d. Water resources management information system [WWW Document]. web. URL http://wamis.go.kr/ENG/# (accessed 1.1.14).
- Wassenaar, L.I., 1995. Evaluation of the origin and fate of nitrate in the Abbotsford Aquifer using isotopes of ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O in NO₃⁻. Appl. Geochem. 1995 10, 391–405.
- Williard, K.W.J., Dewalle, R., Edwards, J., Schnabel, R., 1997. Indicators of Nitrate export form forested watersheds of the mid-Appalachians, United States of America. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 11, 649–656.

World Meteorological Organization, 2016. WMO Greenhouse Gas Bulletin. WMO Bull. 1-4.

Yanggu Office, 2014. Yanggu Statistical Yearbook 2013. Yanggu.

Chapter 2

Origin and fate of nitrate runoff in an agricultural catchment: Haean, South Korea – Comparison of two extremely different monsoon seasons

Silvia Parra-Suarez^a, Stefan Peiffer^b, Gerhard Gebauer^a*

^a Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry, Bayreuth Center of Ecology and Environmental Sciences - BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440, Bayreuth, Germany

^b Department of Hydrology, Bayreuth Center of Ecology and Environmental Sciences – BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440, Bayreuth, Germany

 *Corresponding author: Gerhard Gebauer, Laboratory of Isotopes Biogeochemistry, GEO I University of Bayreuth, Universitätsstraße, 30 - 95447 Bayreuth, Germany. Tel: +49921552060; Gerhard.gebauer@uni-bayreuth.de

Submitted to: Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment

(Submission N°: AGEE19540)

Abstract

The monsoon season in South Korea has a great influence on the biogeochemical and hydrological processes in the entire country, but is specifically of concern in the Soyang lake watershed, the main drinking water reservoir for the 20 million metropolis Seoul. Therefore, control of water quality and especially nitrate concentrations in Lake Soyang is of high public priority. The Haean catchment is the most prominent agriculture-dominated sub-catchment of the Soyang lake watershed. It is a complex terrain influenced by extreme rain events and non-point nitrate sources. In this investigation we used: 1) a mass balance technique and 2) a δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O stable isotope approach to quantify and determinate the origin of nitrate inputs into the rivers that later flow into the lake. During pre-monsoon and monsoon seasons in 2013 and 2014 we measured daily rainfall and river water discharge at up to seven locations within a sub-catchment of the agricultural Haean catchment and collected rain, river water and groundwater samples in order to analyze nitrate concentrations and nitrate nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundances. Furthermore, we collected a wide range of nitrogen fertilizers as applied in the Haean catchment. Heavy monsoon events, as in 2013, were the most pronounced drivers of nitrate leaching being responsible for more than 80 % of the nitrate output in the river runoff. On the other hand, an almost missing summer monsoon in 2014 drove the nitrate runoff in a different manner, being responsible for only 0.4% of the total nitrate nitrogen river discharge in the previous year. Results of nitrate nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundance analyses suggest soil microbial nitrification as the most important contributor to the nitrate in the river runoff. In addition, nitrate from groundwater, specifically from the dry land areas, and partially affected by microbial denitrification contributed to the nitrate in the river runoff due to river-aquifer exchange fluxes especially after onset of the monsoon season. Direct leaching of nitrate from mineral fertilizers applied in the area and atmospheric nitrate deposition were obviously only minor contributors to the nitrate in the river runoff. Our investigation shows that in extremely different monsoon seasons, as in 2013 and 2014, the nitrate leaching in the Haean agricultural catchment was influenced by different hydrological and biogeochemical processes leading to different nitrate export scenarios during summer monsoon.

Keywords:

Nitrate, Monsoon, Stable isotope, Fertilizer, Groundwater, Aquifer.

1. Introduction

Nitrate leaching from agricultural land is considered as a hazardous source of pollution of surface water and groundwater systems (Zotarelli et al. 2007). Specifically, anthropogenic nitrogen fertilizer applications on agricultural land frequently lead to nitrate exports from rooted soil horizons to aquatic ecosystem like rivers, natural lakes and drinking water reservoirs. Nitrate export into aquatic systems causes eutrophication and acidification accompanied by deficiencies of dissolved oxygen and subsequent loss of animal and plant species (Camargo and Alonso 2007). Also drinking water with concentrations above 10 mg L⁻¹ of N_{NO3}^{-1} (Ward et al. 2005; World Health Organization 2011; Cheong et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2015) causes health problems of humans as the well-known methaemoglobinaemia or blue baby syndrome and also different types of cancer especially in the digestive tract (Powlson et al. 2008).

Soyang lake watershed in South Korea is the major drinking water reservoir for the 20 million metropolis Seoul. Therefore, control of water quality and especially nitrate concentrations in Lake Soyang is of high public priority. The identification of nitrate sources and total nitrate exports in the Soyang lake watershed is a major concern for decision makers in the entire country. The watershed has a complex terrain with different types of land uses, including patches of semi-natural silviculture and intensive agricultural management. In addition high altitudinal gradients and monsoon-driven extreme rainfall variations cause a high risk of nitrate leaching and soil erosion. These characteristics entail complex consequences and impacts in the environment that have to be considered for any improvement of water quality predictions in the region.

The Haean sub-catchment is the most prominent agriculture-dominated basin of the Soyang lake watershed. It is composed of a forested belt in the steep top slopes of the bowl-shaped basin, followed by a dry land agriculture belt in the bottom-slope areas and rice paddies at the bottom of the basin.

High nitrogen fertilizer application together with heavy monsoon rainfalls and sandy soils makes this basin a potential hazard in terms of nitrate losses. Heavy mineral nitrogen fertilizer applications are used to compensate for soil erosion loss. Adding sandy soil to the top layer of agricultural fields to compensate for soil loss is another common practice in Haean basin (Berger 2012). Thus a circle system difficult to break is created. In areas with only one recognizable nitrate source the calculation of total nitrate exports might be sufficient for an effective decision making. However, in areas with complex terrain, extreme weather events and non-point nitrate sources, like in the Haean basin, a simple nitrate export mass balance would not be sufficient to elucidate in a mechanistic manner the origin of nitrate exports. Additional information on biogeochemical key processes in the nitrogen cycle is required.

Stable isotope natural abundance of nitrate is an ideally suited tool to add source and process information to nitrate mass balances on a catchment level.

Stable isotope abundance of nitrate has frequently been used for identification of nitrate origins. Unfortunately $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ from different origins often shows overlapping ranges (Gormly and Spalding 1979; Kreitler 1979; Durka et al. 1994; Mayer et al. 2001, 2002; Koh et al. 2010). Therefore, additional measurement of $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ allows a more precise classification of nitrate origins (Amberger and Schmidt 1987; Böttcher et al. 1990; Durka et al. 1994; Revesz et al. 1997; Aravena and Robertson 1998; Bräuer and Strauch 2000; Silva et al. 2000) particularly in agricultural areas where nitrate based fertilizers are used (Wassenaar 1995).

The use of solely $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$. for source identification is a valid technique as long as nitrate behaves conservative. Processes such as microbial nitrification or denitrification, however, are hard to be identified using only $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ without additional support, since significant nitrogen fractionation occurs during these microbial processes (Wassenaar 1995) and their nitrogen isotope signatures have wide overlapping ranges (Mayer et al. 2001). On the other hand, during these microbial processes high fractionation affects simultaneously oxygen isotope abundance (Koh et al. 2010). For example nitrate produced during microbial nitrification contains two-thirds of its oxygen from soil water and one third of its oxygen from atmospheric oxygen (Andersson and Hooper 1983; Durka et al. 1994; Wassenaar 1995; Kendall 1998; Ohte et al. 2004). Thus, nitrate generated by microbial nitrification has distinct oxygen isotope ratios particularly different from atmospheric nitrate deposition, denitrification and fertilizers.

Another example is microbial denitrification, which causes enrichment in $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ in the remaining nitrate and simultaneously decreasing nitrate concentration (Mariotti et al. 1981, 1982). During denitrification $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ increases about twice as fast as $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ especially under closed system conditions (Melorose et al. 2015).

The dual isotope approach analyzing $\delta^{15}N_{NO3-}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3-}$ is suited to separate nitrate that underwent nitrification and denitrification from each other and from other nitrate sources.

For example, Deutsch et al. (2006) successfully identify atmospheric deposition as one of three sources in a riverine zone. Einsiedl and Mayer (2006) identified proportional contributions of nitrate sources including nitrification, synthetic fertilizers and atmospheric deposition in groundwater in Germany.

In this study we come up with comparisons of nitrate export mass balances and underlying biogeochemical nitrate transformation processes in the Haean catchment for two years extremely different in their summer rainfall inputs. In 2013 a dry pre-monsoon season was followed by a monsoon season with rainfall amounts above the eleven-years average (Kim et al. 2007). In contrast, in 2014 a monsoon season almost completely failed leading to rainfall amounts clearly below the eleven-year average (Kim et al. 2007). We use the extreme differences in summer precipitation between 2013 and 2014 to develop scenarios for nitrate exports from agricultural catchments in summer monsoon climate regions under conditions as predicted by global climate change scenarios.

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Study site and land use

The field work of this research was conducted in the Haean-myun sub-catchment located in Yanggu–County, Gangwon Province, in the northeastern part of South Korea (128° 5' to 128° 11' E, 38° 13' to 38° 20' N). The punchbowl shaped basin is part of the Soyang lake watershed, which is the largest water reservoir in the country (Kim et al. 2000), and it is the main source of drinking water for the 20 million metropolis Seoul (Fig. 1). The Haean catchment has a total area of 64 km². It is the major farming territory of the entire watershed (Park et al. 2010) with about 30% area under agricultural land use (22% dry land fields and 8% rice paddies). 58% of the area are forested mountains and 12% are residential and semi-natural areas including grassland, field margins, riparian areas, channels, and farm roads (Arnhold et al. 2013). The topography of the area is complex with different hillslopes and flow directions (Arnhold et al. 2014). It has different altitudinal gradients characterized by flat areas and steep slopes in the mountain forested ridges (Park et al. 2010; Arnhold et al. 2014) The altitudinal elevation gradient reaches from 340 m above

sea level (asl) at Mandae River near the catchment outlet up to 1320 m asl in the surrounding mountain forests.



Fig. 1. Location of the Haean agricultural sub-catchment, (a) in the northeastern part of South Korea (b) within Soyang lake watershed. (c) Location of the sampling points in the sub-catchment of this investigation and (d) along an altitudinal gradient indicating positioning of the various land use systems and water flow pathways.

The maximum and minimum average temperatures in Haean basin per year span from -27° C in winter to 33° C in summer. The mean annual air temperature is 8.7° C, and the annual precipitation based on 13 years weather station records in the Haean catchment is 1658 mm, (Maharjan 2015). Almost 90% of the annual precipitation occurs within the cropping season from April to October (Kettering et al. 2012). The monsoon season has place in July, August, and September and it has a great influence on the biogeochemical and hydrological processes as it represents more than 65% of the precipitation concentrated just in this period (Arnhold et al. 2013). This heavy rain contributes with significant non-point pollution nutrients to the water systems (Kim 2006) that eventually will feed into Lake Soyang.

Monsoon season has defined periods, a dry pre-monsoon period placed between April until end of June and a monsoon period which follows between July until beginning of September. It should be mentioned that due to the influence of climate change and other variables these periods can fluctuate or even not appear. The sampling campaign in 2013 went from May (mid dry pre-monsoon period) until mid August when the intensive and median precipitation events have evidently stopped and the monsoon season have reached an end. In 2014 the sampling collection started about a month later than the year before, because during dry pre-monsoon period in 2013 the lack of rain did not allow us to collect enough water to be analyzed. In 2014 a monsoon almost completely failed.

For our research, a sub-catchment within the basin was chosen as the most representative in terms of land use and water flow (Fig. 1d). An altitude gradient with different land use patches along the stream started with steep slopes in a forested land located in the higher part of the river, followed by dry land crops on a lower elevation and predominately rice paddies located downstream in the lowest part of the valley (Fig.1d). The forest vegetation patch is deciduous and represents with 13.25 ha 0.4% of the whole forested area in the catchment. It is dominated by *Quercus dentata*, *Q. mongolica*, *Q. serrata*, *Betula davurica*, and *Tilia amurensis* as major tree species, but also in a minor proportion, *Weigela florida*, *Stephanadra incisa*, *Ulmus laciniata*, *Symplocos chinensis*, *Euonymus alatus*, *Acer pseudosieboldianum*, and *Corylus heterophylla* (Berger 2012). The main dry land crops cultivated in Haean catchment were in the years of the investigation primarily cabbage, potato, radish and soybean (7.8 %), orchards and ginseng (8.3 %), and maize, pepper, rye, and sunflowers (4.1 % of the total catchment included as other dryland crop) (Maharjan 2015). The dry land patches represent with 144 ha 10.3% of the total dry land area in the basin. The rice field area is with 42 ha 8% of the total rice paddies in Haean catchment. In total the sub-catchment area

2.2 Field instrumentation and data collection

Six monitoring and sampling points were located along the stream channel starting in the upper forest patch S1. In the middle of this altitudinal gradient and located in the dry land patch is S2, S3 and S4, while S5 and S6 were located in the lower rice paddies patch (Fig. 4). During the campaign in 2014, water samples from the dry land patch were collected only from S2 and S4 because no major differences were found between S2 and S3 in the year before.

2.2.1 Weir locations and discharge calculations

River discharge was measured with two V-notch weirs located in S1 (forest patch) and S3 (dry land patch) for high and low flows (Ackers et al. 1978; Chanson and Wang 2012, 2013). Water level and barometric data used in discharge calculations were measured at the weir with absolute pressure transducers which recorded total head at 5 min intervals (Levelogger® Edge Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada) and barologgers (Barologger Edge Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada) for barometric compensation. For low and moderate flows (<8.0 m³. s⁻¹) the flow velocities were measured with an electromagnetic current meter (FlowSens, $\pm 0.5\%$, SEBA Hydrometrie GmbH, Kaufbeuren, Germany) in S4, S5 and S6 monitoring points.

V-notch weir discharge values were calculated using the Kindsvater and Shen formula (Kulin and Compton 1975; El-Ansary et al. 2010) while the velocity-area method was applied for the low and moderate flows using the electromagnetic device (Herschy 1985; Peters 1988).

2.2.2 Weather stations and rainfall measurements.

Precipitation was recorded in 5 min intervals using an automatic weather station (WS-GP1, Delta-T Devices, Cambridge, UK). Two weather stations were located in S1 (higher forested patch) and S6 (lower rice paddies patch). Rainfall collectors were also located in S1, S4 and S6 monitoring points.

2.2.3 Groundwater wells

Groundwater wells were installed perpendicular to the stream at different elevation zones of the altitudinal transect. The first transect wells were located in the middle elevation area S4 (dry land patch). They consisted of two 2-inch diameter, polyvinyl chloride (PVC) piezometers with 0.5 m screened intervals at their lower end. Depths of the piezometers were 4.00 and 6.00 meter respectively. The second transect wells were installed at the lower elevation area S6 (rice paddies patch). They consisted of four wells with the same characteristics of the first transect wells and with depths of 6.00, 5.00, 4.00 and 3.00 m. All wells were equipped with absolute pressure transducers (Levelogger, Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada, ± 0.01 m), which recorded total head in 5 min intervals. Water level readings recorded by level loggers were corrected for atmospheric pressure variations by using the atmospheric pressure readings of a Barologger (Barologger, Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada), attached outside of the wells.

2.3 Sample collection, storage, transportation and analysis.

The sampling design was made to determinate the influence of the precipitation regime and land use on the sources and total nitrate discharge into Mandae River, one of the most important streams in Soyang lake watershed. Stream, rain and groundwater samples were collected for nitrate concentration and nitrate stable isotope abundance analysis.

During the field campaign, samples were collected every second day and after every rain event in the dry pre-monsoon season. During heavy monsoon season samples were collected after rain events and up to every six hours in precipitation events that lasted at least 12 hours.

All samples were taken manually and stored in 1 L plastic bottles for nitrate isotope abundance and 2 ml vials for nitrate concentration analysis. Precipitation samples were collected from the rain collectors installed at S1, S4, S6 monitoring points. The rain collectors were installed in open areas at 1.50 m above the ground.

Groundwater samples were collected only during growing season 2013 as nitrate concentrations within the wells behave conservative. Groundwater samples were collected from each of the wells using a submersible pump (Power Jet High Pressure pump 22 L. min⁻¹ Tauchpumpe REICH GmbH, Eschenburg, Germany).

After collected, the water samples were immediately frozen and stored for their subsequent transport to Germany for further analysis. In aim to keep the samples frozen during the transportation, dry ice was added to the cooling boxes. In 2013 we collected 175 rain samples, 300 river water samples and 288 groundwater samples for nitrate concentrations. For isotope abundance analysis we collected 50 river water samples and 30 groundwater samples. To complete the sampling collection during 2014 we collected 110 rain samples and 210 river water samples for nitrate concentrations. For isotope abundance analysis. For isotope abundance analysis we collected 47 river water samples.

In addition to the water samples the following in the Haean sub-catchment commonly used nitrogen fertilizers were collected for the subsequent nitrogen and oxygen isotope abundance analysis. We collected in total 13 fertilizer samples including manure, vegetable compost, organic fertilizer 15% animal waste, KNP fertilizer, NK fertilizer and N fertilizer 70% nitrate.

Analysis of nitrate concentration and nitrate isotope abundance were completed at the Hydrology Department and Isotope Biogeochemistry Laboratory of Bayreuth University, respectively.

2.3.1 Nitrate concentration analysis.

Rain, stream and groundwater samples were analyzed for nitrate concentration using anion exchange high performance liquid chromatography and subsequent UV detection (HPLC LC4000 Jasco Europe S.r.l., Cremella, Italy) using PeakSimple Chromatography software (PeakSimple 3.93) and an anion exchange IC column (VYDAC 302IC 10 μ m Anion Exchange 250 x 4.6mm, Grace Corporate Headquarters, Columbia, USA). For further details of this method see Gebauer et al. (1984). The samples were unfrozen inside of a refrigerator at 4°C 12 hours before the analysis.

2.3.2 Sample preparation and nitrate isotope abundance analysis.

The nitrate extraction from the water samples for the subsequent isotope abundance analysis followed the procedure described by Huber et al. (2011) and consisted of the following steps:

(1) Unfreezing of the 1 L stream and groundwater samples in a refrigerator at 4° C for 24 h. Transferring the water samples into glass vessels, freezing the samples at -40°C in a salt/ethanol bath and complete freeze-drying of the samples. Due to the high number of samples and their high volume, the following freeze-drying machines were used in parallel: Freeze Dryer condenser EF4 Modulyo with two levels of 12 port acrylic lid, Edwards High vacuum B.O.C. Ltd, Crawley, England and SuperModulyo freeze dryer 20 L with Column manifolds 24 port, Edwards High vacuum B.O.C. Ltd, Crawley, England.

(2) Extraction of nitrate in a NaI + acetone + hexane solution, settling of insoluble compounds overnight in a refrigerator and subsequent centrifugation (Beckmann J6 High Capacity Centrifuge, Beckmann Coulter, Krefeld, Germany). Transfer of the supernatant into new centrifugation tubes and precipitation of $Ba(NO_3)_2$ by adding of BaI_2 in acetone. After settling of the precipitate in a refrigerator and centrifugation, decantation of the supernatant and drying of the $Ba(NO_3)_2$ at 60°C overnight. Dissolving of the $Ba(NO_3)_2$ in defined water volumes and transfer of aliquots into tin (for N isotope abundance analysis) or silver capsules (for O isotope abundance analysis) and again complete drying of the samples before closure of the capsules.

Relative nitrogen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$) were measured with an elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba 1108, Milano, Italy) for Dumas combustion followed by gas chromatography and feeding of N₂ into a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta S Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany) via a ConFlo III interface (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described by Bidartondo et al. (2004). Nitrogen standard gas was calibrated with respect to the international standard (N₂ in air) by using the reference substances N1 and N2 provided by the IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria). Nitrogen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a six-point calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard acetanilide with known nitrogen content of 10.36% (Gebauer and Schulze 1991). For recovery control of our extraction procedure nitrogen amounts in a randomly selected sample subset were compared to the independently by HPLC measured nitrate concentrations. Nitrogen recovery was always close to 100%.

Relative oxygen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$) were measured by thermal conversion through pyrolysis (HTO, HEKAtech, Wegberg, Germany) followed by gas chromatography and feeding of CO into a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta V advantage Thermo Fisher Scientific) via a ConFlo IV interface (Thermo Fisher Scientific) as described by Gebauer et al. (2016). The CO standard gas was calibrated with respect to the international standard (V-SMOW) by using the reference substances IAEA601 and IAEA602 provided by the IAEA. Oxygen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a sixpoint calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard benzoic acid with known oxygen content of 26.20%. For recovery control of our extraction procedure oxygen amounts in a randomly selected sample subset were compared to the independently by HPLC measured nitrate concentrations. Oxygen recovery was close to 100% for the nitrate extracted from water collected in 2013. However, for the nitrate extracted separately from water collected in 2014 oxygen recovery exceeded the 100% threshold significantly. Thus, for the 2014 samples the isolated nitrate was obviously still contaminated with other oxygen-containing compounds for unknown reasons. Thus, all $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}^{-1}$ data of the 2014 sample collection were not considered for any further data presentation.

In addition to $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ of water samples we also analyzed $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ of nitrogen fertilizer samples using the above described equipment.

2.4 Calculation of nitrate fluxes, isotope data treatments and statistical analyses

Nitrate-N flux calculations in the river discharge were carried out using N_{NO3}^{-1} concentrations calculated from measured nitrate concentrations and multiplied by the total stream area discharge or rain input per day. Proportional N_{NO3}^{-1} input from rainfall was calculated based on the average mineral fertilizer N applications during the growing season in Haean (313 kg N ha-1 yr-1) (Kim et al. 2008).

Nitrate stable isotopes data from stream and groundwater samples were plotted together with the natural abundance known for the major nitrate sources that may influence aquifers (Kendall 1998) as nitrate from microbial nitrification and denitrification.

A theoretical $\delta^{15}N_{NO3-}/\delta^{18}O_{NO3-}$ relationship for microbial nitrification was calculated to compare nitrate originating from microbial nitrification with the measured stream and groundwater nitrate isotope abundance data in the research area. Nitrate from microbial nitrification of soil organic nitrogen has two thirds of its oxygen from soil water (-13.5 $^{0}/_{00}$ and -5.5 $^{0}/_{00}$, OIPC; Bowen, 2008; Bowen et al., 2005) and one third from atmospheric 0_{2} (~+23.5 $^{0}/_{00}$). Thus we can calculate the theoretical $\delta^{18}O_{NO3-}$ of nitrate of microbial nitrification for the Haean agricultural sub- catchment by using the following equation:

$$\delta^{18}O_{NO3-} = \frac{2}{3} (\delta^{18}O_{-H2O}) + \frac{1}{3} (\delta^{18}O_{-O2}).$$

Also microbial denitrification is associated with a systematic shift in the isotopic composition of the remaining nitrate in a relationship $2_{(\delta^{15}N)}$: $1_{(\delta^{18}O)}$ (Amberger and Schmidt 1987; Böttcher et al. 1990; Kendall 1998). In this way nitrate that underwent denitrification can be distinguished from nitrate that was simply diluted. Nitrate that underwent denitrification is characterized by a shift of $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ towards more positive values (Aravena and Robertson 1998). Also $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ values of inorganic fertilizers and manure used in the research area were plotted together with river and groundwater samples. Stable isotope composition of atmospheric rain deposition was obtained from Lee et al., (2008).

We also used a linear regression analysis between $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and In N_{NO3} (inverse natural logarithm of the nitrate-N concentrations) in river water. This analysis provides information on the occurrence of microbial denitrification (Mariotti et al. 1988) without the need of $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ data, which were not
available for the 2014 water collection. Significant differences were analyzed using a Mann–Whitney U-test, a highly efficient nonparametric test.

Statistical analysis and graphs were carried out using the statistical software package SigmaPlot (Version 11, Systat Software, Erkrath, Germany). A simple linear fitting regression with significance level of $P \le 0.05$ was run in the program for all isotope data. Correlation analyses were run between nitrate concentration and river discharge or rainfall data.

3. Results

3.1 Hydrological characteristics

Extremely different weather conditions characterized the growing seasons in 2013 and 2014. Precipitation events differed considerable between years. While heavy rain monsoon season in 2013 was extremely wet (706.9 mm), during summer 2014 it was greatly dry and the rain events were scarce without a clear presence of a monsoon season (172 mm). The total rain in the growing season of 2014 was only 24% of the total precipitation in the year before. Two marked periods were observed during the sampling campaign in summer 2013. A dry pre-monsoon season, measured from mid-May to end of June with precipitations that ranged from 0.2 to 33.2 mm d⁻¹ and a wet monsoon season from July to August, with storm events ranging from 1.2 to 92.4 mm d⁻¹ (Table 1a). The strongest storm event was recorded on July 8th. This event lasted 20 hours and had an intensity ranging from 2 to 48.9 mm h⁻¹. The year 2014 was generally dry, without a clear monsoon season. Precipitations in this year ranged from 0.2 to 14.2 mm d⁻¹ during June and from 0.2 to 63 mm d⁻¹ in July and August (Table 1a). Although 2014 was a dry year, we assumed that the scarce rain events during July and August were part of the monsoon season. The strongest storm event in 2014 was recorded on July 25th. This event was intermittent and lasted about 9 hours throughout the day. Its biggest intensity was 21.6 mm h⁻¹. Only two rain events were moderately strong during July and August 2014 (Fig. 2b).

Table 1. Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) daily (a) input (mm d⁻¹) and (b) discharge runoff (m³ d⁻¹) data for the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. On days without rainfall the minimum of daily input was of course zero. Daily values were summed up to obtain total rain input (mm) and discharge runoff (m³) data and separated for the usually dry pre-monsoon season (May and June) and the usually rainy monsoon season (July and August).

Haean agricultural sub-catchment Hydrological characteristics		2013	2014		
		Pre-monsoon season	Monsoon season	Pre-monsoon season	Monsoon season
(a)	Max (mm d ⁻¹)	33.2	92.4	14.2	63
Rain Ave $(mm d^{-1})$		10.2±9.0	28.1±25.1	4.4±4.1	13.1±20.2
	Min (mm d ⁻¹)	0.2	1.2	0.2	0.2
	Total (mm)	144.1	562.8	41.6	131.6
(b)	Max (m ³ d ⁻¹)	7.3×10^3	11.1×10^{5}	226.06	898.44
Discharge	Ave $(m^3 d^{-1})$	$554.8 \pm 1.0 \times 10^3$	$92.3x10^3 \pm 1.7x10^5$	17.6	140.2
	Min (m ³ d ⁻¹)	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1
	Total (m ³)	37.3×10^3	49.6×10^5	1.5×10^{3}	1.2×10^{3}

The discharge during pre-monsoon season in June 2013 was similar along the stream without major changes between sampling points. It ranged from 0.4 to 7.3 $\times 10^3$ m³ d⁻¹ (Table 1b). During monsoon season the discharge along the stream was different between sampling points, mainly due to the changes in the dimensions of the riparian zone and the increase of surface runoff. The average in the discharge upstream was around 5.9 $\times 10^3$ m³ d⁻¹ and the average in discharge downstream was around 84.0 $\times 10^3$ m³ d⁻¹. Total discharge during monsoon season ranged from 0.2 to 11.1 $\times 10^5$ m³ d⁻¹ (Table 1b). In 2014 discharge was very low due to the lack of rain. In June no major changes were measured along the stream. In this month discharge ranged from 0.1 to 226.06 m³ d⁻¹ while in July and August discharge had values from 0.1 to 898.44 m³ d⁻¹ (Table 1b).



Fig. 2. Nitrogen input from nitrate deposition by rainfall (kg ha⁻¹) measured at the three sampling locations forest, dry land and rice paddies within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment and temporal distribution and intensity of rainfall events during the sampling campaigns (May to August) 2013 and 2014.

3.2 Nitrate concentrations and seasonality of nitrate fluxes

3.2.1 Rainfall

In the growing season of 2013 and 2014 nitrate concentrations in rainfall ranged between 0.6 or 0.2 and 16.9 or 13.6 mg L⁻¹ respectively. These most extreme concentrations were always found in the pre-monsoon season (Table 2). Mean nitrate concentrations in rainfall were quite similar for pre-monsoon and monsoon season and for the years 2013 and 2014 and ranged between 2.4 and 3.8 mg L⁻¹ (Table 2). However due to different rainfall, nitrogen input from nitrate in rainfall over the sampling periods from May to August was on an area basis in 2013 much higher (16.4 kg N_{NO3}- ha⁻¹) than in 2014 (2.1 kg N_{NO3}- ha⁻¹). The forest area received in both years more N_{NO3}- ha⁻¹ and higher

proportional N_{NO3} than the agricultural areas (Table 3). Figure 2 provides an overview over the temporal distribution of rainfall and N_{NO3} input per area unit. No significant correlations between rainfall and NO_3^- concentrations in precipitation were found in any of the years (p>0.050). The N_{NO3}^- input by rainfall during the monsoon season in 2013 was 9% of the total river N_{NO3}^- discharge. In 2014 the N_{NO3}^- river discharge was lower than the total N_{NO3}^- rain input (Tables 3 and 5). Related to the mineral nitrogen fertilizer application rate common in Haean (313 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) nitrogen input from nitrate rain deposition was only 5.2% in 2013 and 0.7% in 2014.

Table 2. Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) nitrate concentrations (mg L^{-1}) in rainfall in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. Nitrate concentrations are separated for the usually dry pre-monsoon season (May and June) and the usually rainy monsoon season (July and August).

Haean agricultural sub- catchment		2013	3	2014		
Nitrate concentrations		Pre-monsoon season	Monsoon season	Pre-monsoon season	Monsoon season	
	Max (mg L ⁻¹)	16.9	13.2	13.6	9.2	
Rain	Ave $(mg L^{-1})$	2.8 ± 2.5	3.8±2.1	2.4±2.5	2.8±2.2	
	Min (mg L^{-1})	0.6	1.0	0.2	0.9	

Table 3. Total nitrogen input from nitrate deposition by rainfall separated for three sampling areas, forest, dry land and rice paddies and for the campaigns in 2013 and 2014 and calculated on a hectare basis (kg N_{NO3-} ha⁻¹), on a percentage basis or on the basis of the area covered by the three respective sampling regions (kg N_{NO3-} area⁻¹) in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment.

Haean agricultural sub- catchment			2013		2014				
Sampling plot land use	ha	N_{NO3-} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3-} kg Area ⁻¹	Percentage (%)	N_{NO3} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{N03-} kg Area ⁻¹	Percentage (%)		
Forest area	13.2	6.4	85.9	39.3	1.4	18.4	63.5		
Dry land area	144.8	5.0	725.7	30.4	0.6	160.2	30.0		
Rice paddies area	42.6	4.9	212.4	30.2	0.1	37.2	6.4		
Total	200.7	16.4	1024.1	100	2.1	162	100		

3.2.2 Stream runoff

Nitrate concentrations in river discharge ranged between 0.4 mg L⁻¹ and 64.1 mg L⁻¹ in 2013 and between 1.2 and 27.6 mg L⁻¹ in 2014. Extreme nitrate concentration values of 34.5 and 64.1 mg L⁻¹ were found during the dry pre-monsoon season in 2013 at the rice paddies patch and during the monsoon season at the dry land patch respectively (Fig. 3 and Table 4). In 2013 mean nitrate concentrations in stream runoff from the forested site (S1) ranged in the order of about 10 mg L⁻¹ and thus, was about half of the mean nitrate concentrations measured in the stream runoff from the dry land (S2, S3 and S4) and rice paddy (S5 and S6) patches (Table 4). In the monsoon season of the wet year 2013 mean nitrate concentrations in stream runoff from the forest, dry land and rice paddy patches were always slightly lower than in the pre-monsoon season (Table 4). Maximum, minimum and average nitrate concentrations in stream runoff in the dry year 2014 were almost consistently lower than in 2013 and no systematic differences between pre-monsoon season and monsoon season were found (Table 4, Fig. 3). In 2014 again, the average nitrate concentrations in the stream runoff after passage of the dry land and rice paddies. No significant relationship between discharge and nitrate concentrations in river water was found in any of the years (p>0.050).



Fig.3. Temporal distribution of nitrate concentrations (mg L^{-1}) in stream runoff measured at the three sampling locations forest, dry land and rice paddies within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in 2013 and 2014. During sampling campaign 2013 values from S2, S3 and S4 within dry land were considered for this graph, while during sampling campaign 2014 only the values from S2 and S4 were considered due to the lack of differences between S2 and S3 in the year before.

Table 4. Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) nitrate concentrations (mg L^{-1}) in stream runoff measured at the three sampling areas forest, dry land and rice paddies within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the pre-monsoon (May and June) and monsoon season (July and August) of the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. Dry land data was calculated from three sampling points (S2, S3 and S4) in 2013 and from two sampling points (S2 and S4) in 2014.

Nitrate	Nitrate concentrations Pre-monsoon season 2013		Monsoon season 2013		Pre-monsoon season 2014			Monsoon season 2014					
Sam	pling point	Forest (S1)	Dry land (S2,S3 and S4)	Rice paddies (S5 and S6)	Forest (S1)	Dry land (S2,S3 and S4)	Rice paddies (S5 and S6)	Forest (S1)	Dry land (S2 and S4)	Rice paddies (S5 and S6)	Forest (S1)	Dry land (S2 and S4	Rice paddies (S5 and S6)
	Max (mg L ⁻¹)	23.8	26.4	34.5	18.1	64.1	30.6	22.8	23.1	26.6	11.3	19.7	27.6
Stream	Ave $(mg L^{-1})$	12.2±5.6	20.9±3.4	22.5±7.6	9.5±2.4	17.1±6.8	20.6±5.8	7.7±5.6	9.6±6.8	12.0±7.9	4.0 ± 2.8	12.3±3.1	15.2±6.1
	Min (mg L ⁻¹)	7.7	15.0	10.3	5.0	0.4	13.9	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2

Total N_{NO3} river discharge fluxes measured at four sampling locations are represented in Fig. 4 in a multiple line and scatter flux diagram over time and in Table 5 calculated as cumulative values. Rather striking is the difference in total NNO3- river discharge between the sampling periods in 2013 and 2014. While total NNO3- river discharge in the growing season of 2013 was 10.3 x 10³ kg for the entire sub-catchment area, it was 43.4 kg for the entire sub-catchment area in 2014, which represents just 0.4% of the total N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge in 2013. This huge difference was mainly driven by the pronounced N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge fluxes during the heavy monsoon season in 2013 (Fig. 4). The N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge increased with the frequency of rainfall during the monsoon season in 2013. This period contributed 90% to the total N_{NO3}^{-1} discharge during the whole sampling campaign in 2013. The N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge in the pre-monsoon season and the weak monsoon season in 2014 showed no such difference. Dry land field patches contributed more than 60% to the entire total N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge in the growing season of 2013, while the rice paddy patch contributed about 25% and the forest patch only 13% (Table 5). In 2014 the proportional contribution to the total N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge was highest for the rice paddy patches.



Fig. 4. Temporal distribution of total N_{NO3} . fluxes (kg ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) in stream runoff measured at three sampling locations forest, dry land and rice paddies within the investigated Haean agricultural subcatchment during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in 2013 and 2014. One single value for rice paddies is given in this graph because the areas of S5 and S6 were measured together within a total rice paddies area. The value of N_{NO3} . fluxes (kg ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) is calculated with the mean nitrate concentration values between S5 and S6 in both years.

Table 5. Total nitrogen discharge runoff separated for three sampling areas, forest, dry land and rice paddies and for the campaign in 2013 and 2014 and calculated on a hectare basis (kg N_{NO3-} ha⁻¹) on a percentage basis or on the basis of the area covered by the three respective sampling regions (kg N_{NO3-} area⁻¹) in the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment. One single value for rice paddies is given in this graph because the areas of S5 and S6 were measured together within a total rice paddies area. The value of N_{NO3-} fluxes (kg ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) is calculated with the mean nitrate concentration values between S5 and S6 in both years.

Haean agricultural s	sub-							
catchment			2013		2014			
		,	7	Percentage	1	1	Percentage	
Sampling plot land use	ha	N _{NO3-} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3-} kg area ⁻¹	(%)	N _{NO3-} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3-} kg area ⁻¹	(%)	
Forest	13.2	23.5	312.6	13.0	0.08	1.05	9.0	
Dry land S2	61.3	56.2	3.4×10^3	31.1	0.19	11.4	21.2	
Dry land S4	83.5	56.0	4.7×10^3	31.0	0.12	9.9	13.5	
Rice paddies	42.6	44.7	1.9×10^{3}	24.7	0.49	21.0	56.1	
Total	200.72		$10.3 \mathrm{x} 10^{3}$	100		43.49	100	

3.2.3 Groundwater

Nitrate concentration in groundwater ranged between 0.2 and 67.0 mg L⁻¹. Extreme values of 67 and 65.7 mg L⁻¹ were recorded at the rice paddies in the beginning of the pre-monsoon season and the end of the monsoon season (Fig. 5 and Table 6). A pronounced difference between nitrate concentration in groundwater at the dry land field and rice paddy patches was found (Fig. 5). In dry land field groundwater nitrate concentrations ranged from 0.2 to 39.4 mg L⁻¹ while groundwater nitrate concentrations between dry pre-monsoon season and monsoon season were not found in any of the sites. We found significant differences (p<0.001) between the wells sampled within the dry land (Fig 5 well 1 and well 2). Significant differences in nitrate concentrations specifically in the rice paddy patches and rice paddy patches in some parts of the dry land area suggested an impact of nitrogen fertilizer application on groundwater quality.



Fig. 5. Temporal distribution of nitrate concentrations (mg L^{-1}) in groundwater measured at two sampling locations dry land (two wells) and rice paddies (three wells) within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in 2013.

Haean agric catch	cultural sub- ment	2013							
Nitrate concentrations		Pre-mons	oon season	Monsoon season					
Sampling point		Dry land (S4)	Rice paddies (S6)	Dry land (S4)	Rice paddies (S6)	All wells			
Groundwater	Max (mg. L^{-1}) Ave (mg. L^{-1})	39.4 13 5+8 3	67.0 39 3+7 5	20.0 10 6+5	65.7 38 1+9 5	67.0 28 0+15 3			
Givunuwatei	Min $(mg.L^{-1})$	0.2	22.1	0.3	18.0	0.3			

Table 6. Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) nitrate concentrations (mg L-1) in groundwater measured at two sampling locations dry land (two wells) and rice paddies (three wells) within the investigated Haean agricultural sub-catchment during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in 2013.

3.3 Stable isotope abundances in nitrate and fertilizers.

Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values in atmospheric input (rain), stream water and groundwater and δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values in mineral and organic fertilizers are summarized in the Table 7. Mineral fertilizers applied in the study area have nitrate δ^{15} N values ranging between 0.6 $^{0}/_{00}$ and 2.7 $^{0}/_{00}$. Nitrate δ^{18} O values in mineral fertilizers were ranging between 20.4 and 40.5 $^{0}/_{00}$. In comparison to mineral fertilizers, organic fertilizers were found to be enriched in 15 N with δ^{15} N between 3.4 and 9.6 $^{0}/_{00}$ and depleted in 18 O with δ^{18} between 3.5 and 15.1 ‰. Based on literature data the nitrate input by rainfall in Haean rages in δ^{15} N between -2.00 and 14.00 ‰ and is heavily enriched in 18 O with δ^{18} O values between 25 and 75 ‰ (Table 7).

The δ^{15} N of nitrate in stream water ranged between -1.3 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ and 9.9 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ while its δ^{18} O was between -7.8 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ and 11.2 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ (Table 7). With mean values of 5.2 ± 2.5 ‰ for δ^{15} N and 0.7 ± 3.8 ‰ for δ^{18} O nitrate in stream water was significantly (p<0.001) more enriched in 15 N and significantly (p<0.001) more depleted in 18 O than nitrate in mineral fertilizers (δ^{15} N = 1.0 ± 1 ‰; δ^{18} O = 26.9 ± 6.8 ‰) and much more depleted in 18 O than nitrate in rainfall. With δ^{15} N values ranging from 4.7 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ to 18.9 ${}^{0}/_{00}$ and a mean value of 11.6 ± 4.3 ‰ nitrate in groundwater was even more enriched in 15 N than nitrate in stream water. Simultaneously, nitrate in groundwater was more enriched in 18 O (range between 0.2 and 32.0 ‰; mean δ^{18} O = 13.1 ± 8.1 ‰) than nitrate in stream water.

Table 7. Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values in atmospheric input (rain), stream water and groundwater in the Haean agricultural sub-catchment and δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values in mineral and organic fertilizers as used by farmers in the Haean catchment. Stream and groundwater isotopic composition where measured during pre-monsoon and monsoon season in 2013.

Haean agricultural sub-catchment								
Isotopic composition		ð ¹⁵ N		ð ¹⁸ O				
	Max (⁰ / ₀₀)	Ave ⁽⁰ / ₀₀)	Min (⁰ / ₀₀)	Max (⁰ / ₀₀)	Ave ⁽⁰ / ₀₀)	Min (⁰ / ₀₀)		
Mineral fertilizers	2.7	1.0± 1.0	0.6	40.5	26.9 ± 6.8	20.4		
Organic fertilizers	9.6	6.0 ± 3.4	3.4	15.1	7.3 ± 3.9	3.5		
Rain ^a	14.0		-2.0	75		25		
Stream water	9.9	5.2 ± 2.5	-1.3	11.4	0.7±3.8	-7.8		
Groundwater	18.9	11.6± 4.3	4.7	32.0	13.1 ± 8.1	0.2		

Rain^a Atmospheric deposition (Lee et al., 2007)

4. Discussion

4.1 Hydrological situation in the Haean sub-catchment in the seasons 2013 and 2014

Precipitation in the monsoon season differed extremely in the two years of this investigation. In 2013 the monsoon season was characterized by rainfall amounts above the eleven-years average, (Kim et al. 2007), while in 2014 a monsoon season almost completely failed leading to rainfall amounts clearly below the eleven-years average, (Kim et al. 2007). Monsoon predictions are still challenging, however, they are of essential importance for an economy as in South Korea to ensure solid water management, water resources and water quality. Trends in precipitation rainfall, intensity and drought periods between monsoon seasons have already been assessed in several studies. All of them found a relationship between global increase in temperature and increasing extremes in monsoon precipitation. This relationship appears to be still rather complex and generates some controversy especially because of its considerable variation (Choi, 2008).

Ashfaq et al. (2009) and Cruz et al. (2012) suggested a suppression of summer precipitation, a delay in monsoon onset, an increase in the occurrence of monsoon break periods, as well as variations of total rain distribution in the east Asian summer monsoon, due to the small scale regional circulations which are more vulnerable to climate change (Rajeevan et al. 2008).

Nonetheless Wang et al., (2006) found that regardless of the large amplitude of year-to-year variations, the total summer monsoon rainfall has increased by approximately 7% per century.

Such variations in the presence of summer monsoon rainfalls can cause unpredictable hazards in terms of water quality and changes in biogeochemical and hydrological drivers of nitrate leaching as shown in this investigation. Water resource managers should consider changes in the frequency, timing, and magnitude of potential flooding or droughts, if the observed trends were to continue in the future (Chang and Kwon, 2007).

Discharge in the Haean agricultural sub-catchment was automatically related with the amount and intensity of monsoon rainfalls in both years. During the pre-monsoon season in both years of investigation no major changes along the stream were registered. Discharge within the monsoon season of 2013, however, increased in parallel with individual monsoon storm events not only due to the amount of rain, but also because of the increase in the surface runoff and river-aquifer exchange.

Our results show that spatial and temporal factors contributed to the high variability of discharge. Bartsch et al. (2013) explained this high discharge variability by river-aquifer exchange fluxes causing frequently riverbed flow reversals and suggested that the dynamics of exchange between rivers and groundwater may strongly influence the quality of water resources.

4.2 Seasonality of nitrate concentrations and fluxes in precipitation input and stream runoff in the seasons 2013 and 2014.

Nitrate concentrations in rainfall had an average of 3.1 mg L^{-1} in our study with no major variation between year of investigation and pre-monsoon and monsoon season. Our nitrate concentration data in rainfall are in agreement with other investigations in Asia. Hong et al., (2002) found that rainfall nitrate concentration in South Korea decreased in summer and had an average of 4.8 to 6.1 mg L⁻¹ (between 1996 and 2000). For Asia in general rain nitrate deposition data between 0.2 and 4.7 mg L⁻¹ with local and regional trends towards decreasing nitrate concentrations in the last 5 to 10 years were reported (Vet et al. 2013). Nitrate concentrations in rain in Korea are slightly higher than in Japan (Kaneyasu 1995; Wakamatsu et al. 1996; Shimohara et al. 2001), but significant lower than in China (Sun et al. 1998; Lee et al. 2000).

Our results show that total N_{NO3-} fluxes with precipitation are related with the amount of rain in both years of investigation. Nitrogen from nitrate input with rainfall during the sampling period in 2014 was 13.3% (2.1 N_{NO3-} kg ha⁻¹) of the input during the same period in the year before

 $(16.4 N_{NO3} kg ha^{-1})$ due to the difference in precipitation during the monsoon season. In general, the N_{NO3} of wet atmospheric deposition occurring in August in Asia is much related to precipitation (Yu et al. 2014).

Vet et al. (2013) showed a nitrate atmospheric deposition average value of 9.9 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in Asia. This value is in between our findings just for the sampling periods May to August in the Haean catchment in 2013 and 2014. However, when considering that rainfall during the monsoon season represents 50 - 90 % of the total annual precipitation (Kim et al. 2007) our data for N_{NO3}. input with precipitation in the Haean catchment are in agreement with the nitrate atmospheric deposition data across Asia.

In South Korea fertilizer is considered as the largest source of nitrate generation. The total national nitrogen discharged into water runoff from fertilizer is 467,778 t yr⁻¹ (Kim et al. 2006). The rate of fertilizer application in the country is 5 -10 times higher than OECD average and the export rate of nitrogen from agricultural fields is much higher in South Korea than other countries (Kim 2006).

Nitrate nitrogen input with precipitation in the Haean catchment turned out to be low in comparison to the annual nitrogen fertilizer applications in the agricultural parts of the catchment. For the agricultural sub-catchment the average mineral nitrogen fertilizer application is estimated to be 313 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Kim et al. 2008). In addition to this mineral fertilizer application organic fertilizer applications with an additional nitrogen input between 110 (Maharjan 2015) and 134 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Yanggu Office 2014) are common practice. Based on this mineral fertilizer application and not considering the additional organic nitrogen fertilizer the nitrate nitrogen input by precipitation contributed not more than 5.2% in 2013 and 0.7% in 2014 to the entire mineral nitrogen input in the investigated Haean sub-catchment. Thus, based already on this comparison, nitrate input by precipitation is unlikely to be a major contributor to the nitrate output by stream runoff in the Haean sub-catchment.

Average nitrate concentrations in stream runoff within the investigated Haean sub-catchment increased consistently from the uppermost forest part through the agricultural dryland to the rice paddies part and reached at the lowermost sampling point values of slightly below or above 20 mg L⁻¹. This concentration increase suggests a preferential contribution of the agricultural parts in the catchment to the nitrate runoff. Single measurements of nitrate concentrations in stream runoff varied in wide ranges from 0.4 to 64.1 mg L⁻¹. The legal limit for nitrate in drinking water in South Korea of 10 mg N_{NO3}. L⁻¹ = 44 mg NO₃⁻ L⁻¹ (Ward et al. 2005; World Health

Organization 2011; Cheong et al. 2012) was exceeded in the stream runoff only in a few cases. Nonetheless, mean concentrations of about 20 mg L^{-1} in the stream runoff indicate already a high potential for huge amounts of total nitrate output from the Haean sub-catchment.

Calculation of total N_{NO3}^{-} amounts in the stream discharge confirm this expectation. With increasing frequency of rain events during the monsoon period in 2013 the total N_{NO3}^{-} amount in the stream discharge increased dramatically. It contributed 90% to the total discharge from the whole sampling campaign. Due to missing pronounced monsoon rainfalls in 2014, the proportional contribution of N_{NO3}^{-} in the stream discharge was not different from the N_{NO3}^{-} stream discharge during its corresponding dry pre-monsoon season. Thus, monsoon rains and their intensity are the main drivers for heavy N_{NO3}^{-} losses by runoff from the Haean catchment.

Kettering et al. (2012) also found that nitrate export was higher during monsoon season and lower export of nitrate was observed during the beginning and end of the growing period in Haean.

The forest part of the investigated sub-catchment contributed only to a minor part to the total N_{NO3} discharge. This finding is in agreement with observations by Shim and Kim (2005).

Total N_{NO3} river discharge from dryland fields was higher than from rice paddies in 2013. On the other hand, in 2014 N_{NO3} river discharge had no significant differences between both types of fields suggesting once more that nitrogen fluxes are closely related with heavy monsoon rain events.

4.3 Groundwater nitrate

Natural groundwater sources not affected by anthropogenic activities usually have nitrate concentrations that not exceed 3 mg L⁻¹ (Burkart and Kolpin 1993). In the Haean agricultural sub-catchment nitrate concentration in groundwater ranged between 0.3 to 67.0 mg L⁻¹. As shown by a lot of previous studies (e.g. Böhlke, 2002; Choi et al., 2011; Kraft and Stites, 2003; Martin et al., 2004; McLay et al., 2001; Min et al., 2003; Oren et al., 2004; Thorburn et al., 2003), the higher end of this range is caused by agricultural activities and mostly by the use of inorganic fertilizers in crop production. Our results showed no differences in groundwater nitrate concentrations between pre-monsoon and monsoon season suggesting no dilution in concentrations during heavy precipitation. But there was a significate difference between dry land and rice paddies groundwater nitrate concentrations. In the dry land patch nitrate concentrations ranged from 0.3 to 39.4 mg L⁻¹ while rice paddies groundwater was characterized

by much elevated nitrate concentrations that ranged from 18.0 to 67 mg L⁻¹. A considerable number of groundwater samples, exclusively from the rice paddy wells, exceeded the legal limit for nitrate in drinking water in South Korea of 10 mg N_{NO3}. L⁻¹ = 44 mg NO₃⁻ L⁻¹ (Ward et al. 2005; World Health Organization 2011; Cheong et al. 2012). This suggest that mineral fertilizer application in the study area generates an impact on the biogeochemical processes behind the nitrate groundwater contamination (McLay et al. 2001; Kaown et al. 2009).

The difference in nitrate concentration is also an indicator for the influence of distinct land uses on the water quality in aquifers. The middle upstream part of this altitudinal gradient in the study area was influenced by many dry land fields with top sandy layers and deeper clay layers with poor leaching capacities and therefore it is feasible that nitrate percolation from these agricultural fields to groundwater is somehow reduced or slow. It is also possible that denitrification consumes a considerable amount of nitrate in dry land fields as well as in rice paddies but in a different rate (see below).

4.4 Identifying the origin and fate of nitrate in the Haean sub-catchment based on stable isotope abundances

In principle, the nitrate detected in the stream runoff and in the groundwater in the investigated Haean sub-catchment can have four different origins: (1) Atmospheric nitrate deposition, (2) direct nitrate leaching from the mineral fertilizers applied to the dryland and rice paddy fields, (3) microbial mineralization and subsequent nitrification of soil organic compounds and/or nitrification of ammonium in mineral fertilizers and (4) nitrate of either of the above origins that underwent partially microbial denitrification under anaerobic/sub-aerobic conditions. In the following we use our stable isotope abundance data to sort out the relevance of any of these four potential nitrate sources.

(1) Atmospheric nitrate deposition: Due to involvement of ozone in atmospheric nitrate formation nitrate from deposition in general is characterized by unique enrichments in ¹⁸O (Durka et al. 1994; Kendall et al. 1995, 1996; Kendall and McDonnell 1998). In agreement with this general observation, Lee et al. (2008) reported δ¹⁸O values between 25 and 75 ‰ for atmospheric nitrate deposition in the northern part of South Koreas. These δ¹⁸O_{NO3} values are considerably higher than those found in our investigation for nitrate in the stream runoff in the Haean agricultural sub-catchment (Fig. 6). Thus, despite of overlaps in the δ¹⁵N_{NO3}- in stream runoff and atmospheric nitrate deposition we conclude that nitrate directly originating from atmospheric deposition contributed to a

rather minor proportion, if any, to the nitrate found in stream runoff. This conclusion is in agreement with the finding of a rather minor contribution of nitrate nitrogen input with precipitation in the Haean catchment in comparison to the annual nitrogen fertilizer applications in the agricultural parts of the catchment (see above).



Fig. 6. Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O isotopic composition from different sources: mineral fertilizers, organic fertilizers, atmospheric nitrate deposition (rain) that may influence nitrate discharge runoff in Haean agricultural sub-catchment. Stream and groundwater isotopic composition where measured during pre-monsoon and monsoon season in 2013. Calculated theoretical microbial nitrification and denitrification for the site is represented by the striped box and broken line respectively.

(2) Direct nitrate leaching from mineral fertilizers: In Haean, specifically in the cropland area, farmers often add sandy soil and high amounts of mineral and organic fertilizers on the top of the fields due to the high soil erosion rates during monsoon season (Berger 2012; Kettering et al. 2013). This activity occurs almost every year in the beginning of the growing season between May and June. Therefore, high rates of mineral fertilizers might be expected in the discharge runoff during the monsoon season, which occurs within a few weeks after the mentioned soil treatments (Kettering et al. 2012; Bartsch 2013).

Mineral fertilizers applied in the study area have $\delta^{15}N_{NO3-}$ (mean: $1.0 \pm 1.0 \%$) and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3-}$ (mean: $26.9 \pm 6.8 \%$) values in the typical range known in general for synthetic fertilizers of (Kendall 1998). Nitrate in mineral fertilizers originates from atmospheric nitrogen ($\delta^{15}N = 0 \%$) and oxygen ($\delta^{18}O = \sim 23.5 \%$) (Amberger and Schmidt 1987) $\delta^{18}O$ and $\delta^{15}N$ values as found for nitrate in the stream runoff in the investigated Haean subcatchment were consistently less enriched in ¹⁸O and in most cases more enriched in ¹⁵N

than in the mineral fertilizers (Fig. 6). Thus, nitrate leached directly from mineral fertilizers into the stream runoff is obviously also only a minor contributor to the nitrate discharge.

- (3) Microbial mineralization and subsequent nitrification of soil organic compounds and/or nitrification of ammonium in mineral fertilizers: In aim to compare isotopic composition of nitrate as found in the stream runoff with nitrate originating from soil microbial nitrification, we calculated ranges that should theoretically be expected for nitrate from soil microbial nitrification (shaded bar in Fig. 6). The theoretically expected isotopic composition of nitrate from nitrification is based on $\delta^{15}N_{NO3-}$ values reported from the literature (Hübner 1986; Amberger and Schmidt 1987; Kendall and McDonnell 1998) and ranging between ~-6 and +6 $^{0}/_{00}$ and on $\delta^{18}O$ values that are based on the physiology of microbial nitrification and local conditions (Durka et al., 1994; Ohte et al., 2004; Wassenaar, 1995; Kendall, 1998). One of the three oxygen atoms in the nitrate molecule originates from atmospheric O₂ (δ^{18} O ~+23.5 ‰). The other two oxygen atoms originate from soil water. The isotopic composition of soil water is mostly driven by the isotopic composition of local precipitation, which ranges in δ^{18} O in the Haean catchment during the summer season between -13.5 and -5.5 ‰. Based on these facts we can expect for nitrate from microbial nitrification $\delta^{18}O$ values between \sim -1.3 and + 4.9 $^0/_{00}$. The majority of nitrate isotope abundances found in the stream runoff fall into the range or is close to the range expected for nitrate from soil microbial nitrification (Fig. 6). Thus, we conclude that a major part of the nitrate in the stream runoff does not originate from direct fertilizer leaching, but underwent microbial nitrification before leaching. A wide range of precursors can contribute to the nitrate that underwent microbial nitrification before appearance in the stream runoff: mineralized and nitrified soil organic matter that ultimately originates from decomposed plant material, mineralized and nitrified organic fertilizers or nitrified ammonium from mineral fertilizers. Nonetheless, some of the stream runoff samples and all groundwater samples do not fall into the range of δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values as to be expected for nitrate from microbial nitrification (Fig. 6). These samples are more enriched in ¹⁵N and simultaneously in ¹⁸O and thus, can neither be explained by nitrate from atmospheric deposition or mineral fertilizers nor by soil microbial nitrification.
- 4) Nitrate of the origins (1) to (3) that underwent partially microbial denitrification under anaerobic/sub-aerobic conditions: In microbial denitrification nitrate is reduced under

anaerobic/sub-aerobic conditions and consumption of easily accessible organic carbon compounds via NO to N₂O or ultimately to N₂. Denitrification is associated by a high isotope fractionation, i.e. denitrification products are depleted in ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O and the remaining nitrate that not yet underwent denitrification becomes automatically enriched in ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O following the principles of Rayleigh distillation (Mariotti et al. 1988; Kendall 1998; Min et al. 2003). This systematic shift in the isotopic composition of the remaining nitrate happens in a relationship $2_{(\delta^{15}N)} : 1_{(\delta^{16}N)}$ (Amberger and Schmidt 1987; Böttcher et al. 1990; Kendall 1998). The direction of this isotopic shift is indicated by the hatched line in Fig. 6. Our isotope abundance data show that specifically nitrate in groundwater was under the influence of denitrification. The $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ values of nitrate in groundwater ranged between ± 4.7 and $\pm 18.9^{-0}/_{00}$ or 0.2 and 32.0 $^{0}/_{00}$ respectively, with nitrate in the groundwater from the dry land wells covering the more positive and nitrate in the groundwater from the rice paddy wells covering the less positive end (Fig. 6). Thus, nitrate in the groundwater of the dry land area is apparently more under the influence of denitrification than nitrate in the groundwater of the rice paddy area. Kim et al. (2015) provided already evidence for a strong influence of denitrification on the groundwater nitrate in the Haean agricultural catchment.

Previous investigations in the Haean catchment have also already shown that specifically in the monsoon season groundwater contributes to the aquifer, hence to the river discharge. Bartsch et al. (2014) found that monsoonal precipitation events affect the dynamic of the river- aquifer with exchange fluxes between groundwater and the riverbed water. During pre-monsoon season and also after monsoon season the rivers in the study area were in a stage of "losing stream", where water enriched in DOC is pushed into the nitrate rich groundwater. These dynamics probably create perfect conditions for microbial denitrification within the groundwater. During monsoon season rivers that were in a "losing stream" pass to a "gaining stream" stage where nitrate-rich groundwater likely influenced by denitrification, contributed to river water.

Our results of nitrate isotope abundance in the river discharge show for some samples ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O values that are above the range to be expected for nitrate originating exclusively from microbial nitrification (Fig. 6). This ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O can be explained by the river-aquifer exchange where ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O enriched nitrate from groundwater is mixed with isotopically less enriched nitrate from the stream water. Interestingly, ¹⁸O enriched nitrate tended to appear more frequent in the steam runoff with onset of the monsoon season in 2013 (Fig. 7). This trend towards higher

 $\delta^{18}O_{NO3-}$ in the river water during the season was confirm statistically (P<0.800) exclusively for the last values corresponding to the onset of the monsoon.



Fig. 7. Nitrate ð18O values from stream samples during pre-monsoon and monsoon season 2013 compared with the total rainfall per day and precipitation events in the investigated Haean agricultural sub -catchment. All the sampling points are included in this graph.

Based on the indications of a nitrate flow from groundwater to river water exclusively during the extremely wet monsoon season in 2013 we assumed a missing groundwater-to-river-water nitrate flow for the dry monsoon season in 2014. In order to test this assumption and due to the fact of lacking nitrate δ^{18} O data for 2014 we used a different approach proposed by Mariotti (1981, 1988) and Kendall (1998) to identify denitrification-affected nitrate in the river water samples collected in 2013 and 2014. This approach is based on a test for significance of correlations between nitrate δ^{15} N and the inverse natural logarithm of nitrate concentrations in the river runoff. A significant correlation between nitrate δ^{15} N and the inverse of nitrate concentrations indicates that dilution is not responsible for the observation of low nitrate concentrations, but rather suggests that river runoff nitrate was at least partially affected by denitrification and accompanying ¹⁵N enrichment.

As shown in Fig. 8 we found a weak (r = 0.326), but nonetheless significant (P<0.050) correlation between nitrate δ^{15} N and the inverse natural logarithm of nitrate concentrations in the river water for 2013, but not for 2014 (r = 0.196, P>0.050). Thus, these data corroborate our

assumption of a groundwater-to-river-water nitrate exchange only under conditions of heavy monsoon rainfall.



Fig. 8. Correlation between δ^{15} N _{NO3}⁻ and inverse nitrate concentration in discharge runoff in the investigated Haean agricultural sub- catchment during the growing season 2013 and 2014.

5. Conclusions

Heavy rainfalls in the monsoon season of 2013 turned out as drivers of huge nitrate leaching in the river runoff of the agricultural Haean sub-catchment investigated here. In contrary, an almost completely missing monsoon season in 2014 reduced the nitrate leaching in the river runoff by several orders of magnitude. Thus, increased monsoon precipitation as predicted by global climate change scenarios for Southeast Asia in the future may even increase nitrate leaching from the Haean agricultural sub-catchment and seriously affect the quality of the Soyang lake drinking water reservoir. In order to avoid an increase of nitrate leaching from the Haean agricultural sub-catchment is reduced nitrate leaching a considerable reduction of nitrogen fertilizer application by local farmers is required. A specifically critical role in this framework is played by the dry land farming in the lower slopes of the Haean catchment. Regional decision makers are fully aware of this problem and initiated a change of agricultural practices. A switch from annual crop growing towards less fertilizer demanding and soil erosion

preventing perennial crops, like ginseng, vinyards and orchards, is currently on the way (MAFRA 2013, 2014; Yanggu Office 2014).

Based on our isotope abundance analyses neither atmospheric nitrate deposition nor direct nitrate fertilizer leaching contributed significantly to the nitrate found in the river runoff. The majority of the leached nitrate rather originated from microbial nitrification. This finding indicates by no means that the applied nitrogen fertilizers were not the precursors of the leached nitrate. Probably all nitrogen fertilizers (mineral fertilizers and organic fertilizers) plus soil organic matter and residues of the crop plants served as substrates for microbial nitrification leading to the nitrate ultimately leached to the river runoff. Nitrate from the groundwater specifically from the dry land area and previously affected by microbial denitrification contributed considerably in periods of heavy monsoon rainfall to the nitrate in the river runoff.

6. Acknowledgements

This study was carried out as part of the International Research Training Group TERRECO – Complex TERRain and ECOlogical Heterogeneity (GRK 1565/1) funded by the DFG – Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft at the University of Bayreuth, Germany. We thank also to SENESCYT (National Secretary for Higher Education Science and Technology) from the Ecuadorian government and its scholarship program "Convocatoria Abierta 2015 - I Fase", that financed the data analysis period of S.P. for this research.

We appreciate the enormous support from the staff in the Department of Hydrology and the Laboratory of Isotopes Biogeochemistry at the University of Bayreuth in the sample analysis. We are especially thankful to Jutta Eckert, Christine Tiroch and Petra Eckert. We would like to thank also to Mi-Hee Lee for the support in the field and her help with the communication with farmers during the sampling campaign 2013, as well as Andreas Kolb, Department of Soils Physics University of Bayreuth, for his help with the equipment preparation before each field campaign.

7. References

Ackers, P., White, W., Perkins, J., Harrison, A., 1978. Weirs and Flumes for flow measurement, First. ed. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, USA.

Amberger, A., Schmidt, H.L., 1987. Natürliche Isotopengehalte von Nitrat als Indikatoren für dessen Herkunft. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 51, 2699–2705.

Andersson, K.K., Hooper, A.B., 1983. O2 and H2O are each the source of one O in NO2-produced from NH3 by Nitrosomonas: 15N-NMR evidence. FEBS Lett. 164, 236–240.

Aravena, R., Robertson, W.D., 1998. Use of multiple Isotope tracers to evaluate denitrification in grounwater: Study of nitrate from a large-flux septic system plume. Ground Water 36, 975–982.

Arnhold, S., Lindner, S., Lee, B., Martin, E., Kettering, J., Nguyen, T.T., Koellner, T., Ok, Y.S., Huwe, B., 2014. Conventional and organic farming: Soil erosion and conservation potential for row crop cultivation. Geoderma 219–220, 89–105.

Arnhold, S., Ruidisch, M., Bartsch, S., Shope, C.L., Huwe, B., 2013. Simulation of runoff patterns and soil erosion on mountainous farmland with and without plastic-covered ridge-furrow cultivation in South Korea. Trans. ASABE 56, 667–679.

Ashfaq, M., Shi, Y., Tung, W., Trapp, R.J., Gao, X., Pal, J.S., Diffenbaugh, N.S., 2009. Suppression of South Asian summer monsoon precipitation in the 21st century. Geophys. Res. Lett. 36, 1–5.

Bartsch, S., 2013. Monsoonal affected dynamics of nitrate and dissolved organic carbon in a mountainous catchment under intensive land-use. Dissertation. University of Bayreuth.

Bartsch, S., Frei, S., Ruidisch, M., Shope, C.L., Peiffer, S., Kim, B., Fleckenstein, J.H., 2014. River-aquifer exchange fluxes under monsoonal climate conditions. J. Hydrol. 509, 601–614.

Berger, S., 2012. Comparisons of N2O and CH4 fluxes as affected by land use systems and climate in small catchments in Korea. Dissertation. University of Bayreuth.

Böhlke, J.K., 2002. Groundwater recharge and agricultural contamination. Hydrogeol. J. 10, 153–179.

Böttcher, J., Strebel, O., Voerkelius, S., Schmidt, H., 1990. Using Isotope fractionation of nitrate-nitrogen and nitrate-oxygen for evaluation of microbial denitrification in a sandy aquifer. J. Hydrol. 114, 413–424.

Bowen, G.J., 2008. The Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator [WWW Document]. Water Isot. URL http://www.waterisotopes.org/2013

Bowen, G.J., Wassenaar, L.I., Hobson, K.A., 2005. Global application of stable hydrogen and oxygen isotopes to wildlife forensics. Oecologia 337–348.

Bräuer, K., Strauch, G., 2000. An alternative procedure for the 18O measurement of nitrate oxygen. Chem. Geol. 168, 283–290.

Burkart, M.R., Kolpin, D.W., 1993. Hydrologic and Land-Use Factors Associated with Herbicides and Nitrate in Near-Surface Aquifers. Environ. Qual. 22, 646–656. doi:10.2134/jeq1993.00472425002200040002x

Camargo, J.A., Alonso, A., 2007. Contaminación por nitrógeno inorgánico en los ecosistemas acuáticos: problemas medioambientales, criterios de calidad del agua, e implicaciones del cambio climático. Rev. Ecosistemas 16, 98–110.

Chang, H., Kwon, W., 2007. Spatial variations of summer precipitation trends in South Korea , 1973 – 2005. Environ. Res. Lett. 2, 1–9.

Chanson, H., Wang, H., 2013. V-Notch Weir Overflow: an Unsteady Calibration, in: Bung, D.B., Pagliara, S. (Eds.), Bundesanstalt Für Wasserbau. Aachen, Germany, pp. 161–168.

Chanson, H., Wang, H., 2012. Unsteady discharge calibration of Large V-Noch weir, First. ed. The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia.

Cheong, J.Y., Hamm, S.Y., Lee, J.H., Lee, K.S., Woo, N.C., 2012. Groundwater nitrate contamination and risk assessment in an agricultural area, South Korea. Environ. Earth Sci. 66, 1127–1136.

Choi, B.Y., Yun, S.T., Mayer, B., Kim, K.H., 2011. Sources and biogeochemical behavior of nitrate and sulfate in an alluvial aquifer: Hydrochemical and stable isotope approaches. Appl. Geochemistry 26, 1249–1260.

Cruz, F.T., Narisma, G.T., Villafuerte, M.Q., Cheng Chua, K.U., Olaguera, L.M., 2012. A climatological analysis of the southwest monsoon rainfall in the Philippines. Atmos. Res. 122, 609–616.

Deutsch, B., 2006. Identification an quantification of diffuse nitrogen inputs by means of stable nitrogen and oxygen isotopes in nitrate: investigations in the Warnow River system. Dissertation. University of Rostock.

Durka, W., Schulze, E.-D., Gebauer, G., Voerkelius, S., 1994. Effects of forest decline on uptake and leaching of deposite nitrate determined from 15N and 18O measurementes. Nature 372, 764–767.

Einsiedl, F., Mayer, B., 2006. Hydrodynamic and microbial processes controlling nitrate in a fissured-porous karst aquifer of the Franconian Alb, Southern Germany 40, 6697–6702.

El-Ansary, M.Y., Awad, M.A., Nassar, A.A., Farag, A.A., 2010. Calibration of three common flow measurement devices for open channels. Misr J. Agric. Eng. 27, 151–169.

Gebauer, G., Melzer, A., Rehder, H., 1984. Nitrate content and nitrate reductase activity in Rumex obtusifolius L. Oecologia 63, 136–142.

Gebauer, G., Preiss, K., Gebauer, A.C., 2016. Partial mycoheterotrophy is more widespread among orchids than previously assumed. New Phytol. 211, 11–15.

Gebauer, G., Schulze, E.D., 1991. Carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios in different compartments of a healthy and dec- lining Picea abies forest in the Fichtel Gebirge, N.E. Bavaria. Oecologia 87, 198–207.

Gormly, J.R., Spalding, R.F., 1979. Sources and Concentrations of Nitrate-Nitrogen in Ground Water of the Central Platte Region, Nebraska. Groundwater.

Herschy, R.W., 1985. The velocity-area method, in: Streamflow Measurement. Elsevier Applied Science, London and New York, London.

Hong, Y.M., Lee, B.K., Park, K.J., Kang, M.H., Jung, Y.R., Lee, D.S., Kim, M.G., 2002. Atmospheric nitrogen and sulfur containing compounds for three sites of South Korea. Atmos. Environ. 36, 3485–3494.

Huber, B., Bernasconi, S.M., Luster, J., Pannatier, E.G., 2011. A new isolation procedure of nitrate from freshwater for nitrogen and oxygen isotope analysis. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 25, 3056–3062.

Hübner, H., 1986. Isotope effects on nitrogen in the soil and biosphere, in: Fritz, P., Fontes, J.C. (Eds.), Handbook of Environmental Isotope GEochemistry. Elsevier, pp. 361–425.

Kaneyasu, N., 1995. Seasonal variation in the chemical composition of atmospheric aerosols and gaseous species in Sapporo, Japan. Atmos. Environ. 29, 1559–1568.

Kaown, D., Koh, D.C., Mayer, B., Lee, K.K., 2009. Identification of nitrate and sulfate sources in groundwater using dual stable isotope approaches for an agricultural area with different land use (Chuncheon, mid-eastern Korea). Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 132, 223–231.

Kendall, C., 1998. Tracing Nitrogen Sources and Cycling in Catchments, in: Kendall, C., McDonnell, J. (Eds.), Isotope Tracers in Catchment Hydrology. Elsevier, Oxford, UK.

Kendall, C., Campbell, D.H., Burns, D. a, Shanley, J.B., Silva, S.R., Chang, C.C.Y., 1995. Tracing sources of nitrate in snowmelt runoff using the oxygen and nitrogen isotopic compositions of nitrate, in: Biogeochemistry of Seasonally Snow-Covered Catchments Proceedings of a Boulder Symposium, July 1995. pp. 339–347.

Kendall, C., McDonnell, J., 1998. Isotopes tracers in Catchment Hydrology.

Kendall, C., Silvia, S.R., Chang, C.C.Y., Burns, D.A., Campbell, D.H., Shanley, J.B., 1996. Use of the ð18O ans ð15N of nitrate to determine sources of nitrate in early spring runoff in forested catchments, in: Isotopes in Water Resources Management. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria, pp. 167–176.

Kettering, J., Park, J.H., Lindner, S., Lee, B., Tenhunen, J., Kuzyakov, Y., 2012. N fluxes in a mountainous catchment under intensive agriculture: An extensive budget approach at different scales. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 161, 101–111.

Kettering, J., Ruidisch, M., Gaviria, C., Ok, Y.S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Fate of fertilizer 15N in intensive ridge cultivation with plastic mulching under a monsoon climate. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems 95, 57–72.

Kim, B., 2006. The effects of nutrients discharged from agricultural watershed, in: WCMCA International Conference. pp. 14–16.

Kim, B., Choi, K., Kim, C., Lee, U.H., Kim, Y.H., 2000. Effects of the summer monsoon on the distribution and loading of organic carbon in a deep reservoir, Lake Soyang, Korea. Water Res. 34, 3495–3504.

Kim, G., Chung, S., Lee, C., 2007. Water quality of runoff from agricultural-forestry watersheds in the Geum River Basin, Korea. Environ. Monit. Assess. 134, 441–452.

Kim, H., Kaown, D., Mayer, B., Lee, J.Y., Hyun, Y., Lee, K.K., 2015. Identifying the sources of nitrate contamination of groundwater in an agricultural area (Haean basin, Korea) using isotope and microbial community analyses. Sci. Total Environ. 533, 566–575.

Kim, N.W., Won, Y.S., Chung, I.M., 2006. The scale of typhoon RUSA. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 3, 3147–3182.

Kim, T., Kim, G., Kim, S., Choi, E., 2008. Estimating riverine discharge of nitrogen from the South Korea by the mass balance approach. Environ. Monit. Assess. 136, 371–378.

Koh, D.C., Mayer, B., Lee, K.S., Ko, K.S., 2010. Land-use controls on sources and fate of nitrate in shallow groundwater of an agricultural area revealed by multiple environmental tracers. J. Contam. Hydrol. 118, 62–78.

Kraft, G.J., Stites, W., 2003. Nitrate impacts on groundwater from irrigated-vegetable systems in a humid north-central US sand plain. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 100, 63–74.

Kreitler, C.W., 1979. Nitrogen-isotope ratio studies of soils and groundwater nitrate from alluvial fan aquifers in Texas. J. Hydrol. 42, 147–170.

Kulin, G., Compton, P.A., 1975. Guide to Methods and Standards for the Measurement of Water Flow, First. ed, National Bureau of Standards. Institute for basic Standars U.S Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.

Lee, B.K., Hong, S.H., Lee, D.S., 2000. Chemical composition of precipitation and wet deposition of major ions on the Korean peninsula. Atmos. Environ. 34, 563–575.

Lee, K.S., Bong, Y.S., Lee, D., Kim, Y., Kim, K., 2008. Tracing the sources of nitrate in the Han River watershed in Korea, using 15NNO3- and 18ONO3- values. Sci. Total Environ. 395, 117–124.

MAFRA, 2014. Korean ministry for food agriculture, forestry, and fisheries.

MAFRA, 2013. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs [WWW Document]. URL http://english.mafra.go.kr/main.jsp

Maharjan, G.R., 2015. Integrated watershed modeling of mountainous landscapes : Assessing the environmental performance of an intensive farming system in South Korea . Dissertation. University of Bayreuth.

Mariotti, A., Germon, J.C., Hubert, P., Kaiser, P., Letolle, R., Tardieux, A., Tardieux, P., 1981. Experimental determination of nitrogen kinetic isotope fractionation: Some principles; illustration for the denitrification and nitrification processes. Plant Soil 62, 413–430.

Mariotti, A., Landreau, A., Simon, B., 1988. 15N isotope biogeochemistry and natural denitrification process in groundwater: Application to the chalk aquifer of northern France. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 52, 1869–1878.

Mariotti, A., Mariotti, F., Champigny, M.-L.L., AMARGER, N., Moyse, A., 1982. Nitrogen Isotope Fractionation Associated with Nitrate Reductase Activity and Uptake of NO3- by Pearl Millet. Plant Physiol. 69, 880–884.

Martin, C., Aquilina, L., Gascuel-Odoux, C., Molénat, J., Faucheux, M., Ruiz, L., 2004. Seasonal and interannual variations of nitrate and chloride in stream waters related to spatial and temporal patterns of groundwater concentrations in agricultural catchments. Hydrol. Process. 18, 1237–1254.

Mayer, B., Bollwerk, S.M., Mansfeldt, T., Hütter, B., Veizer, J., 2001. The oxygen isotope composition of nitrate generated by nitrification in acid forest floors. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 65, 2743–2756. doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(01)00612-3

Mayer, B., Boyer, E.W., Goodale, C., Jaworski, N.A., Van Breemen, N., Howarth, R.W., Seitzinger, S., Billen, G., Lajtha, K., Nadelhoffer, K., Van Dam, D., Hetling, L.J., Nosal, M., Paustian, K., 2002. Sources of nitrate in rivers draining sixteen watersheds in the northeastern U.S.: Isotopic constraints. Biogeochemistry 57–58, 171–197.

McLay, C.D.A., Dragten, R., Sparling, G., Selvarajah, N., 2001. Predicting groundwater nitrate concentrations in a region of mixed agricultural land use: A comparison of three approaches. Environ. Pollut. 115, 191–204.

Melorose, J., Perroy, R., Careas, S., 2015. Isotopes in the Water Cycle: Past, Present and Future of Adeveloping Science, Statewide Agricultural Land Use Baseline 2015. International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), Nederlands.

Min, J.H., Yun, S.T., Kim, K., Kim, H.S., Kim, D.J., 2003. Geologic controls on the chemical behaviour of nitrate in riverside alluvial aquifers, Korea. Hydrol. Process. 17, 1197–1211.

Ohte, N., Sebestyen, S.D., Shanley, J.B., Doctor, D.H., Kendall, C., Wankel, S.D., Boyer, E.W., 2004. Tracing sources of nitrate in snowmelt runoff using a high-resolution isotopic technique. Geophys. Res. Lett. 31, 2–5.

Oren, O., Yechieli, Y., Böhlke, J.K., Dody, A., 2004. Contamination of groundwater under cultivated fields in an arid environment, central Arava Valley, Israel. J. Hydrol. 290, 312–328.

Park, J.-H., Duan, L., Kim, B., Mitchell, M.J., Shibata, H., 2010. Potential effects of climate change and variability on watershed biogeochemical processes and water quality in Northeast Asia. Environ. Int. 36, 212–225.

Peters, J.J., 1988. Field measurements of discharge and velocity, in: Muller, A. (Ed.), Discharge and Velocity Measurements. A A Balkema Publishers, Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 179–185.

Powlson, D.S., Addiscott, T.M., Benjamin, N., Cassman, K.G., de Kok, T.M., van Grinsven, H., L'Hirondel, J.-L., Avery, A. a, van Kessel, C., 2008. When does nitrate become a risk for humans? J. Environ. Qual. 37, 291–295.

Rajeevan, M., Bhate, J., Jaswal, A.K., 2008. Analysis of variability and trends of extreme rainfall events over India using 104 years of gridded daily rainfall data. Geophys. Res. Lett. 35, 1–6.

Revesz, K., Bohlke, J.K., Toshinari, T., 1997. Determination of δ 18O and δ 15N in Nitrate. Anal. Chem. 69, 4375–4380.

Shim, S., Kim, B., 2005. Calculation of the loading of nitrogen and phosphorus in Korea, in: The Joint Scientific Spring Meeting of Korean Society on Water Quality and Korean Society of Water and Wastewater. pp. 555–561.

Shimohara, T., Oishi, O., Utsunomiya, A., Mukai, H., Hatakeyama, S., Eun-Suk, J., Uno, I., Murano, K., 2001. Characterization of atmospheric air pollutants at two sites in northern Kyushu, Japan - Chemical form, and chemical reaction. Atmos. Environ. 35, 667–681.

Silva, S.R., Kendall, C., Wilkison, D.H., Ziegler, A.C., Chang, C.C.Y., Avanzino, R.J., 2000. A new method for collection of nitrate from fresh water and the analysis of nitrogen and oxygen isotope ratios. J. Hydrol. 228, 22–36.

Sun, J., Qin, D., Mayewski, P. a., Dibb, J.E., Whitlow, S., Li, Z., Yang, Q., 1998. Soluble species in aerosol and snow and their relationship at Glacier 1, Tien Shan, China. J. Geophys. Res. 103, 28021.

Thorburn, P.J., Biggs, J.S., Weier, K.L., Keating, B.A., 2003. Nitrate in groundwaters of intensive agricultural areas in coastal Northeastern Australia. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 94, 49–58.

Vet, R., Artz, R.S., Carou, S., Shaw, M., Ro, C.U., Aas, W., Baker, A., Bowersox, V.C., Dentener, F., Galy-Lacaux, C., Hou, A., Pienaar, J.J., Gillett, R., Forti, M.C., Gromov, S., Hara, H., Khodzher, T., Mahowald, N.M., Nickovic, S., Rao, P.S.P., Reid, N.W., 2013. A global assessment of precipitation chemistry and deposition of sulfur, nitrogen, sea salt, base cations, organic acids, acidity and pH, and phosphorus. Atmos. Environ. 93, 3–100.

Wakamatsu, S., Utsunomiya, A., Han, J.S., Mori, A., Uno, I., Uehara, K., 1996. Seasonal variation in atmospheric aerosols concentration covering Northern Kyushu, Japan and Seoul, Korea. Atmos. Environ. 30, 2343–2354.

Wang, B., Ding, Q., Jhun, J., 2006. Trends in Seoul (1778 – 2004) summer precipitation. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33, 1–5.

Ward, M.H., Dekok, T.M., Levallois, P., Brender, J., Gulis, G., Nolan, B.T., Van Derslice, J., 2005. Drinking-water nitrate and health - Recent findings and research needs. Environ. Health Perspect. 113, 1607–1614.

Wassenaar, L.I., 1995. Evaluation of the origin and fate of nitrate in the Abbbotsford Aquifer using isotopes of 15N and 18O in NO3-. Appl. Geochemistry, 1995 10, 391–405.

World Health Organization, 2011. Nitrate and nitrite in drinking water, in: WHO Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. World Health Organization, pp. 227–231.

Yanggu Office, 2014. Yanggu Statistical Yearbook 2013. Yanggu.

Yu, J., Ning, K., Li, Y., Du, S., Han, G., Xing, Q., Wu, H., Wang, G., Gao, Y., 2014. Wet and dry atmospheric depositions of inorganic nitrogen during plant growing season in the coastal zone of Yellow River Delta. Sci. World J. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/949213

Zotarelli, L., Scholberg, J.M., Dukes, M.D., Muñoz-Carpena, R., 2007. Monitoring of nitrate leaching in sandy soils: comparison of three methods. J. Environ. Qual. 36, 953–962.

Chapter 3

The fate of monsoonal atmospheric nitrate deposition in two forest catchments in Soyang lake watershed, South Korea – A mass balance and stable isotope approach

Silvia Parra-Suárez, Gerhard Gebauer*

BayCEER - Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry – University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

*Author for correspondence gerhard.gebauer@uni-bayreuth.de Telephone: +49 921 552060

Submitted to: Biogeochemistry

(Submission N°: BIOG-D-17-00332)

Abstract

More than 60% of the entire area of South Korea is covered by deciduous, coniferous or mixed forests. Atmospheric nitrate deposition plays an important role as nitrogen source in these forests.

We compared with a mass balance approach the atmospheric nitrate input and output by stream runoff in two forest sub-catchments, a deciduous and a mixed catchment, within the Soyang lake watershed, the main drinking water reservoir for the 20 million metropolis Seoul. A dual stable isotope approach (δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O) was used to identify the origin (atmospheric nitrate deposition or soil microbial nitrification) of nitrate in stream discharge of the two sub-catchments.

Extremely different monsoon seasons in 2013 and 2014 drove the nitrate discharge from both sub-catchments. Total nitrate-N export was closely related with rainfall events and intensities. Nitrate-N discharge at the deciduous forest was lower than atmospheric nitrate-N deposition, thus sink conditions prevailed. Nitrate-N discharge at the mixed forest was consistently higher than at the deciduous forest. During the heavy monsoon season of 2013 the mixed forest turned from a sink for atmospheric nitrate towards a source, i.e. nitrate amounts in the discharge were higher than atmospheric inputs. Nitrate isotopic compositions of stream water from both forests revealed microbial nitrification as main nitrate source. However, under conditions of heavy monsoon rainfall direct runoff of atmospheric deposition nitrate was identified in the mixed forest.

Lower nitrate assimilation capacities of conifers compared to deciduous trees are probably the drivers for the lower nitrate retention capacity of the mixed forest sub-catchment.

Keywords

Nitrate; Monsoon, Stable isotope; Atmospheric deposition; Retention capacity; Microbial nitrification

1. Introduction

Natural forest ecosystems are adapted to limited nitrogen availability and the dynamics between all the living elements that intervene in the nitrogen cycle function optimally under this condition (Vitousek et al. 1997). In striking contrast to this property developed over long terms in evolution is the dramatic alteration of the global nitrogen cycle due to human activities during the last decades (Vitousek et al. 1997; Aber et al. 2003; Galloway et al. 2003) that has increased by nine times the nitrogen mobilization from the Earth's crust and atmosphere into the environment since pre-industrial times (Galloway et al. 2014). These activities have accelerated the nitrogen cycle, transformed ammonium, nitrate and organic nitrogen sources, altered the biogeochemical processes of natural ecosystems, changed the rates and pathways of nitrate leaching (Berendse et al. 1993) and last but not least, they have influenced the natural nitrogen isotopic composition of forest ecosystems (Denk et al. 2017).

Nitrogen compounds of anthropogenic origin enter natural forest ecosystems predominantly by atmospheric deposition to the tree canopy and to the forest floor (Gebauer et al. 1994; Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994). The responses of by nature nitrogen-limited forest ecosystems to increases in nitrogen availability depend, among other factors, on the forest species composition (Aber et al. 1998, 2003; Lovett et al. 2000, 2002). Although most northern forests are efficient at retaining nitrogen from atmospheric input (Aber et al. 1989; Harrison et al. 2000), natural forested areas can seriously become affected by chronic atmospheric nitrogen deposition (Schulze 1989; Aber et al. 1989, 2003; Vitousek et al. 1997; Lovett et al. 2000). Over time continuous nitrogen additions affect the nitrogen uptake and retention capacities by plants, soils and microbes (Vitousek et al. 1979; Friedland et al. 1984; Nihlgard 1985; Reuss and Johnson 1986; Rascher et al. 1987; Aber et al. 1989, 1998, 2003). It also increases nitrification rates in forest soils, raises nitrate losses into streams (Smith et al. 1968; Vitousek et al. 1979; Durka et al. 1994; Aber et al. 1998, 2003; Driscoll et al. 2003), and leads in the long term to nitrogen saturation of entire ecosystems (Aber et al. 1989). In this sense the South Korean peninsula faces a real challenge with chronic nitrogen input from atmospheric deposition into their forest resources (Lee et al. 2000, 2012; Hong et al. 2002), together with the risk of high nitrate output through the soils into streams due to heavy rainfall in the monsoon seasons (Bartsch et al. 2013, 2014).

South Korea has about 70% of mountainous area (MAFRA 2013) and the total forest land use is about 64.1% (Korean Forest Service 2013). The forests are categorized as natural (85%) and

artificial (15%) (Korean Forest Research Institute 2013) with the latter ones located in catchments around the highly populated metropolis of Seoul. Deciduous forests represent 27% of the forested area, while coniferous and mixed forests are 41% and 29%, respectively (Korean Forest Service 2013; Kim et al. 2017). Korean forests are relatively young. During Korean War the forests were excessively devastated. A large-scale reforestation program post–war was established in 1973 to rehabilitate forests. This program reforested 1.7 million hectares of degraded land with a total of 12 billion trees (Lee et al. 1997; Korea Forest Service 2014; Lee 2015).

South Korea receives a great amount of rainfall during the East Asian summer monsoon season. This period of intense precipitation produces high impact on the drinking water reservoirs, due to pollutants derived from non- point sources. In forested areas, monsoon season is an important driver for many biogeochemical and hydrological processes (Berger et al. 2013). Rainfall intensity and timing of summer monsoon seasons have become increasingly variable in the last years due to global climate change (Ho et al. 2003; Chang and Kwon 2007; Ashfaq and Trapp 2009; Kim et al. 2012). This can affect greatly the nitrogen cycle dynamics and also produce a change in the forest assimilation capacities, soil retention and nitrate sources.

Thus, there is an increasing demand for studies investigating effects of extremely different weather conditions on nitrate inputs and outputs not only in agriculture dominated watersheds but also in semi-natural forest watersheds. Such investigations become even more urgent, when drinking water reservoirs are affected by nitrate inputs, like in the Soyang lake watershed, which is the main drinking water reservoir for the 20 million metropolis Seoul.

The objectives in this study are: (1) To evaluate the assimilation and retention capacities of two different forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed, a pure deciduous tree and a mixed, but still conifer-dominated catchment, using a nitrate mass balance assessment. We evaluate the influence of two extremely different monsoon seasons on atmospheric nitrate input and nitrate leaching from soils. Considering summer rainfall inputs from a monsoon season (2103) with precipitations above the eleven years average (Kim et al. 2012), and an almost failed monsoon season (2014) with rainfalls clearly below the average, we develop scenarios for nitrate exports from forest catchments in summer monsoon climate regions under conditions as predicted by global climate change scenarios. (2) To use a dual stable isotope technique to identify and compare the fate of nitrate in the two different forest types of this investigation. Simultaneous measurement of δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O from nitrate on natural abundance level (Amberger

and Schmidt 1987; Revesz et al. 1997; Silva et al. 2000) allows separating the origin of nitrate (atmospheric deposition versus soil microbial nitrification) in the river runoff (Durka et al. 1994; Wassenaar 1995; Aravena and Robertson 1998; Mayer et al. 2001; Mengis et al. 2001). We hypothesize that conifer-dominated forests are more prone to nitrate leaching than deciduous forest, because of a lower nitrate assimilating capacity of conifers (Gebauer and Schulze 1997). (3) To evaluate the δ^{15} N of nitrate along soil depth gradients and compare these data with depth gradients of total nitrogen δ^{15} N values. Forest soils are characterized by a typical increase in δ^{15} N from litter layer down to mineral soil and simultaneous decrease in total N concentration (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1988; Gebauer and Schulze 1991; Garten and Van Miegroet 1994; Gebauer et al. 1994; Emmett et al. 1998). This pattern reflects an isotopic discrimination of ¹⁵N during mineralization of soil organic nitrogen. Based on these facts Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994) developed a hypothetical model predicting that nitrate from microbial nitrification follows the same depth gradient, i.e. nitrate produced in the litter layer is more depleted in ¹⁵N than nitrate produced in the mineral soil. Here we use our dataset as a side product to test this hypothetical model under field conditions.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Research site

The study was conducted in two forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed. This basin is located in the Gangwon-do province in the northeast part of South Korea. The total area of the watershed is 2,675 km². Most of the Soyang watershed area is dominated by forested mountainous land (over 85%). The mean annual air temperature is 10.5° C with minimum monthly temperature of -10°C in January and maximum monthly temperature of 27°C in August (1999 - 2013). Annual average precipitation is 1300 mm and between 50 – 60 % of the annual rainfall happens during the summer monsoon period (July – Sep) (WAMIS).

The first sub-catchment is a pure deciduous forest (D) within the Haean agricultural basin (Lat. 38.251532, N 128.11991 Long. W, 586- 1005 m asl). The sub-catchment is dominated by tree species as *Juglans mandshurica*, *Acer pictum*, *Quercus dentata*, *Quercus mongolica*, and *Fraxinus rhynchophylla*. The entire deciduous sub-catchment area is 39.78 ha. Acid Cambisols are the typical soils in the Korean forested mountain slopes (Jeong et al. 2012; FAO IUSS Working Group WRB 2014) and particularly in this site the organic cover (0-20 cm) has distinct Oi and less distinct Oe/Oa layers, while the mineral soil (30-60 cm) is loam texture.(Lee et al. 2016).

The second studied sub-catchment is a mixed (coniferous/deciduous) forest (M) located in Seohwa outside of the Haean agricultural basin, 6 km distance from the pure deciduous site (Lat. 38.206828 N, Long. 128.185719 W, 368-682 m asl). The total area of the mixed sub-catchment is 15.6 ha with 6.1 ha of coniferous forest (39%) and 9.5 ha of deciduous forest (61 %). The mixed forest sub-catchment is dominated by coniferous trees including *Larix kaempferi* and *Pinus densiflora*, in the lower part of the basin. The upper part of the mixed sub-catchment is dominated by deciduous trees including *Juglans mandshurica*, *Acer pictum*, *Quercus dentata*, *Tilia amurensis* and *Ulmus davidiana*. In analogy to the pure deciduous sub-catchment the the mineral soil (30-60 cm) has loam texture with an organic layer (0-20 cm) conformed by a distinct Oi and a less distinct Oe/Oa layer. (Lee et al. 2016).



Fig 1. Location of the investigated forest sites (a) in the northeastern part of South Korea (b) within Soyang lake watershed. (c) deciduous sub-catchment (d) mixed sub-catchment.

2.2 Field instrumentation and data collection

Equal instrumentation was installed in both forest sites. Stream, rain, throughfall (sampling in 2013 and 2014) and soil water samples (sampling only in 2014) were collected for nitrate concentration and stable isotope abundance analysis. The sampling design was made to determinate the influence of the precipitation regime and type of forest in the sources and total nitrate discharge into Mandae River, one of the most important streams in the Soyang lake watershed.

During the field campaign 2013, all the samples were collected every second day and after every rain event in the dry pre-monsoon season. During heavy monsoon season samples were collected after rain events up to every six hours in precipitation events that lasted at least 12 hours. During the field campaign in 2014 the samples were collected after every rain event due to the low amount and intensity of rainfall. Especially during growing season 2013 two periods were accounted for the sampling collection, a dry pre-monsoon season (May – June) and a monsoons season (July- August). During growing season 2014 we still divided the sampling periods in dry pre-monsoon (June) and a monsoon season (July – August), although in this year these two period could not be differentiated due to the lack of monsoon rainfalls.

Stream samples were collected using an automatic collector (6712 Portable Sampler, Teledyne Isco Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA). Rain samples were collected with bulk precipitation samplers installed in an open area near the plots. Throughfall samples were collected from samplers under the forest canopy. In both cases the samplers were at 1 meter distance from the ground. Soil water was sampled in different depths. Water from the soil organic layer (10 - 20 cm) was sampled using cero tension plates installed beneath the organic layer. Water from the mineral soil layer (30 - 60 cm) was sampled using ceramic suction cups installed in 10 cm intervals. Extra pH measurements were taken from the diluted soil water at the same depths with a gel electrode (SenTix 21 Gelelectrode DIN-Cable, WTW GmbH & Co, Weilheim, Germany).

All samples were stored in 1 litter plastic bottles for isotope analysis and in 2 ml tubes for nitrate concentrations. After collected, the samples were immediately frozen and stored for their subsequent transport to Germany for the analysis. In aim to keep the samples frozen during the transportation, dry ice was added to the cooling boxes.

Analysis of nitrate concentration and isotope abundance were completed at the Hydrology Department and Isotope Biogeochemistry Laboratory of Bayreuth University, respectively.

2.3 Weir locations and discharge calculations

River discharge was measured with two V-notch weirs located in the outflow of each subcatchment (Fig. 1) (Ackers et al. 1978; Chanson and Wang 2012, 2013). Water level and barometric data used in discharge calculations were measured at the weir with absolute pressure transducers, which recorded total head at 5 min intervals (Levelogger® Edge Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada) and barologgers (Barologger Edge Model 3001, Solinst Canada Ltd, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada) for barometric compensation. V-notch weir discharge values were calculated using the Kindsvater and Shen formula (Kulin and Compton 1975; El-Ansary et al. 2010).

2.4 Weather stations and rainfall measurements

Precipitation was recorded at 5 min intervals using an automatic weather station (WS-GP1, Delta-T Devices, Cambridge, UK) located in an open place near the sites. Data from the bulk precipitation samplers were also measured.

2.5 Laboratory analysis

2.5.1 Nitrate concentration analysis

Rain, throughfall, stream and soil water samples were analyzed for nitrate concentration using an anion exchange high performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC) and subsequent UV detection (HPLC LC4000 Jasco Europe S.r.l., Cremella, Italy) using PeakSimple Chromatography software (PeakSimple 3.93) and an anion exchange IC column (VYDAC 302IC 10 μ m Anion Exchange 250 x 4.6mm, Grace Corporate Headquarters, Columbia, USA). The samples were unfrozen inside of a refrigerator at 4°C 12 hours before the analysis.

2.5.2 Sample preparation and isotope analysis

Nitrate extraction from each water sample as described by Huber et al. (2011) was required before their subsequent isotope abundance analysis. The procedure consisted of the following steps:

 Removal of the bound water molecules using a freeze-drying technique: First we unfroze the 1 L stream and soil water samples in a refrigerator at 4° C for 24 h. Then we transferred the water samples into glass vessels, froze the samples at -40°C in a salt/ethanol bath and completed freeze-drying of the samples in the following freeze-
drying machines: Freeze Dryer condenser EF4 Modulyo with two levels of 12 port acrylic lid, Edwards High vacuum B.O.C. Ltd, Crawley, England and SuperModulyo freeze dryer 20 L with Column manifolds 24 port, Edwards High vacuum B.O.C. Ltd, Crawley, England.

2. Nitrate isolation by the precipitation of Ba(NO₃)₂ (Huber et al. 2011): We added a NaI + acetone + hexane solution to the samples. Insoluble compounds sank overnight in a refrigerator to be subsequently centrifuged (Beckmann J6 High Capacity Centrifuge, Beckmann Coulter, Krefeld, Germany). Then we transferred the supernatant into new centrifugation tubes and added BaI₂ diluted in acetone to precipitate Ba(NO₃)₂. After settling of the precipitate in a refrigerator and its corresponding centrifugation, we decanted each sample and dried the Ba(NO₃)₂ at 60°C overnight. We dissolved the Ba(NO₃)₂ in defined water volumes and transferred the aliquots into tin (for N isotope abundance analysis) or silver capsules (for O isotope abundance analysis) and again complete dried the samples before closure of the capsules.

Relative nitrogen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ -) were measured with an elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba 1108, Milano, Italy) for Dumas combustion followed by gas chromatography and feeding of N₂ into a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta S Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany) via a ConFlo III interface (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) as described by Bidartondo et al. (2004). Nitrogen standard gas was calibrated with respect to the international standard (N₂ in air) by using the reference substances N1 and N2 provided by the IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria). Nitrogen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a six-point calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard acetanilide with known nitrogen content of 10.36% (Gebauer and Schulze 1991). For recovery control of our extraction procedure nitrogen amounts in a randomly selected sample subset were compared to the independently by HPLC measured nitrate concentrations. Nitrogen recovery was always close to 100%.

Relative oxygen isotope abundances of the nitrate samples ($\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$) were measured by thermal conversion through pyrolysis (HTO, HEKAtech, Wegberg, Germany) followed by gas chromatography and feeding of CO into a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (delta V advantage Thermo Fisher Scientific) via a ConFlo IV interface (Thermo Fisher Scientific) as described by Gebauer et al. (2016). The CO standard gas was calibrated with respect to the international standard (SMOW) by using the reference substances IAEA601 and IAEA602

provided by the IAEA. Oxygen amounts in the samples were calculated from peak areas using a six-point calibration curve per sample run based on measurements of the laboratory standard benzoic acid with known oxygen content of 26.20%. For recovery control of our extraction procedure oxygen amounts in a randomly selected sample subset were compared to the independently by HPLC measured nitrate concentrations. Oxygen recovery was close to 100% for the nitrate extracted from water collected in 2013. However, for the nitrate extracted separately from water collected in 2014 oxygen recovery exceeded the 100% threshold significantly. Thus, for the 2014 samples the isolated nitrate was obviously still contaminated with other oxygen-containing compounds for unknown reason. Thus, all $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ data of the 2014 sample collection were not considered for any further data presentation.

2.5.3 Nitrate fluxes, isotope calculations and statistical analysis

Nitrate flux calculations were carried out using the calculated N_{NO3} from nitrate concentrations multiplied by the total stream area discharge and rain input per day. Nitrate fluxes were measured in both years 2013 and 2014. We calculated fluxes in rain input using bulk precipitation and throughfall data, because during heavy monsoon rainfall no major differences in nitrate concentrations of rain between under and out-canopy could be registered.

Statistical analysis and graphs were carried out using the statistical software package SigmaPlot (Windows version 11, Systat Software GmbH, Erkrath, Germany). A simple linear fitting regression with significance level of $P \le 0.05$ was run in the program for all isotope data. Correlation analyses were run between nitrate concentrations, fluxes and rain data.

Stable isotope abundance results from nitrate in stream water in 2013 were plotted together with the natural abundance from the major nitrate sources that may influence aquifers (Kendall 1998) as microbial nitrification and atmospheric deposition.

A theoretical microbial nitrification was calculated to compare this source with the stream and soil water isotope abundance data in the research area. Nitrification of soil organic nitrogen has two thirds of oxygen from soil water (-3.5 $^{0}/_{00}$ and -5.5 $^{0}/_{00}$, OIPC; Bowen et al. 2005; Bowen 2008) and one third of oxygen from atmospheric oxygen (~ +23.5 $^{0}/_{00}$) (Wassenaar 1995). If we assume that the oxygen from the mentioned sources did not have any fractionation processes before their incorporation to form NO₃⁻, we can calculate the theoretical microbial nitrification for the forested sub-catchments by using the following equation:

$$\delta^{18}O_{NO3-} = {}^{2}/_{3} (\delta^{18}O_{H2O}) + {}^{1}/_{3} (\delta^{18}O_{O2}).$$

Stable isotopes from atmospheric rain deposition were obtained from Lee et al. (2008).

3. Results

3.1 Hydrological and Weather Features

Extremely different weather conditions characterized the two years of investigation, 2013 and 2014. During the growing season in 2013 we observed two marked periods. A dry pre-monsoon period (May and June) characterized by a strong drought was present at both sites. Total precipitation in the pre-monsoon period was 106 mm for the deciduous forest and 95 mm for the mixed forest (Table 1a). During monsoon season (July – August) storm events were more recurrent. The deciduous forest had a total of 14 important storm events with intensities that ranged from 18.4 mm d⁻¹ to 71.8 mm d⁻¹ (Table 2). Its total rainfall (May – August) was 799.8 mm (Table 1a). On the other hand the mixed forest had a total of 12 important storm events during the monsoon season. Its intensities ranged between 18.2 mm d⁻¹ and 131.8 mm d⁻¹ (Table 2). The total rainfall at this site was 722.8 mm (Table 1a).

In 2014 a failed monsoon season was driving the hydrological processes in both forest sites. Marked periods (dry pre-monsoon and monsoon season) were not present in this year. The total rainfall at the deciduous forest was 220.4 mm (Table 1a). Although storm events were almost absent, one rainfall with major intensity at this site reached 62.4 mm d⁻¹ (Table 2). In the mixed forest total rainfall was 197.8 mm. With a few storm events, the rainfall with the highest intensity at this forest was 42.4 mm d⁻¹ (Table 2). At both sites the total rainfall represented 27.5% of the total precipitation in the year before.

The occurrence or absence of pronounced monsoon season rainfalls affected total discharge values in both forest sites as shown in Table 1b. The differences between the discharge in the dry pre-monsoon season and monsoon season in 2013 were remarkable. Discharge runoff during the monsoon season in the deciduous forest represented 83% or 95% of the total discharge during the 2013 sampling period at the deciduous or mixed forest, respectively. In 2014 the almost missing monsoon season reduced discharge amounts heavily. Total discharge during 2014 represented less than 1% of the year before. Especially at the mixed forest site discharge runoff was less than a cubic meter per day (Table 1b).

Table 1. Maximum (Max), minimum (Min) and average (Ave) daily (a) input (mm d⁻¹) and (b) discharge runoff (m³ d⁻¹) data for the investigated forest sub- catchments within the Soyang lake watershed, during the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. Daily values were summed up to obtain total rain input (mm) and discharge runoff (m³) data and separated for the usually dry premonsoon season (May - June) and the usually rainy monsoon season (July and August).

		^(a) Pı	recipitation 2	013	Precipitation 2014			
For	est land use	Dry Season	Monsoon season	Total	Dry Season	Monsoon season	Total	
	Total (mm)	106.6	693.2	799.8	62.8	157.6	220.4	
Deciduous	$Min (mm d^{-1})$	0.2	1.8		0.2	0.2		
	Max (mm d^{-1})	27.2	71.8		17.4	62.4		
	Total (mm)	95	627.8	722.8	117.4	80.4	197.8	
Mixed	$Min (mm d^{-1})$	0.2	0.6		0.2	0.2		
	Max (mm d^{-1})	20.4	131.8		12.2	42.4		
		(b) _]	Discharge 20	13	Discharge 2014			
	Total (m ³)	8.4 x 10 ⁵	3.9 x 10 ⁶	4.7×10^6	264.2	990	1254.1	
Dociduous	Min $(m^3 d^{-1})$	$1.0 \ge 10^4$	$1.8 \ge 10^4$		7.9	16.3		
Deciuuous	Max (mm3 d-1)	$4.2 \ge 10^4$	$2.4 \ge 10^6$		21.9	58.5		
	Average $(mm^3 d^{-1})$	$2.7 \ge 10^4$	1.5 x 10 ⁵		17.6	22.4		
Mixed	Total (m ³)	2.9×10^3	7.1 x 10 ⁴	7.4 x 10^4	33.9 x 10 ⁻⁴	18.8 x 10 ⁻³	22.2×10^{-3}	
	Min $(m^3 d^{-1})$	60.8	104.8		24.1 x 10 ⁻⁵	22.2 x 10 ⁻⁶		
	Max (mm3 d-1)	164.2	$1.4 \ge 10^4$		58.2 x 10 ⁻⁵	19.9 x 10 ⁻⁴		
	Average $(mm^3 d^{-1})$	104.8	2.7×10^3		48.4 x 10 ⁻⁵	44.9 x 10 ⁻⁵		

3.2 Nitrate concentrations and seasonality of nitrate fluxes

3.2.1 Nitrate in rain

During sampling campaign in 2013 nitrate concentrations in rain ranged between 0.2 and 10 mg L^{-1} and between 0.5 and 15 mg L^{-1} in the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively. The average nitrate concentration in rain was 2.9 ± 2 mg L^{-1} at both forests. In 2014 nitrate concentrations in rain ranged between 1.3 and 18 mg L^{-1} at the deciduous site and between 1.5 and 17 mg L^{-1} at the mixed forest. Mean values of nitrate concentrations were 7.6 ± 5 mg L^{-1} or 6.8 ± 4 mg L^{-1} at the deciduous and mixed site, respectively. Thus, nitrate concentrations in rainfall were by a factor of about three higher in the year with low precipitation. Nonetheless, precipitation amounts were not correlated (P > 0.050) with nitrate concentrations, and no seasonality in nitrate concentrations in rainfall was found.

orm events	Decia	luous	Mixed			
	Date	ain (mm.d ⁻¹)	Date	ain (mm.d ⁻¹)		
	02.07.2013	48.4	02.07.2013	31		
	08.07.2013	98	08.07.2013	57		
	09.07.2013	23	10.07.2013	30.4		
	10.07.2013	28.8	11.07.2013	44.4		
	11.07.2013	69.8	12.07.2013	31.8		
2013	12.07.2013	69.8	13.07.2013	18.2		
2010	13.07.2013	27.6	14.07.2013	131.8		
	14.07.2013	71.8	15.07.2013	50.4		
	15.07.2013	58	18.07.2013	119.4		
	18.07.2013	60.6	21.07.2013	20.2		
	21.07.2013	24.2	22.07.2013	28.2		
	22.07.2013	20.2	23.07.2013	46.8		
	23.07.2013	52.8				
	24.07.2013	18.4				
	Decia	luous	Mix	ced		
	Date	ain (mm.d ⁻¹)	Date	'ain (mm.d ⁻¹)		
2014	25.07.2014	62.4	01.07.2014	13.2		
2017	10.08.2014	46.2	25.07.2014	31.8		
			31.07.2014	27.2		
			10.08.2014	42.4		

Table 2. Strom events (date) and rainfall intensity (mm d^{-1}) during monsoon season (July - August) for the investigated forest sub-catchments during the sampling campaigns in 2013 and 2014. The storm events with the highest intensity are shown in bold letters.

Total rain fluxes and associated nitrogen inputs during the sampling periods of the two investigated years are plotted in Fig. 2 in a multiple line and scatter flux diagram over time. In Table 3 these single data are summarized. Total nitrogen input from nitrate rainfall during the sampling period in 2013 in the two forest sub-catchments was 7.8 or 10.1 kg N_{NO3}^{-} ha⁻¹ for the deciduous and mixed site, respectively. In the following year without pronounced monsoon season total nitrogen input from nitrate in rainfall was 4.3 kg N_{NO3}^{-} ha⁻¹ or 4.1 kg N_{NO3}^{-} ha⁻¹ for the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively. The N_{NO3}^{-} rain input during the monsoon season in 2013 represents 95% or 80% of the total nitrogen from nitrate rainfall during the summer campaign in the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively. In absence of a pronounced monsoon season, the total N_{NO3}^{-} rain input in the summer campaign in 2014 represents 40% of the total nitrogen from nitrate rain input in 2013 in both forests.



Fig. 2. Nitrogen input from nitrate deposition by rainfall (kg ha⁻¹) measured at the deciduous and mixed forest sub-catchments, temporal distribution and intensity of rainfall events during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in (a and c) 2013 and (b and d) 2014.

In the deciduous forest N_{NO3} rain input during the monsoon year 2013 was 2.5 times higher than the total N_{NO3} river discharge. In the mixed forest the total N_{NO3} rain input and total N_{NO3} discharge showed an opposite behavior. N_{NO3} rain input represented only 50% of the total N_{NO3} river discharge in this year. Thus, in the monsoon year 2013, in contrast to the deciduous forest, the mixed forest did not function as a sink for atmospheric nitrate deposition, but rather as a nitrate source. In 2014 without pronounced monsoon season the N_{NO3} rain input was by far lower than the total N_{NO3} discharge at both sites. In this particular year both forest sites were acting as a sink for the nitrogen from atmospheric nitrate deposition. **Table 3.** Total nitrogen input from nitrate deposition by rainfall separated between deciduous forest, and mixed/deciduous and mixed/coniferous for the campaign in 2013 and 2014, calculated on a hectare basis (kg N_{NO3}^{-} ha⁻¹) in the investigated forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed.

Forest sub-catchment nitrogen from nitrate rain input																	
				20	13			2014									
Forest land use		ha	ha	ha	ha	ha	ha	ha	ha	Total	Maximum	Minimum	Mean	Total	Maximum	Minimum	Mean
			N _{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	N _{N03} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	N _{N03} kg ha ⁻¹	N _{NO3} kg ha ⁻¹							
Deciduous		38.97	7.8	1.0	21.7 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.21	4.3	0.6	79.7 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.1							
	Deciduous	9.25	4.7	1.1	11.2 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.18	1.8	0.9	24.7 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.1							
Mixed	Coniferous	6.25	5.4	0.6	76.2 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.16	2.2	0.8	55.4 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.1							
	Total	15.5	10.1				4.1										

3.2.2 Nitrate in stream runoff

During sampling period in 2013, nitrate concentrations in the river discharge ranged between 6.5 mg L⁻¹ and 12.5 mg L⁻¹ at the deciduous site and between 10.5 mg L⁻¹ and 26.7 mg L⁻¹ at the mixed forest. The mean values were 8.6 ± 1 mg L⁻¹ or 16.2 ± 3 mg L⁻¹ for the deciduous and mixed forest respectively. The relationship between discharge and storm events with nitrate concentration in stream runoff was not significantly correlated (P > 0.050) in any of the years. During summer in 2014 nitrate concentrations in runoff ranged between 10.9 mg L⁻¹ and 14.7 mg L⁻¹ in the deciduous forest and between 11.8 mg L⁻¹ and 22.8 mg L⁻¹ at the mixed site. The nitrate concentrations in river discharge in 2014 were significantly (P = < 0.001) higher than in the year before. Thus, the low discharge amounts in 2014 carried higher nitrate concentrations than in the year before.

Total N_{NO3} river discharge was higher from the mixed forest than from the deciduous site in both years. During sampling period in the monsoon year 2013 nitrogen from nitrate discharge in the mixed forest was 20.3 kg ha⁻¹ and in deciduous forest it was 3.2 kg ha⁻¹ (Table 4). In 2014 without pronounced monsoon season N_{NO3} discharge was as low as 0.08 kg ha⁻¹ or 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ for the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively (Table 4). Although during the sampling period in 2014 the nitrogen runoff was only 3% of the total N_{NO3} discharge in 2013, in both years N_{NO3} river runoff at the mixed forest was between 6 to 7 times higher than at deciduous forest. Fig. 3 shows further details of total N_{NO3} river discharge fluxes in a multiple line and scatter flux diagram over time.

Table 4. Total nitrogen discharge runoff separated by forest sub-catchments, during the campaigns in 2013 and 2014 and calculated on a hectare basis (kg N_{NO3} ha⁻¹) in the investigated deciduous and mixed forest. Total values for both forest sub-catchments are shown in bold letters. For the mixed forest, values are divided between coniferous and deciduous patches.

Forest sub-catchment nitrogen from nitrate runoff								
				2013		2014		
Forest land use		ha	Total	Dry	Monsoon			
			NO3 kg ha ⁻¹	_{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	_{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹	_{NO3} ⁻ kg ha ⁻¹		
Deciduous		38.97	3.2	1.8	1.4	0.08		
	Deciduous	9.25	8.5	0.2	8.2	0.3		
Mixed	Coniferous	6.25	11.8	0.3	11.4	0.3		
	Total Mixed	15.5	20.3	0.6	19.7	0.6		

The marked dry pre-monsoon and monsoon season in 2013 influenced N_{NO3}^{-1} river runoff especially in the mixed forest (Fig. 3c). A great variation of N_{NO3}^{-1} discharge was observed. The N_{NO3}^{-1} river discharge increased with the frequency of rain events. 80% of the nitrogen from nitrate discharge in the mixed forest was lost during the monsoon season. Only 20% of the total N_{NO3}^{-1} river runoff was during the dry pre-monsoon season. A positive correlation between N_{NO3}^{-1} runoff peaks and storm events were found at this site (P < 0.050) (Fig. 3). In the deciduous forest such variation could not be observed. Total N_{NO3}^{-1} discharge was equally distributed between premonsoon and monsoon season. The more stable nitrate nitrogen runoff from the deciduous forest resulted in a negative correlation (P > 0.05) between N_{NO3}^{-1} runoff peaks and rain events (Fig. 3a and e).

In 2014 no seasonality was observed over the sampling period. Although N_{NO3}^{-1} discharge was stable along the sampling campaign in both forests and no correlation between N_{NO3}^{-1} and storm events were found (P > 0.05, Fig. 3f and h), we observed small N_{NO3}^{-1} runoff peaks associated to the few rain and small storm events in this year (Fig. 3b and d).

3.3 $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ of nitrate input and output

Nitrate $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{18}O$ values in atmospheric input (rain, data from literature) and stream water (own data) are summarized in Table 5. Literature data for nitrate in rainfall in South Korea indicate ranges between -2 ‰ and +14 ‰ for $\delta^{15}N$ and between +25 ‰ and +75 ‰ for $\delta^{18}O$. The $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ values found in the stream water output ranged between -1.6 ‰ and +3.5 ‰ and between -4.2 ‰ and +6.1 ‰ at the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively. The $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values in the deciduous and mixed forest river water were between -1.6 ‰ and +10.6 ‰ and between -4.1 % and +23.7 %, respectively. Thus, nitrate δ^{15} N values in stream water ranged at the lower end or were below the nitrate $\delta^{15}N$ values in precipitation, and nitrate $\delta^{18}O$ values in stream water had a wide range of variation, but were consistently below the nitrate do¹⁸O values in precipitation. A closer look on the single stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}\ values in dependence on the day$ of sampling (Fig. 4a) or in dependence on rainfall events (Fig. 4b) in the monsoon year 2013 provides clues for the reason of the high stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ variation. In the dry pre-monsoon period stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values ranged between +10.6 and -4.1 ‰ and were pretty similar for the deciduous and the mixed forest site. In the monsoon season stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values of the deciduous forest site behaved similar to the pre-monsoon season. However, the majority of the stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ data from the mixed forest site increased in the monsoon season to values between +15 and +23.7 ‰.



Fig. 3. Temporal distribution of total N_{NO3}^{-1} fluxes (kg ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) in discharge runoff measured at the forest sub-catchments, during the sampling campaigns (May to August) in deciduous site (a) 2013 and (b) 2014 and mixed site (c) 2013 and (d) 2014. Correlations between peaks in N_{NO3}^{-1} (kg ha⁻¹) and storm events (mm) at the deciduous forest during monsoon season 2013 (e) and 2014 (f). Correlations between peaks in N_{NO3}^{-1} (kg ha⁻¹) and storm events (mm) at the mixed forest during monsoon season 2013 (g) and 2014 (h).

Table 5. Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O isotopic composition from atmospheric nitrate deposition (rain) that may influence nitrate discharge runoff in the forest sub-catchments and stream water isotopic composition. ^aRain atmospheric deposition values were taken from Lee et al. (2008).

	Forest sub-catchments									
Isotopic con	mposition		$\delta^{15}N$			$\delta^{18}O$				
Forest		Maximum Minimum Average (⁰ / ₀₀) (⁰ / ₀₀) (⁰ / ₀₀)		Maximum (⁰ / ₀₀)	Minimum (⁰ / ₀₀)	Average (⁰ / ₀₀)				
Daaiduous	Stream	3.5	-1.6	0.4 ± 1	10.6	-1.6	1.8 ± 3			
Declauous	Rain ^a	14	-2		75	25				
Mixad	Stream	6.1	-4.2	0.6 ± 2	23.7	-4.1	6.3 ± 7			
mixeu	Rain ^a	14	-2		75	25				



Fig. 4. Temporal distribution of nitrate δ^{18} O isotopic composition in stream water in the investigated deciduous and mixed forest (a) and temporal distribution in the mean values for nitrate δ^{18} O in stream water and rainfall events at the mixed forest (b). Arrow represents the direction of the nitrate δ^{18} O isotope composition in atmospheric deposition (Lee et al. 2008).

3.4 Soil nitrate status

Nitrate concentrations collected in the dry year 2014 along a soil depth gradient (10-60 cm) in the forest soils ranged between 11.6 mg L⁻¹ and 26.6 mg L⁻¹ and 4.4 mg L⁻¹ and 13.1 mg L⁻¹ at the deciduous and mixed forest site, respectively (Fig. 5a and b). The lowest values were observed in the mineral soil (50 and 60 cm) of the mixed and of the deciduous forest. The organic layer (0-20cm) had higher nitrate concentrations than the mineral layer in both forests, although in the deciduous forest we observed in general higher nitrate concentrations than in the mixed forest. This difference was highly significant (P < 0.001). In each soil depth the pH values of the mixed forest were by about one unit lower than in the deciduous forest (Table 6). This

difference was significant (P < 0.05). The mean soil pH value for the mixed forest was 4.4 ± 0.4 and of the deciduous forest 5.35 ± 0.5 .



Fig. 5. Nitrate concentrations and δ^{15} N values of nitrate and total nitrogen (Lee et al. 2016) along a soil depth gradient in the deciduous (a and c) and mixed forest (b and d) at the investigated forest sub-catchments.

Negative and significant correlations (P < 0.05) between nitrate concentration and soil depth were found in both forests (Fig. 6a and b). In the mixed forest soil this correlation was stronger (r = 0.910) than in the deciduous forest soil (r = 0.580).

The $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ values along the depth profiles ranged from -2.8 ‰ or -2.6 ‰ in the organic layer to +5.2 ‰ or +5.4‰ in mineral soil of the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively (Fig. 5c and d). Robust positive correlations (deciduous r = 0.924; mixed r = 0.887) were found between $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and soil depth at both forest sites (P < 0.05; Fig. 6c and d). The $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ values in identical soil depths were not significantly distinguished between the two forests (P > 0.05). However significate differences (P < 0.05) were observed between organic and mineral layers in both studied sites.

Significantly negative correlations were found between $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ - and nitrate concentrations (P < 0.05) in both forest soils (Fig. 6e and f). At the mixed forest site this correlation was stronger (r = 0.805) than in the deciduous forest (r = 0.544). In organic layers $\delta^{15} N_{NO3}$ values were depleted while nitrate concentrations were simultaneously high, especially in the deciduous forest.

The δ^{15} N values of soil total nitrogen (literature data from the same forest sites) increased from 0.11 ‰ or 0.32 ‰ in the organic layer to 8.00 ‰ or 8.04 ‰ in the mineral soil of the deciduous and mixed forest, respectively. This increase in δ^{15} N of soil total nitrogen ran mostly in parallel with our depth gradient in δ^{15} N_{NO3}- for both investigated forest sites (Fig. 5c and d). Soil nitrate from identical positions along the gradient was consistently more depleted in ¹⁵N than soil total nitrogen. The difference between δ^{15} N of soil total nitrogen and δ^{15} N_{NO3}- ranged between a minimum of 2.87 ‰ (organic layer) and a maximum of 7.31 ‰ (30 cm depth) at the deciduous forest site and between a minimum of 2.28 ‰ (organic layer) and a maximum of 7.79 ‰ (20 cm depth) at the mixed forest site.

Table 6. Soil pH value	s at different soil	depths in the	investigated	deciduous a	and mixed	forest
sub-catchments. Mean p	H values are show	wn in bold fon	t for each site	.		

	Forest soil pH values							
Soil depth (cm)	Mean Mixed	SD Mixed	Mean Deciduous	SD Deciduous				
10	4.8	0.2	5.7	5.2				
20	4.6	0.3	5.8	0.4				
30	4.0	0.05	5.1	0.1				
40	4.6	0.2	5.1	0.1				
50	4.0	0.1	4.9	0.2				
60	3.8	0	4.8	0.1				
Mean	Mixed	4.4						
SD 1	mixed	0.4	_					
Mean D	Deciduous	5.35	-					
SD D	eciduos	0.5						



Fig. 6. Correlation between nitrate δ^{15} N values, nitrate concentrations, and soil depths. Nitrate concentration correlated with soil depth (a and b), nitrate δ^{15} N values correlated with soil depth (c and d) and nitrate δ^{15} N values correlated with nitrate concentrations (e and f) at the investigated deciduous and mixed forest.

4. Discussion

4.1 Extremely different monsoon seasons and hydrological responses

East Asian monsoon season and in particular year by year trends of monsoon in South Korea have been studied in several investigations. Temporal distribution in precipitation, rainfall intensities and annual drought breaks in the monsoon season were found to be related to global temperature increases and climate change (Wang et al. 2006; Rajeevan et al. 2008; Ashfaq and Trapp 2009).

Extreme differences in the patterns of the Asian monsoon where observed during the years 2013 and 2014 especially in the northern part of South Korea. These extremely different monsoon seasons clearly influenced the hydrological processes in the studied deciduous and mixed forest sites. The monsoon season in 2013 had rainfall amounts above the eleven years average (Kim et al. 2007), while monsoon season in 2014 failed. In 2014 rainfall amounts were far below the eleven years average (Kim et al. 2007).

Discharges in the studied forests were directly related to the rainfall intensities and amounts in both years. Especially in the monsoon season 2013, a characteristic dry pre-monsoon season drove the very low stream discharge runoff before the monsoon season while discharge increased in parallel with the increase in precipitation and storm events. Several studies have shown that strong monsoon precipitations are the key driver controlling the discharge (Kim et al. 2007; Bartsch et al. 2014; Shope 2016). Although monsoon precipitation plays a major role for discharge runoff, a variety of local conditions influence also the water distribution, like geology, topography, soil water holding capacity and land use (Boluwade and Madramootoo 2013; Radatz et al. 2013).

This influence of monsoon rainfall on discharge fluctuations was not present in 2014 due to the failed monsoon season. Variations in the trends of monsoon rainfalls can represent unpredictable hazards for water quality, but also uncertain changes in the biogeochemical processes that can shift sources of nitrate leaching.

4.2 Seasonality of nitrate input and output at the deciduous and mixed forest site

Nitrate concentrations in rain at the deciduous and mixed forest had an average of 2.7 mg L⁻¹ in 2013 and 7.2 mg L⁻¹ in 2014. Although these nitrate concentrations in rain were significantly different between years (P < 0.001), the results showed no relation (P > 0.05) with rainfall or

storm events in any sampling campaign. Nitrate concentrations in rainfall in 2013 were below and in 2014 above the average (6.1 mg L⁻¹) reported for the period 1996 to 2000 for three sites in South Korea (Hong et al. 2002). Like in our investigation, Hong et al. (2002) found increased nitrate concentrations in rain during dry periods and decreased nitrate concentrations during summer monsoon rainfalls. Although we did not find a significant seasonality in nitrate concentrations in rain between dry pre-monsoon and monsoon season in 2013, we found great differences between a year with high monsoon rainfall events (2013) and a year with a monsoon almost completely failed (2014). Even though several local studies have shown decreases of nitrate concentrations in rain (Vet et al. 2013), rain nitrate concentrations registered in South Korean are higher than in Japan and lower than in China (Kaneyasu 1995; Wakamatsu et al. 1996; Sun et al. 1998; Lee et al. 2000; Shimohara et al. 2001; Lü and Tian 2007; Duan et al. 2016).

Total nitrate nitrogen fluxes with rain input were strongly and positively correlated (P < 0.05) with the corresponding amount of rain in both years and in both forest sites (Fig. 2). Such a correlation between atmospheric nitrogen wet deposition and amount of monsoon precipitation was also found in other studies in Asia (Liu et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2012; Pan et al. 2012; Yu et al. 2014). Thus, atmospheric N_{NO3} wet deposition in 2014 despite higher nitrate concentrations was only 40% of the total deposition in 2013, due to the low rainfall of this year.

Especially forests are considered to receive N inputs mainly through wet atmospheric deposition (Aber et al. 2003). The nitrogen additions should be smaller than 2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in areas unaffected by industrial sources (Lovett et al. 1982; Aber et al. 1989). Our results showed higher atmospheric nitrogen deposition solely from summer monsoon seasons. Thus, emissions of oxidized nitrogen compounds from local and regional transport and from industrial activities in the 140 km northeast of our forest sites located 20 million metropolis Seoul are the most probable origin of the nitrate deposition observed at our forest sites.

Aber et al. (1989) suggested that forests saturated by nitrogen due to atmospheric nitrogen deposition may become sources of nitrogen rather than sinks. With respect to this suggestion the here investigated two forests behaved different.

As hypothesized nitrate concentrations in discharge runoff in the mixed forest were higher than in the deciduous forest in both years. In general, different tree species have distinct capacities for nitrate assimilation (Gebauer and Schulze 1997). The nitrate assimilation capacity of conifers per unit of biomass is by a factor of 2 to 10 lower than the nitrate assimilation capacity of a variety of broadleaf species (Gebauer and Schulze 1997). Conifers prefer ammonium over nitrate as nitrogen source (Buchmann et al. 1995; Gebauer et al. 2000) and create with their litterfall soil pH values lower than in the soils of broadleaf forests under otherwise identical conditions. The lower pH values in the soil of our mixed forest site compared to the broadleaf forest site are in agreement with this general trend. More acidic soil pH values reduce microbial nitrification and thus, ammonium becomes dominant over nitrate in coniferous forest soils (Buchmann et al. 1995; Gebauer et al. 2000). This preference for ammonium makes coniferous forests under conditions of continuous atmospheric nitrate deposition more prone for nitrate leaching than broadleaf forests. The presence of broadleaf trees in our mixed forest site was obviously not sufficient to prevent the observed increase in nitrate runoff.

For the further analysis of the results in N_{NO3} discharge runoff at our forest sites we have to consider, in addition to the tree species composition, the influence of the nitrogen atmospheric deposition and monsoon influence on the biogeochemical processes and retention efficiencies in each forest. During the summer in 2014 N_{NO3} river flux was correlated with discharge runoff at both sites. The lack of rainfall and low discharge lead to lower N_{NO3} in the river discharge. In general, there was lower N_{NO3} discharge than atmospheric N_{NO3} input. Although both forests acted as sinks for N_{NO3} driven by the failed monsoon rainfall in this year, still the mixed forest had 6 to 7 times higher N_{NO3} output into the stream water than the deciduous forest. Higher atmospheric nitrate deposition together with heavy rainfalls in the monsoon season in 2013 turned the mixed forest to a nitrate source with higher nitrate output than input while the broadleaf forest continued to serve as a nitrate sink despite of increased nitrate runoff.

4.3 Nitrate source identification

If we assume that 70% of the atmospheric nitrogen deposition occurs with rainfall (Lee 2000), we might expect in the first instance nitrogen from atmospheric nitrate deposition to be a major nitrate source in the river discharge. A comparison of the isotopic composition of nitrate input and output provides a first clue to check whether this assumption holds true. The isotopic composition of nitrate can, furthermore, provide information on biogeochemical nitrate transformation processes in forests like soil microbial nitrification and denitrification (Amberger and Schmidt 1987; Revesz et al. 1997; Silva et al. 2000). Our finding of $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}^{-1}$ values in stream water at the lower end or below the $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}^{-1}$ values in precipitation and of $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}^{-1}$ values in stream water consistently below the $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}^{-1}$ values in precipitation (Lee et al. 2008) indicates that directly leached nitrate from atmospheric deposition was mostly not the dominant

contributor to the stream water nitrate. Increases in stream water $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values towards $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values in atmospheric deposition on heavy monsoon rainfall events and only observed at the mixed forest site indicate only for the monsoon period and only for the mixed forest a major direct contribution of rainfall nitrate to the stream runoff nitrate (Durka et al. 1994; Crayosky et al. 1999; Curtis et al. 2011). In order to test this conclusion and to identify alternative sources for the nitrate in stream runoff we compare in Fig. 7 our stream runoff $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ data with $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ values as to be expected theoretically for microbial nitrification at these particular sites: $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ between -6 and +6 ‰ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ between -1.6 and +5.9 ‰ (Durka et al. 1994; Wassenaar 1995; Kendall and McDonnell 1998). For the deciduous forest site only very few stream runoff $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ and $\delta^{18}O_{NO3}$ data exclusively from the pre-monsoon season do not fall into the range of nitrate isotope abundances as to be expected for nitrate from microbial nitrification. Thus, for the deciduous forest site nitrate from soil microbial nitrification appears as major contributor to the stream runoff nitrate. For the mixed forest site a separation between pre-monsoon and monsoon sampling is essential. While stream runoff nitrate isotope data in the pre-monsoon season indicate exclusively soil microbial nitrification as nitrate source, in the monsoon season nitrate from two sources, microbial nitrification and direct leaching of atmospheric deposition, contribute to the stream runoff nitrate of the mixed forest site.



Fig. 7. Nitrate δ^{15} N and δ^{18} O values in stream water collected in 2013 plotted together with a calculated theoretical microbial nitrification (lined box) and denitrification (dotted line) in the investigated deciduous and mixed forest during growing season. Arrow represent the direction of the nitrate δ^{18} O isotope composition in atmospheric deposition (Lee et al. 2008).

4.4 Soil nitrate status

Higher nitrate concentrations as observed for the soil along depth profiles in parallel with higher soil pH values at the deciduous forest site indicate most probably higher microbial mineralization and nitrification rates (Gebauer and Schulze 1997; Pardo et al. 2007) or better retention capacities of atmospheric nitrate deposition due to a higher C:N ratio (Lee et al. 2016) than at the mixed forest site. Adams et al. (2004) have used C:N ratios to predict retention capacities of nitrate in the soil, and it has been related with nitrification rates as well. Pronounced depth gradients in ð¹⁵N of soil total nitrogen as reported by Lee et al. (2016) for the two sites of this investigation are a characteristic general feature of temperate forest soils (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1988; Gebauer and Schulze 1991; Gebauer et al. 1994; Högberg 1997; Pardo et al. 2007). They originate from isotope fractionations during microbial mineralization and nitrification and lead to decreasing soil total nitrogen concentrations with increasing depth in the profile. Based on this knowledge Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994) developed a conceptual model postulating that nitrate from microbial mineralization and nitrification follows in its isotopic composition the soil total nitrogen isotope gradient, i.e. nitrate from microbial nitrification in the organic layer is more depleted in ¹⁵N than nitrate from microbial nitrification in the mineral soil. The model furthermore postulated higher nitrate concentrations from more pronounced nitrification in the organic layer and less nitrification and thus, lower nitrate concentrations in the mineral soil. To our knowledge this conceptual model has never been confirmed under field conditions. Here we show that, indeed, $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ in soil solution follows the same depth gradient as $\delta^{15}N$ of soil total nitrogen. Furthermore, nitrate concentrations in the soil solution decreased with increasing depth indicating lower nitrification in the mineral soil than in the organic layer. This finding of characteristic nitrate isotope depth gradients could probably only be realized in a dry monsoon season as in 2014. Otherwise soil water movement due to frequent rainfall would have interfered with gradients built up by biogeochemical processes, like microbial nitrification.

5. Conclusion

Our results suggest that forest sub-catchments within the Soyang lake watershed in South Korea are under the influence of atmospheric nitrate deposition especially in periods of heavy monsoon rainfall. Although the main nitrate source in both forest river waters was microbial nitrification, the influence of wet atmospheric nitrate deposition played an important role especially in the mixed forest, where it directly contributed to the nitrate in river runoff and turned this forest to a nitrate source after the onset of a heavy monsoon season. The most probable reason for the lower

nitrate retention capacity of the mixed forest is the lower nitrate assimilation capacity of conifers compared to broadleaf trees.

Nonetheless, atmospheric nitrate deposition influenced both forests, because nitrate was the compound with the higher percentage in the discharge water than any other nitrogen component (Lee et al. 2016) and even though it was not a source for the river water at the deciduous forest most likely affected its internal nitrogen cycling.

Soil nitrate isotopes ($\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$) along soil depth profiles showed gradients corresponding to what has been observed for soil total nitrogen $\delta^{15}N$ by other studies (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1988; Gebauer and Schulze 1991; Gebauer et al. 1994; Högberg et al. 1996; Sah and Brumme 2003), but with an offset towards more negative $\delta^{15}N$ values. The $\delta^{15}N_{NO3}$ depth gradients of this investigation confirm for the first time under field conditions the conceptual model considerations by Nadelhoffer and Fry (1994) on the mechanisms and the isotope fractionation of microbial nitrogen mineralization and nitrification along depth gradients in forest soils.

6. Acknowledgements

This study was carried out as part of the International Research Training Group TERRECO – Complex TERRain and ECOlogical Heterogeneity (GRK 1565/1) funded by the DFG – Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft at the University of Bayreuth, Germany. We thank also to SENESCYT (National Secretary for Higher Education Science and Technology) from the Ecuadorian government and its scholarship program "Convocatoria Abierta 2015 - I Fase", that financed the data analysis period of S.P. for this research.

We appreciate the enormous support from the staff in the Department of Hydrology and the Laboratory of Isotopes Biogeochemistry at the University of Bayreuth in the sample analysis. We are especially thankful to Jutta Eckert, Christine Tiroch and Petra Eckert. An especial thank to Andreas Kolb, Department of Soils Physics University of Bayreuth, for his help with the equipment preparation before each field campaign.

7. References

Aber JD, Magill A, Mcnulty SG, et al (1995) Forest biogeochemistry and primary production altered by nitrogen saturation. Water, Air, Soil Pollut 85:1665–1670. doi: 10.1007/BF00477219

Aber J, Mcdowell W, Nadelhoffer K, et al (1998) Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems revisited hypotheses. Bioscience 48:921–934.

Aber JD, Goodale CL, Ollinger S V., et al (2003) Is Nitrogen deposition altering the nitrogen status of Northeastern forests? Bioscience 53:375. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0375:INDATN]2.0.CO;2

Aber JD, Nadelhoffer KJ, Steudler P, Melillo JM (1989) Nitrogen saturation in Northern forest ecosystems: Excess nitrogen from fossil fuel combustion may stress the biosphere. Bioscience 39:378–386. doi: 10.2307/1311067

Ackers P, White W, Perkins J, Harrison A (1978) Weirs and flumes for flow measurement, First. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, USA

Adams M, Ineson P, Binkley D, et al (2004) Soil functional responses to excess nitrogen inputs at global scale. Ambio 33:530–6. doi: 10.1639/0044-7447(2004)033[0530:sfrten]2.0.co;2

Amberger A, Schmidt HL (1987) Natürliche Isotopengehalte von Nitrat als Indikatoren für dessen Herkunft. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 51:2699–2705.

Aravena R, Robertson WD (1998) Use of multiple isotope tracers to evaluate denitrification in ground water: Study of nitrate from a large- flux septic system plume. Ground Water 36:975–982.

Ashfaq M, Trapp RJ (2009) Suppression of south Asian summer monsoon precipitation in the 21st century.

Bartsch S, Frei S, Ruidisch M, et al (2014) River-aquifer exchange fluxes under monsoonal climate conditions. J Hydrol 509:601–614.

Bartsch S, Peiffer S, Shope CL, et al (2013) Monsoonal-type climate or land-use management: Understanding their role in the mobilization of nitrate and DOC in a mountainous catchment. J Hydrol 507:149–162. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2013.10.012

Berendse F, Aerts R, Bobbink R (1993) Atmospheric nitrogen deposition and its impact on terrestrial ecosystems. In: Vos CC, Opdam P (eds) Landscape ecology of a stressed environment. Chapman & Hall, London, England, pp 104–121

Berger S, Jung E, Köpp J, et al (2013) Monsoon rains, drought periods and soil texture as drivers of soil N_2O fluxes - Soil drought turns East Asian temperate deciduous forest soils into temporary and unexpectedly persistent N_2O sinks. Soil Biol Biochem 57:273–281.

Bidartondo MI, Burghardt B, Gebauer G, et al (2004) Changing partners in the dark: isotopic and molecular evidence of ectomycorrhizal liaisons between forest orchids and trees. Proc R Soc Lond B 271: 1799-1806.

Boluwade A, Madramootoo C (2013) Modeling the impacts of spatial heterogeneity in the castor watershed on runoff, sediment, and phosphorus loss using SWAT: I. Impacts of spatial variability of soil properties. Water Air Soil Pollut. doi: 10.1007/s11270-013-1692-0

Bowen GJ (2008) The Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator. In: Water Isot. http://www.waterisotopes.org/2013. Accessed 1 Jan 2013

Bowen GJ, Wassenaar LI, Hobson KA (2005) Global application of stable hydrogen and oxygen isotopes to wildlife forensics. Oecologia 337–348.

Buchmann N, Schulze D, Gebauer G (1995)¹⁵N -ammonium and ¹⁵N-nitrate uptake of a 15year-old *Picea abies* Plantation. Oecologia 361–370.

Chang H, Kwon W (2007) Spatial variations of summer precipitation trends in South Korea , 1973 - 2005. Environ Res Lett 2:1–9.

Chanson H, Wang H (2013) V-Notch Weir Overflow : an Unsteady Calibration. In: Bung DB, Pagliara S (eds) Bundesanstalt für Wasserbau. Aachen, Germany, pp 161–168

Chanson H, Wang H (2012) Unsteady discharge calibration of Large V-Notch weir, First. The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

Crayosky TW, Dewalle DR, Seybert TA, Johnson TE (1999) Channel precipitation dynamics in a forested Pennsylvania headwater catchment (USA). Hydrol Process 13:1303–1314. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19990630)13:9<1303::AID-HYP815>3.0.CO;2-P

Curtis CJ, Evans CD, Goodale CL, Heaton THE (2011) What have stable isotope studies revealed about the nature and mechanisms of N saturation and nitrate leaching from semi-natural catchments? Ecosystems 14:1021–1037. doi: 10.1007/s10021-011-9461-7

Denk TRA, Mohn J, Decock C, et al. (2017) The nitrogen cycle: A review of isotope effects and isotope modeling approaches. Soil Biol Biochem 105:121–137. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.11.015

Driscoll CT, Whitall D, Aber J, et al (2003) Nitrogen pollution in the Northeastern United States : Sources , effects , and management options. Bioscience 53:357–374.

Duan L, Yu Q, Zhang Q, et al (2016) Acid deposition in Asia: Emissions, deposition, and ecosystem effects. Atmos Environ 146:55–69. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.07.018

Durka W, Schulze E-D, Gebauer G, Voerkelius S (1994) Effects of forest decline on uptake and leaching of deposite nitrate determined from ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O measurementes. Nature 372:764–767.

El-Ansary MY, Awad MA, Nassar AA, Farag AA (2010) Calibration of three common flow measurement devices for open channels. Misr J Agric Eng 27:151–169.

Emmett BA, Kjønaas OJ, Gundersen P, et al. (1998) Natural abundance of ¹⁵N in forests across a nitrogen deposition gradient. For Ecol Manage 101:9–18. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(97)00121-7

FAO IUSS Working Group WRB (2014) World reference base for soil resources: International soil classification system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. FAO

Friedland AJ, Gregory RA, Karenlampi L, Johnson AH (1984) Winter damage to foliage as a factor in red spruce decline. Can J For Res 963–965.

Galloway JN, Aber JD, Erisman JW, et al (2003) The nitrogen cascade. Bioscience 53:341.

Galloway JN, Schlesinger WH, Clark CM, et al (2014) Biogeochemical cycles. In: Melillo JM, Richmond TC, Yohe GW (eds) Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third

National Climate Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, pp 350–368

Garten CT, Van Miegroet H (1994) Relationships between soil nitrogen dynamics and natural ¹⁵N abundance in plant foliage from Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Can J For Res 24:1636–1645.

Gebauer G, Giesemann A, Schulze ED, Jäger HJ (1994) Isotope ratios and concentrations of sulfur and nitrogen in needles and soils of *Picea abies* stands as influenced by atmospheric deposition of sulfur and nitrogen compounds. Plant Soil 164:267–281.

Gebauer G, Preiss K, Gebauer AC (2016) Partial mycoheterotrophy is more widespread among orchids than previously assumed. New Phytol 211:11–15.

Gebauer G, Schulze E-D (1997) Nitrate nutrition of central European Forest trees. In: Rennenberg H, Eschrich W, Ziegler H (eds) Trees - Contributions to Modern Tree Physiology. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, pp 273–291

Gebauer G, Schulze ED (1991) Carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios in different compartments of a healthy and dec- lining *Picea abies* forest in the Fichtelgebirge, N.E. Bavaria. Oecologia 87:198–207.

Gebauer G, Zeller B, Schmidt G, et al (2000) The fate of ¹⁵N-labelled nitrogen inputs to coniferous and broadleaf forests. In: Schulze ED (ed) Ecological Studies No. 142, Carbon and Nitrogen Cycling in European Forest Ecosystems. Springer, pp 144–170

Ho C, Lee J, Ahn M, Lee H (2003) A sudden change in summer rainfall characteristics in Korea during the late 1970s. Int J Climatol 23:117–128.

Högberg P (1997) ð¹⁵N natural abundance in soil – plant systems. New Phytol 137:179–203.

Högberg P, Högbom L, Schinkel H, et al (1996) ¹⁵N Abundance of Surface Soils, Roots and Mycorrhizas in Profiles of European Forest Soils. Oecologia 108:207–214. doi: 10.1007/BF00334643

Hong YM, Lee BK, Park KJ, et al (2002) Atmospheric nitrogen and sulfur containing compounds for three sites of South Korea. Atmos Environ 36:3485–3494.

Huber B, Bernasconi SM, Luster J, Pannatier EG (2011) A new isolation procedure of nitrate from freshwater for nitrogen and oxygen isotope analysis. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 25:3056–3062.

Jeong JJ, Bartsch S, Fleckenstein JH, et al (2012) Differential storm responses of dissolved and particulate organic carbon in a mountainous headwater stream, investigated by high-frequency, in situ optical measurements. J Geophys Res Biogeosciences 117:1–13. doi: 10.1029/2012JG001999

Kaneyasu N (1995) Seasonal variation in the chemical composition of atmospheric aerosols and gaseous species in Sapporo, Japan. Atmos Environ 29:1559–1568.

Kendall C (1998) Tracing nitrogen sources and cycling in catchments. In: Kendall C, McDonnell J (eds) Isotope Tracers in Catchment Hydrology, First. Elsevier, Oxford, UK,

Kendall C, McDonnell J (1998) Isotopes Tracers in Catchment Hydrology.

Kim G, Chung S, Lee C (2007) Water quality of runoff from agricultural-forestry watersheds in

the Geum River Basin, Korea. Environ Monit Assess 134:441–452.

Kim M, Lee W, Kurz W, et al (2017) Estimating carbon dynamics in forest carbon pools under IPCC standards in South Korea using CBM-CFS3. iForest - Biogeosciences For 10:83–92. doi: 10.3832/ifor2040-009

Kim Y, Kang B, Adams JM (2012) Opposite trends in summer precipitation in South and North Korea. Int J Climatol 32:2311–2319. doi: 10.1002/joc.3392

Korea Forest Service (2014) Lessons learned from the Republic of Korea's National Reforestation Programme. Seoul, South Korea

Korean Forest Research Institute (2013) Distribution of main tree species in South Korea. http://book.nifos.go.kr/ebook/Links/kfri/151027151648704_6_self. ISBN 978-89-8176-963-5.

Korean Forest Service (2013) Korean Forest at a Glance 2013. Seoul, South Korea

Kulin G, Compton PA (1975) Guide to Methods and Standards for the Measurement of Water Flow, First. Institute for basic Standars U.S Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.

Lee BK, Hong SH, Lee DS (2000) Chemical composition of precipitation and wet deposition of major ions on the Korean peninsula. Atmos Environ 34:563–575.

Lee DK (2015) Restoration of degraded forests through social movements : accomplishing forest transition. In: People, Land Use and Forests in the ASEAN Region: Policy Challenges in the 21st Century. Nay Pyi Taw, Myanmar, p 53

Lee KS, Bong YS, Lee D, et al (2008) Tracing the sources of nitrate in the Han River watershed in Korea, using ${}^{15}N_{NO3}$ and ${}^{18}O_{NO3}$ values. Sci Total Environ 395:117–124.

Lee KS, Lee DS, Lim SS, et al. (2012) Nitrogen isotope ratios of dissolved organic nitrogen in wet precipitation in a metropolis surrounded by agricultural areas in southern Korea. Agric Ecosyst Environ 159:161–169. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.07.010

Lee MH, Payeur-Poirier JL, Park JH, Matzner E (2016) Variability in runoff fluxes of dissolved and particulate carbon and nitrogen from two watersheds of different tree species during intense storm events. Biogeosciences 13:5421–5432. doi: 10.5194/bg-13-5421-2016

Lee YH (2000) Estimation of nitrogen deposition in South Korea. Seoul National University

Lee YH, Park TS, Youn YC, et al. (1997) History of Korean Forestry Policy. Seoul, South Korea

Liu X, Duan L, Mo J, et al. (2011) Nitrogen deposition and its ecological impact in China: An overview. Environ Pollut 159:2251–2264. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2010.08.002

Lovett GM, Reiners WA, Olson RK (1982) Cloud droplet deposition in subalpine balsam fir forest hydrological and chemical inputs. Science (80-) 218:1303–1304.

Lovett GM, Weathers KC, Arthur MA (2002) Control of nitrogen loss from forested watersheds by soil carbon:Nitrogen ratio and tree species composition. Ecosystems 5:712–718. doi: 10.1007/s10021-002-0153-1

Lovett GM, Weathers KC, Sobczak W V, et al (2000) Nitrogen Saturation and Retention in Forested Watersheds of the Catskill Mountains, New York. Ecol Appl 10:73–84.

Lü C, Tian H (2007) Spatial and temporal patterns of nitrogen deposition in China: Synthesis of observational data. J Geophys Res Atmos 112:1–10. doi: 10.1029/2006JD007990

MAFRA (2013) Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. http://english.mafra.go.kr/main.jsp.

Mayer B, Bollwerk SM, Mansfeldt T, et al (2001) The oxygen isotope composition of nitrate generated by nitrification in acid forest floors. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 65:2743–2756. doi: 10.1016/S0016-7037(01)00612-3

Mengis M, Walther U, Bernasconi SM, Wehrli B (2001) Limitations of using δ^{18} O for the source identification of nitrate in agricultural soils. Environ Sci Technol 35:1840–1844. doi: 10.1021/es0001815

Nadelhoffer KJ, Fry B (1988) Controls on natural nitrogen-15 andcCarbon-13 abundances in forest soil organic matter. Soil Sci Soc Am J 52:1633. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1988.03615995005200060024x

Nadelhoffer KJ, Fry B (1994) Nitrogen Isotope studies in forest ecosystems. In: Lajtha K, Michener RH (eds) Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science, 1st edn. pp 22–44

Nihlgard B (1985) The ammonium hypothesis-an additional explanation to the forest decline in Europe. Ambio 14:2–8.

Pan YP, Wang YS, Tang GQ, Wu D (2012) Wet and dry deposition of atmospheric nitrogen at ten sites in Northern China. Atmos Chem Phys 12:6515–6535. doi: 10.5194/acp-12-6515-2012

Pardo LH, Hemond HF, Montoya JP, Pett-Ridge J (2007) Natural abundance ¹⁵N in soil and litter across a nitrate-output gradient in New Hampshire. For Ecol Manage 251:217–230. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.047

Radatz TF, Thompson AM, Madison FW (2013) Soil moisture and rainfall intensity thresholds for runoff generation in southwestern Wisconsin agricultural watersheds. Hydrol Process 27:3521–3534. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9460

Rajeevan M, Bhate J, Jaswal AK (2008) Analysis of variability and trends of extreme rainfall events over India using 104 years of gridded daily rainfall data. Geophys Res Lett 35:1–6.

Rascher CM, Driscoll CT, Peters NE (1987) Concentration and flux of solutes from snow and forest floor during snowmelt in the West-Central Adirondack region of New York. Biogeochemistry 3:209–224.

Reuss JO, Johnson DW (1986) Acid deposition and the acidification of soils and waters. Ecol Stud 59:1–119. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-8536-1

Revesz K, Bohlke JK, Toshinari T (1997) Determination of δ^{18} O and δ^{15} N in nitrate. Anal Chem 69:4375–4380.

Sah SP, Brumme R (2003) Natural ¹⁵N abundance in two nitrogen saturated forest ecosystems at Solling, Germany. J For Sci 49:515–522. doi: 10.1007/s004420050260

Shimohara T, Oishi O, Utsunomiya A, et al (2001) Characterization of atmospheric air pollutants at two sites in northern Kyushu, Japan - Chemical form, and chemical reaction. Atmos Environ 35:667–681.

Shope CL (2016) Disentangling event-scale hydrologic flow partitioning in mountains of the Korean Peninsula under extreme precipitation. J Hydrol 538:399–415. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.04.050

Silva SR, Kendall C, Wilkison DH, et al. (2000) A new method for collection of nitrate from fresh water and the analysis of nitrogen and oxygen isotope ratios. J Hydrol 228:22–36.

Smith WH, Bormann FH, Likens GE (1968) Response to chemoautotrophic nitrifiers to forest cutting. Soil Sci 106:471–473.

Sun J, Qin D, Mayewski P a., et al (1998) Soluble species in aerosol and snow and their relationship at Glacier 1, Tien Shan, China. J Geophys Res 103:28021.

Vet R, Artz RS, Carou S, et al (2013) A global assessment of precipitation chemistry and deposition of sulfur, nitrogen, sea salt, base cations, organic acids, acidity and pH, and phosphorus. Atmos Environ 93:3–100.

Vitousek PM, Aber JD, Howarth RW, et al. (1997) Technical Report: Alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecol Appl 7:737–750. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[0737:HAOTGN]2.0.CO;2

Vitousek PM, Gosz JR, Grier CC, et al (1979) Nitrate losses from disturbed ecosystems. Science (80-) 204:469–474.

Wakamatsu S, Utsunomiya A, Han JS, et al (1996) Seasonal variation in atmospheric aerosols concentration covering Northern Kyushu, Japan and Seoul, Korea. Atmos Environ 30:2343–2354.

WAMIS Water resources management information system. In: web. http://wamis.go.kr/ENG/#.

Wang B, Ding Q, Jhun J (2006) Trends in Seoul (1778 – 2004) summer precipitation. Geophys Res Lett 33:1–5.

Wassenaar LI (1995) Evaluation of the origin and fate of nitrate in the Abbotsford Aquifer using isotopes of ¹⁵N and ¹⁸O in NO₃⁻. Appl Geochemistry, 1995 10:391–405.

Yu J, Ning K, Li Y, et al (2014) Wet and dry atmospheric depositions of inorganic nitrogen during plant growing season in the coastal zone of Yellow River Delta. Sci World J. doi: 10.1155/2014/949213

Chapter 4

Relationship between nitrogen isotope ratios of NO₃⁻ and N₂O in vertical porewater profiles through a polluted rain-fed peat bog (Ore Mts., Central Europe)

Martin Novak^{a*}, Silvia Parra-Suarez^b, Gerhard Gebauer^b, Michael Thoma^b, Frantisek Buzek^a, Bohuslava Cejkova^a, Ivana Jackova^a, Marketa Stepanova^a, Eva Prechova^a, Jan Curik^a, Frantisek Veselovsky^c, Ivana Valkova^a

^aCzech Geological Survey, Department of Environmental Geochemistry and Biogeochemistry, Geologicka 6, 152 00 Prague 5, Czech Republic

^bUniversity of Bayreuth, BayCEER – Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry, Bayreuth, Germany

^cCzech Geological Survey, Department of Rock Geochemistry, Geologicka 6, 152 00 Prague 5, Czech Republic

*Corresponding author. E-mail address: martin.novak@geology.cz

(Submitted in Soil Biology and Biogeochemistry, 11.01.2018)

Abstract

Assessments of N₂O production and consumption in waterlogged soils are needed for the formulation of efficient mitigation strategies. We report a combination of δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values along vertical porewater profiles in an ombrotrophic, high-elevation peat bog in the Czech Republic (Central Europe). Our objective was to use natural-abundance isotopes to distinguish between N₂O diffusion in pore water, N₂O production from NO₃⁻ via denitrification, and N₂O consumption via further reduction to N₂, accompanied by a loss of warming potential. Atmospheric N input into the peat bog was isotopically fingerprinted by monthly monitoring of wet deposition between January 2016 and May 2017. Runoff export was analyzed over the same period of time. Nitrate-N in runoff was isotopically heavier than NO3-N in atmospheric deposition (mean δ^{15} N values of -2.7 and -6.3 ‰, respectively), indicating export of secondary, organically cycled, residual nitrate. Nitrate-N in pore water was identical to atmospheric deposition at a depth of 10-20 cm, isotopically very light at a depth of 30 cm (δ^{15} N of -9.5 ‰), and identical to runoff at a depth of 60 cm. Nitrous oxide concentrations in the atmosphere were nearly 20 % higher than in peat pore water gas, suggesting that the wetland served as a sink for air-borne N₂O, rather than a N₂O source. Within the vertical porewater profile, nearly constant N₂O concentrations contrasted with a clear-cut shift toward higher δ^{15} N-N₂O value upcore (from -5.0 to 2 %). In the 60-30 cm depth interval, there was a strong negative correlation between the δ^{15} N values of nitrate and nitrous oxide. Because reduction of NO₃⁻ to N₂O is associated with an isotope fractionation toward isotopically lighter N in the product, the found negative N isotope correlation could not be explained by a single denitrification step. We suggest that the relatively high- δ^{15} N values of nitrate in the deepest peat layer reflected higher rates of NO₃⁻ reduction, compared to the 30-cm depth, and that the progressively heavier N₂O-N upcore corresponded to residual N2O following partial reduction to N2, along with an increasing proportion of atmospheric N_2O in the pore water.

Keywords: nitrate, nitrous oxide, isotopes, peat bog, Sphagnum, denitrification

1. Introduction

Since the beginning of the Industrial Revolution, tropospheric concentrations of nitrous oxide (N_2O) , the third most important greenhouse, have increased by nearly 20 % (Heil et al., 2014). Soils contribute more than 50 % of global N₂O emissions (IPCC, 2014). Freshwater wetlands store as much as 16 % of total soil nitrogen (Wieder and Vitt, 2006), and minerotrophic fens substantially contribute to biogenic N2O emissions (Goldberg et al., 2010). In the biosphere, N_2O is mainly produced by nitrification and denitrification (Reddy et al., 1989, Wrage et al., 2001, Zhu et al., 2013). During denitrification, the more widespread of these two processes, nitrate (NO₃⁻) or nitrite (NO₂⁻) are reduced to NO, N₂O and N₂ (Tieddje, 1988). The two resulting greenhouse gases, NO and N₂O, differ in their atmospheric lifetime; whereas NO is destroyed within hours after emission, the lifetime of N₂O in the atmosphere exceeds 100 years (Frolking et al., 2011). Prior to emission from a wet soil, however, N₂O can be rapidly reduced to N₂, a gas with no warming potential (Palmer et al., 2016). The balance between N₂O production, emission and biological cycling in the soil is controlled by the availability of the NO_3^- substrate and carbon skeletons as electron donors, enzymatic activity of the denitrifying community, and diffusion conditions (Morley and Baggs, 2010, Hill et al., 2016, Berger et al., 2017). Anoxic conditions are needed for microbial respiratory NO₃⁻ reduction (Knowles, 1982). In dry conditions, which occur more frequently in an era of climatic warming, soils can switch from being an N_2O source to an N₂O sink (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007, Goldberg and Gebauer, 2009). It is currently debated to what extent scavenging of air-borne N₂O by soil microorganisms generates a major flux on an annual basis, but this research avenue can clearly contribute to clarifying the current imbalance in global N₂O budgets (Billings, 2008). The nearly 30 % discrepancy between the known global N₂O sources and sinks could be partly explained by an underestimation of N₂O sinks in terrestrial ecosystems (Limpens et al., 2006).

A quantitative assessment of N₂O production and consumption rates in soils under a variety of environmental conditions is needed for efficient N₂O mitigation strategies (Francez et al., 2011, Tauchnitz et al., 2015, Manninen et al., 2016). Sources and sinks of various species of reactive nitrogen (N_r) in soils can be localized, and sometimes also quantified, by measurements of $^{15}N/^{14}N$ isotope ratios (Nadelhoffer and Fry, 1988). Isotope composition of N in both natural-abundance, and ^{15}N -tracer studies, is expressed in the $\delta^{15}N$ notation (*see* Methods section for definition). Several studies have isotopically fingerprinted N pools and

fluxes in wetlands (Bragazza et al., 2005, Inglett et al., 2007, Esmeijer-Liu et al., 2012). In many developed countries, atmospheric deposition of Nr onto wetlands is dominated by anthropogenic nitrate and anthropogenic ammonium (NH₄⁺). Nitrate, originating mainly from traffic and industry, usually contains isotopically heavier N, compared to predominantly agricultural ammonium (Harrison et al., 2000; Felix et al., 2015, 2017). Nitrate N can be both isotopically heavier and lighter than atmospheric N2 that serves as a standard for mass spectrometry ($\delta^{15}N_{N2} = 0.0$ ‰). $\delta^{15}N$ values of ammonium are usually negative (Bauer et al., 2000). In ombrotrophic (rain-fed) peat bogs, the δ^{15} N value of living *Sphagnum* is sometimes shifted relative to mass-weighted δ^{15} N value of rainfall, indicating microbial N-fixation (Vile et al., 2014, Novak et al., 2016). Vertical peat profiles often exhibit a downcore shift to isotopically heavier N (*i.e.*, to higher δ^{15} N values), resulting from preferential mineralization and export of the light isotope ¹⁴N from deeper and older peat layers (Novak et al., 1999, 2015, Kohzu et al., 2003). Within-bog N cycling and/or N₂O production have been isotopically studied by ¹⁵N additions via soluble N salts or ¹⁵N₂ gas (Li and Vitt 1997; Franzes and Loiseau 1999; Williams et al. 1999, Nordbakken et al. 2003; Blodau et al. 2006; Xing et al. 2011; Fritz et al. 2014; Zajac and Blodau 2016). Production of N₂O by denitrification is characterized by a large N-isotope shift toward isotopically lighter product (Goldberg et al., 2008). The residual NO₃⁻-N is progressively enriched in the heavier isotope ¹⁵N. Currently available methodologies do not permit direct measurements of the $\delta^{15}N$ signature of N₂O emitted from waterlogged and aerated/rewetted soils because extremely long sampling times would be required. Instead, recent studies have provided insights into N₂O production/consumption by measuring δ^{15} N values of N₂O dissolved in peat bog porewater (Goldberg et al., 2008, 2010, Novak et al., 2015). None of these studies simultaneously analyzed N isotope composition of co-existing NO₃⁻ and N₂O in the porewater. Yet, complementary data from such an isotope analysis could help to distinguish between N₂O production from NO₃⁻ by denitrification, N₂O consumption by reduction to N₂, and scavenging of atmospheric N₂O by soil microorganisms along a concentration gradient. Our current study was designed to fill this gap.

We report vertical trends in δ^{15} N values of porewater NO₃⁻ and N₂O in a mountain-top peat bog situated in an industrial part of the Czech Republic. Nitrogen isotope data were collected from six different peat depths using a well-replicated design (n = 6 per depth). Vertical trends in NO₃⁻ and N₂O concentrations in peat porewater were also measured. Additionally, we isotopically fingerprinted N_r of atmospheric deposition in the growing and dormant season, and determined the δ^{15} N value of air-borne N₂O. Porewater dynamics were studied by analyzing the isotope composition of oxygen (δ^{18} O-H₂O). Our objective was to determine whether the cycling of both co-existing N species in porewater, NO₃⁻ and N₂O, was coupled through denitrification, or de-coupled as a result of microbial scavenging of atmospheric N₂O. We hypothesized that coupling of the two coexisting N species would be manifested by a correlation in their δ^{15} N values.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study site

The intact, ombrotrophic peat bog Brumiste (BR; 17 ha; Fig. 1; Tab. 1) is located on a mountain plateau of the Ore Mts. (Erzgebirge, Krusne hory) in the northwestern Czech Republic, Central Europe. The bog's elevation is 930 m, and long-term annual precipitation averages 1080 mm. The bedrock is formed by two-mica granite, the peat depth is 2 m, and the bog's age is estimated to be less than 4,000 years (Dohnal, 1965). The unforested southern part of the bog is nearly 100 % Sphagnum covered, with a lawn habitat predominating over hummock/hollows microtopography. The wettest segment with a 2-ha permanent pond is situated in the center, separated from the open southern part by dense, 2.5m high dwarf-pine dominated vegetation. The area is drained by a small stream (< 0.3 L s^{-1}) to the south (Fig. 1b). The entire wetland is surrounded by mature stands of Norway spruce which were moderately affected by acid rain (ca. 1970-1995), manifested by crown thinning and Mg deficiency. The bog is located 30 km upwind from a cluster of 11 coal-burning power plants that were a major source of acidifying SO₂ and NO_x gases. Desulphurization units in these power plants were installed between 1994 and 1996, and emissions of reactive sulfur in the Czech Republic sharply decreased thereafter. Emissions of reactive N also decreased, primarily a result of lower electricity output, accompanying a nation-wide departure from heavy industry following the demise of Communism in 1989. In the past, BR was affected also by transboundary air pollution, originating from obsolete Soviet-style coalburning power stations in southeastern Germany and southern Poland.

Chemistry of BR surface bog water is given in Tab. 2, bog water pH fluctuates around 4.2. Peat density at BR is between 0.2 and 0.6 g cm⁻³, increasing downcore; ash content is less than 4 wt. %. Bohdalkova et al. (2013) measured methane emissions from BR. During the growing season, methane emissions reached 260 mg m⁻². Novak et al. (2015) studied N cycling at VJ, a similar rain-fed bog situated 4 km west of BR, showing that elevated N deposition in the peak acid rain years caused vertical mobility of buried N, its leaching and export from the peat profile (*cf.*, Lamers et al., 2000).



Fig. 1. Study site location. (a) The Brumiste Bog (BR) is situated 20 km west of the "Black Triangle" region near the state border between the Czech Republic, Poland and Germany where, due to industrial acid rain, spruce died back on a territory of 1000 km² between 1975-1996. (b) The N isotope study was conducted in a *Sphagnum* lawn extending over the southern tip of BR (large circle); small solid circles mark sites where water table level was monitored by Bohdalkova et al. (2013). Water table data are given in Fig. 7.

Table 1	. Stud	y site	charac	teristics.
---------	--------	--------	--------	------------

Site	Brumiste (BR), Czech Republic
Location	50°24′28N, 12°36′40E
Elevation (m a.s.l.)	930
Annual precipitation (mm)	1080
Mean annual temperature	
(°C)	04. Mai
Bedrock	granite
Bog area (ha)	17
Peat depth (cm)	200
Vegetation	Sphagnum fallax, Sphagnum papillosum,
	Polytrichum commune, Eriophorum
	angustifolium,
	Carex nigra

Site	Mg^{2+} mg L ⁻¹	Ca^{2+} mg L ⁻¹	Na^+ mg L^{-1}	\mathbf{K}^+ mg \mathbf{L}^{-1}	Fe _{tot} mg L ⁻¹	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$ mg \mathbf{L}^{-1}	$\mathbf{NO_3}^-$ mg L ⁻¹	SO_4^{2-} mg L ⁻¹	TOC mg L ⁻¹	рН
BR	227 ± 158	722 ± 602	862 ± 374	741 ± 774	591 ± 849	$\begin{array}{c} 0.04 \hspace{0.1cm} \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \ \pm \\ 0.3 \end{array}$	5.9 ± 6.2	12.3 ± 5.2	4.2 ± 0.2

Table 2. Chemistry of Brumiste (BR) bog water, number of samples n = 8 (Bohdalkova et al., 2013).

2.2. Sampling

Three vertical peat cores, 10-cm in diameter, 40-cm long, were collected in the summer of 2014 near the stream draining BR (Fig. 1b). The peat cores were used to determine N concentrations in 2-cm thick vertical peat sections. Monthly monitoring of N concentration and isotope composition in atmospheric deposition and runoff started in January 2016 and ended in May 2017. Three polyethylene (PE) rain collectors, 12-cm in diameter, placed 1.5 m above bog surface, were used to collect open-area precipitation (bulk deposition). The rain collectors were installed in a triangle, five meters apart. For the winter, the rain collectors were replaced with buckets, 35-cm in diameter, to collect snow. Spruce canopy throughfall was collected also by three rain collectors in a 5 x 5 x 5 m arrangement. A 1-L sample of surface runoff was taken once a month. All precipitation and runoff samples were taken to the laboratory, and kept at 4 $^{\circ}$ C. Bog porewater and gas samples for N and O isotope analysis were taken in the summer of 2017, 40-200 m from the peat coring and rainfall sampling sites.

N₂O gas samplers

On May 29, 2017, six gas-sampler cylinders were installed in a circle at distances between 2.5 and 3 m to collect soil gas from the peat bog along a depth gradient (Fig. 10 in the Chapter 1: Extended Summary). Each sampler consisted of a 60 cm long PVC cylinder divided in six compartments, 10 cm in length (ID 70 mm; OD 79 mm). Each compartment was perforated by drill holes (diameter of 5 mm) in a 2.5-cm wide band in its center. In the interior of each compartment, a 5 m highly gas-permeable silicone tube collected dissolved gas from each depth (10-60 cm). Each silicone tube was connected to gas-impermeable polyurethane (PUR) tubing that reached the soil surface (ID 1.8 mm; OD 3 mm). At the end of each PUR tube, a plastic stopcock (Luer Lock, Value Plastics, Fort Collins, CO, USA)

was used to connect the device to glass sample storage bottles. Both ends of the main cylinder were sealed. For more details *see* Goldberg et al. (2008).

NO_3^- water samplers

Thirty six suction ceramic cups were installed to collect water samples from the peat bog at six different depths (10-60 cm). Six cups were located at a 1-m distance from each gas sampler (Fig. 10, Chapter 1: Extended Summary). The first cup was installed 10 cm below bog surface, the second cup 20 cm below bog surface, *etc.*, until reaching the 60 cm depth. Each cup was made of P80 ceramic material (porosity 48 vol. %, maximum pore size 1µm; length 7 cm; ID 10 mm; OD 19 mm; CeramTec GmbH, Marktredwitz, Germany) with a PVC tube long enough to reach the required peat depth. Inside the PVC tube, a silicone tube connected the ceramic cup with 2-L plastic bottles placed on the soil surface where the sample was collected. The top of the suction cup was sealed. To collect samples, all suction cups were connected to a vacuum device which allowed the solution from each cup to be transported by underpressure to the bottles. The equipment was linked to a computer control system (Electronic Technical Center, University of Bayreuth), which kept a nearly constant underpressure (HS260P-30 Black Swan, Hanover Solar GmbH, Germany). For more details *see* Göttlein et al. (1996), Göttlein and Matzner (1997).

N₂O gas sampling

Peat porewater gas samples were taken on June 22th, 2017, 24 days after gas sampler installation. Gas samples were collected through the PUR tube connected in one end to an evacuated 100-mL glass bottle and in the other end to an air bag filled with N_2 gas at ambient pressure. The gas sample volume extracted from the compartments at different depths was replaced by N_2 from the attached bag. Ambient air samples (n = 6) were collected on the same sampling date approximately 2 m above the moss surface. Before the sampling, the glass bottles were first flushed with N_2 and then evacuated with a vacuum pump (KNF Neuberger N026.3AN.18, Freiburg, Germany). The N₂O sampling day was preceded by a short very dry period that made the water table drawdown to reach 15 cm below the surface.

The vacuum device was activated on June 19, 2017, and operated continuously for the next five days. A minimum volume of 1 L was needed for the laboratory analysis of each porewater sample, therefore we had to wait one day more after N₂O sampling until the volume of each porewater sample became sufficient. The above mentioned dry period influenced the porewater sampling, making the suction pressure rise up to levels normally used to extract water from a 2-m depth (200 to 230 hPa). Between the N₂O and NO₃⁻ porewater sampling days (*i.e.*, from June 22 to June 23), a storm event turned the peat bog from superficially dry to water-saturated. The water table drawdown after the storm reached about 5 cm below surface. In all, 36 N₂O and 36 NO₃⁻ samples were collected from six replicates at six different depths.

2.3. Analysis

Substrate from each 2-cm peat core segment was dried at 60 °C and homogenized. A 10-mg aliquot of each sample was placed in a tin capsule and analyzed for N concentration in a Fisons 1108 Elemental Analyzer. The combustion temperature was 1040 °C, and the reproducibility of the N concentration analysis was 1.0 %. Samples of atmospheric deposition and runoff were analyzed for NH₄⁺ concentrations by spectrophotometry (Perkin-Elmer 200 Hitachi, 2 SD of 4.4 %), and for NO₃⁻ concentrations by liquid chromatography (Knauer 1000, 2 SD of 3.8 %). For N isotope analysis, 500 mL of atmospheric deposition or peat porewater were concentrated on Dowex 50W and Dowex 1 x cation and anion exchange resins, and separated into NH_4^+ and NO_3^- . Solution aliquots were made alkaline with MgO and steam-distilled into a small excess of diluted H₂SO₄ (Bremner, 1965). Prior to distillation, Devardas alloy was added for NO3⁻ analysis. The resulting ammonium sulfate was dried and analyzed for N isotope ratios. The Fissons 1108 analyzer was connected to a Finnigan MAT 251 mass spectrometer (Bremen, Germany) to measure the N isotope composition. The ${}^{15}N/{}^{14}N$ isotope ratios were expressed in the $\delta^{15}N$ notation as a relative ‰ deviation from an agreed-on standard (atmospheric N₂). The 2 SD reproducibility for N isotopes in water was 0.2 %.

The porewater gas samples from different peat depths were analyzed for N_2O concentration and N isotope abundance ratios. We used a gas chromatograph-isotope ratio mass spectrometer coupling with a pre-GC concentration device (PreCon-GC-IRMS) described by Brand (1995; Delta V plus, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany; GC 5890 series II, Hewlett-Packard, Wilmington, USA; Pre-Con Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany). As a laboratory standard, N₂O gas (99.997 %, Reißner, Lichtenfels, Germany) was used, previously calibrated with N₂ and N₂O reference gas. The internal reproducibility of the system was typically \pm 0.15 ‰. N₂O concentrations were calculated from the volume of the gas samples and the peak area on m/z 44 using a calibration curve. For further details *see* Goldberg et al. (2008) and Berger et al. (2013).

Laser absorption spectroscopy was used for the determination of oxygen stable isotope ratios in peat pore water. Oxygen isotope analyses of H₂O were performed by off-axis integrated cavity output spectroscopy (OA-ICOS; Liquid Water Isotope Analyser, Model 3000, LGR Inc., Mountain View, Ca, U.S.A.). One μ L of water was injected through a port heated to 80°C. The vapour was transported into a pre-evacuated cavity and analyzed for the ¹⁸O/¹⁶O ratio. The ¹⁸O/¹⁶O isotope ratios were expressed in the δ^{18} O notation as a relative ‰ deviation from an agreed-on standard (V-SMOW). The 2 SD reproducibility for O isotopes in water samples was 0.3 ‰.

Statistical analysis was performed using the R software, version 3.4.3 (R Core Team, 2017). The results for vertically stratified variables are based on one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) complemented by Tukey's multiple comparison. Time-series of input/output δ^{15} N values were analyzed using two-way ANOVA adjusted for possible effect of time and possible effect of multiple comparisons. The correlation coefficient between δ^{15} N values of NO₃⁻ and N₂O was calculated by the least squares method, and the related *p*-value was based on a one-sided test toward negative correlation.

3. Results

3.1. Atmospheric input and runoff of reactive nitrogen

Maximum NO₃⁻ concentrations in open-area precipitation and runoff were 7.9 and 8.0 mg L⁻¹, respectively; both recorded in mid-spring, about one month after the snowmelt (Tab. 3). The mean NO₃⁻ concentrations in open-area precipitation and runoff were similar $(1.9 \pm 0.6$
	Оре	ecipitation		throughfall		Runoff						
Sampling	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	ð ¹⁵ N	NO ₃ -	ð ¹⁵ N	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	ð ¹⁵ N	NO ₃ -	ð ¹⁵ N	$\mathbf{NH_4}^+$	ð ¹⁵ N	NO ₃	
date	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	(‰)	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	(‰)	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	(%)	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	(‰)	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	(‰)	conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	ð ¹⁵ N (‰)
January 25,												
2016	1.58	-9.1	3.99	-6.7								
February 9,												
2016	0.61	-7.8	3.43	-2.7								
March 9, 2016	0.71	-9.2	0.40	-7.3					0.11	0.5	0.40	-1.2
April 6, 2016	1.62	-1.9	3.10	-2.6					0.08	-3.0	0.21	-4.6
May 10, 2016	1.65	-2.4	0.44	-7.8					0.31	0.3	0.44	-2.4
June 9, 2016	0.06		0.00	-6.3					0.28	0.1	0.89	-2.9
July 13, 2016	0.18		0.00	0.8					0.31	0.6	0.00	0.7
August 4,												
2016	0.81	-3.8	0.00	-6.7					0.05	-5.1	0.33	-3.9
September 6,												
2016	0.51	-5.9	0.44	-7.8					0.05	0-1	0.00	-2.5
October 6,												
2016	0.05	-3.1	0.44						0.05	-8.4	0.00	-8.3
November 7,												
2016	0.15	-4.2	0.00	-7.4					0.13	0.2	0.00	-1.6
December 6,	0.17	4.0	0.00	7.2					0.12	2.0	0.00	0.6
2016 January 0	0.17	-4.9	0.00	-7.3					0.12	3.0	0.00	-0.6
January 9, 2017	0.30	80	2 21	8.0	0.13	4.1	0.00	17				
Z017 February 8	0.50	-0.9	2.21	-0.9	0.15	-4.1	0.00	-4./				
2017	0.45	-78	3 54	-51	0.09	-8.6	3 99	-4 8	0.15	0.1	0 44	-23
2017	0.15	7.0	5.51	-	0.09	0.0	5.77	1.0	0.15	0.1	0.11	2.5
March 8, 2017	0.36	-15.5	3.10	11.7	0.33	-8.2	3.99	-3.7	0.09	-9.2	0.54	-2.4
April 6, 2017	1.43	-8.3	7.9	-6.3	0.18	-9.5	0.00	-8.1	0.40	- 11.1	0.76	-7.0
May 15, 2017						-6.6	9.74	-4.0	0.24	-3.4	0.97	0.6

Table 3. Concentration and $\delta^{15}N$ values of ammonium (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) in atmospheric deposition and runoff, Brumiste Bog (BR), Ore Mountains, Czech Republic.

and 1.6 ± 0.7 mg L⁻¹, respectively). In contrast, the mean NH₄⁺ concentration in runoff (0.17 ± 0.03 mg L⁻¹) was four times lower, compared to open-area precipitation (0.67 ± 0.15 ml L⁻¹).

A 16-month time series of δ^{15} N values of open-area precipitation and surface runoff are given in Fig. 2. Generally, the range of δ^{15} N values of atmospheric deposition in the unforested part of BR was quite wide, from, 0.8 ‰ to -15.5 ‰ (Tab. 3). The range of δ^{15} N values of runoff was narrower (0.5 to -11.1 ‰). The mean δ^{15} N values of NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ deposited in an open area, close to the site of the peat porewater study, were -6.3 ± 0.7 and - 6.6 ± 1.0 ‰, respectively, and were statistically indistinguishable (p > 0.05). In contrast, the mean δ^{15} N values of NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ of runoff (means of 2.7 ± 0.7 and 2.0 ± 1.3 ‰, respectively) were both significantly heavier than those of the atmospheric input (p < 0.05). The δ^{15} N values of runoff NO₃⁻ and runoff NH₄⁺ were indistinguishable (p < 0.05).

Mean concentrations of NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ in spruce canopy throughfall (200 m from the peat porewater experimental site) were 3.5 ± 1.8 and 0.2 ± 0.05 mg L⁻¹, respectively. Mean δ^{15} N values NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ in throughfall were -5.1 ± 0.8 and -7.4 ± 1.0 ‰, respectively.



Fig. 2. A time-series of N isotope composition of nitrate and ammonium in atmospheric input and surface runoff from the BR peat bog. Export of both NO_3^- and NH_4^+ contained isotopically significantly heavier N, compared to atmospheric deposition.

3.2. Downcore trends in N concentration in solid peat

Three vertical peat cores from BR exhibited similar N concentration trends, but within-site variability increased with an increasing peat depth (Fig. 3). Downcore, total N concentration first increased (topmost five samples). Below the depth of 17 cm, N concentrations decreased to levels similar to the topmost sample (0.75 wt. % dry mass). Across all studied depths, the mean N concentration was 1.13 ± 0.05 wt. %.

3.3. Nitrate and nitrous-oxide concentrations in peat porewater

Nitrate concentrations in BR porewater were on average lower than in the 2016-2017 atmospheric deposition (means of 0.97 ± 0.06 and 1.8 ± 0.57 mg L⁻¹, respectively; Fig. 4a; Tab. 4). Nitrogen concentrations in BR porewater were mostly also lower than in runoff $(0.97 \pm 0.06 \text{ and } 1.6 \pm 0.66 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, respectively). With an increasing peat depth, porewater NO₃⁻ concentrations first slightly decreased (from 1.0 ± 0.11 to 0.76 ± 0.12 mg L⁻¹), but then increased sharply to a mean value of 1.4 ± 0.20 mg L⁻¹ at a depth of 60 cm, which was close to the NO₃⁻ concentration in runoff (Fig. 4a).



Fig. 3. Vertical trends in the concentration of total N in replicated peat cores from BR (n = 3). Means and standard errors are given.

Also N₂O concentrations in porewater gas were lower, compared to N₂O concentrations in the atmosphere (Fig. 4b; Tab. 5). The mean N₂O concentration in the atmosphere 2 m above the wetland was 327 ± 4 ppb, nearly identical the global mean of 328 ppb (IPCC, 2017). The mean N₂O concentration in BR porewater was 271 ± 3 ppb, ca. 18 % lower than in the atmosphere. Slightly lower N₂O concentrations were detected at the 30 cm depth, but the N₂O porewater concentrations were statistically indistinguishable along the vertical profile (*p* > 0.05). With an increasing depth, variability in N₂O concentrations increased (Fig. 4b).

Peat depth (cm)]	N ₂ O						
		con	centrat	ion (mg	L ⁻¹)		ð ¹⁵ N (‰)						
	1*	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6	
10	268	274	269	256	280	273	0.7			0.5			
20	277	285	248	274	315		2.0	-0.2	0.3				
30	228	241	271	258	278	272	-1.1	-0.8		0.2		0.3	
40	254		251		267	316	-0.5		-1.0		0.1	-9.7	
50	253	303	249	249		320	0.6	-14.1	-2.5	0.4		-9.4	
60	247	366	238	246	274		-1.3	-20.7	-2.9	-1.1			

Table 4. Concentration and $\delta^{15}N$ values of pore-water N₂O along vertical profiles through Sphagnum-dominated peat bog BR (Czech Republic).

*replicate number

3.4. $\delta^{15}N$ values of porewater NO_3^- and N_2O

Sampling of NO₃⁻ and N₂O from peat porewaters was performed using different methodology and different equipment (*see* Section 2.2.). The unplanned drought toward the end of the 23-day porewater-reequilibration period prior to N₂O sampling, followed by an extreme precipitation event on day 24, led to different characteristics of N₂O and NO₃⁻ samples from the topmost peat layers. The water table sank below the 10 cm depth of the topmost installations only in week 3. The δ^{15} N values of porewater N₂O thus covered two thirds of the 23-day interval. In contrast, lysimeters designed to sample NO₃⁻ were activated only on day 19, *i.e.*, at a time when the topmost depth of 10 cm was already above the water table. It follows that the deeper four levels (30, 40, 50 and 60 cm) were water-saturated throughout the experiment, and δ^{15} N values of NO₃⁻ and N₂O can be evaluated jointly. In contrast, NO₃⁻ samples from the 10-cm depth represent only the streamflow of day 24, and cannot be directly compared to the pre-storm samples of N₂O from the same shallow depth. Accordingly, porewater N_2O and NO_3^- data in Fig. 5 have been color-coded; solid symbols and full lines refer to continuously waterlogged levels, whereas open symbols and dotted lines mark samples incomparable due to drought that was followed by a major precipitation event.

In the deepest sampled level of 60 cm, the mean δ^{15} N value of porewater NO₃⁻ (-3.2 ± 1.7 ‰) was higher than the mean δ^{15} N value of porewater N₂O (-4.3 ± 4.3 ‰; Fig. 5; Tab. 4), but the difference was statistically insignificant (p > 0.05). Upcore, starting at the depth of 50 cm, mean δ^{15} N values of NO₃⁻ decreased, while mean δ^{15} N values of N₂O increased (Fig. 5; Tab. 5). A strong negative correlation between these two variables was observed across the 60 to 30 cm depth interval (p < 0.05; Fig. 6). At depths shallower than 30 cm, the mean δ^{15} N-N₂O values continued to smoothly increase up to 2.0 ‰, a value slightly higher than the N₂O isotope signature of local atmosphere (down arrow in Fig. 5 top right). The two topmost δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ values were by 3 ‰ higher than that at the 30-cm depth. These two topmost δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ values were very close to the NO₃⁻ isotope signature of atmospheric input (down arrow in Fig. 5 top left).

Table 5. Concentration and $\delta^{15}N$ values of pore-water NO_3^- along vertical profiles through Sphagnum-dominated peat bog BR (Czech Republic).

]	NO ₃ -							
Peat depth (cm)		со	ncentrat	ion (mg l	L ⁻¹)		δ ¹⁵ N (‰)							
	1*	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6		
10		0.89	0.90	0.80	0.80		-12.7	-6.0	-6.6	-7.7	-4.8			
20	0.44		0.60			0.44	-5.2	-5.5	-6.0	-5.6	-6.4	-3.1		
30		0.44		0.90	0.90	0.44	-10.5	-4.9	-9.1	-7.7	-14.8	-9.9		
40	0.44	0.93	0.40	0.80	0.80		-7.5	-5.7	-13.7	-3.3	-9.8	-8.1		
50	0.75		0.89	0.60	0.60		-1.2	-5.1	-0.1	-9.9	0.6	-3.3		
60	0.44						-2.9	3.2	-8.2		-4.4			

3.5. Porewater $\delta^{I8}O$ -H₂O values

All δ^{18} O values of peat porewater were between -7.4 and -10.1 ‰ (Tab. 6). The mean δ^{18} O-H₂O value across all depths was -9.0 ± 0.1 ‰. The mean δ^{18} O-H₂O values at individual depths differed by less than 1 ‰ and were statistically indistinguishable (p > 0.05; Fig. 4c).

 δ^{18} O-H₂O values of runoff were measured on June 8 and July 11, 2017 (-10.1 and -8.7 ‰, respectively), giving an average of 9.4 ‰ (Fig. 4c bottom).



Fig. 4. Reactive nitrogen compounds and water oxygen isotopes in BR peat pore water, early summer 2017. (a) NO_3^- concentrations; (B) N_2O concentrations; (c) $\delta^{18}O$ -H₂O values. Means and standard errors are given. Down arrows mark atmospheric inputs and surface runoff.



Fig. 5. Nitrogen isotope ratios *vs.* depth plot for BR peat. Solid symbols – permanently water-saturated peat layers; open symbols – topmost peat layers, to various extent affected by a late June dry period accompanied by a short water table drawdown to -15 cm. Means and standard errors are given. Down arrows mark N isotope signatures of atmospheric input

and surface runoff. Grey band representing $\delta^{15}N$ values of bulk solid peat is a compilation from Novak et al. (2014, 2016).

ð ¹⁸ O-H ₂ O (‰)										
1*	2	3	4	5	6					
-9.3	-8.9	-7.8	-8.6	-8.8	-8.3					
-9.0	-8.9	-8.8	-9.1	-9.4	-9.7					
-9.1	-8.9	-8.9	-9.0	-9.6	-9.9					
-8.9	-9.1	-9.1	-8.4	-9.3	-10.1					
-9.3	-8.7	-7.4	-8.4	-8.6	-10.1					
-9.6	-8.8	-9.0	-8.4	-8.5	-9.8					
	1* -9.3 -9.0 -9.1 -8.9 -9.3 -9.6	1* 2 -9.3 -8.9 -9.0 -8.9 -9.1 -8.9 -8.9 -9.1 -9.3 -8.7 -9.6 -8.8	δ ¹⁸ O- 1* 2 3 -9.3 -8.9 -7.8 -9.0 -8.9 -8.8 -9.1 -8.9 -8.9 -8.9 -9.1 -9.1 -9.3 -8.7 -7.4 -9.6 -8.8 -9.0	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $					

Table 6. ð¹⁸O values of pore water along vertical peat profiles, BR (Czech Republic).

*replicate number

Fig. 6. Negative correlation between δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values in peat pore waters. *See* text for details.



4. Discussion

4.1. Methodological limitations

Nitrate in peat bogs, both primary (deposited from the atmosphere) and secondary (derived from organic matter/ammonium via nitrification), is a direct precursor of N₂O. Whereas N₂O produced in wetlands by denitrification has been extensively studied by means of stable isotope ratios, no $\delta^{15}N$ data on peat porewater nitrate have been reported thus far. Methodological difficulties can explain this imbalance. At NO₃⁻ concentrations of less than 1 mg L⁻¹ (Tab. 5), one liter of porewater is needed for analysis (e.g., Bremner, 1965; cf., Huber et al., 2011). In principle, NO3⁻ could be extracted from frozen peat cores. However, assuming a common coring diameter (10 cm) and sectioning interval (2 cm), at least 30 peat cores would be needed for a single δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ analysis. Replicated studies would be unfeasible. Instead, we used suction lysimeters with a five-day sampling interval. This approach made it possible to obtain vertical trends in δ^{15} N-NO₃ in pore water, but we had to compromise on spatial resolution. Suction cups, typically used in upland soils, are known for a poorly defined volume of soil solutions which they actually sample. It is likely that each lysimeter collected soil solution from a larger volume than each soil gas sampler. Significantly different δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ values were found at several adjacent depths (*e.g.*, 50 and 40 cm; Fig. 5). We therefore suggest that solution volumes sampled at our 10-cm peat depth intervals provided meaningful, vertically stratified δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ data.

4.2. Contrasting N_r inputs and outputs at the wetland scale

Pollutant N can be transported over long distances due to relatively long residence times of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ in the atmosphere (5-15 days; Galloway et al., 2004). $\delta^{15}N$ values of coexisting NO_3^- and NH_4^+ in atmospheric deposition fingerprint N sources, but can also record N isotope fractionations occurring during transport to the receptor site (Savard et al., 2017). Kendall and Mc Donnell (1998) summarized the reasons for typically more negative $\delta^{15}N$ - NH_4^+ values, compared to $\delta^{15}N-NO_3^-$, in atmospheric deposition. Biogenic gaseous NH₃, a precursor of aqueous NH_4^+ , contains isotopically light N. Industrial NO_x , a precursor of NO_3^- , contains isotopically heavy N (up to 26 ‰), especially if emitted from coal-fired power stations (Felix et al., 2015, 2017). The overall δ^{15} N isotope signature of air-borne NO₃⁻ can be driven to lower positive, or even negative values by an admixture of NO_x emissions from vehicles (down to -13 ‰; Redling et al., 2013).

Data in Tab. 3 and Fig. 5, collected in 2016-2017, along with previously published data from sites located close to BR, make it possible to characterize a temporal change in the N isotope signature of atmospheric input. The oldest N isotope data from 1995-1997 gave a positive mean δ^{15} N-NO₃ value of 1.5 ‰ (Buzek et al., 1998). A second data set comes from 2013, with a negative mean δ^{15} N-NO₃ value of -8.5 ‰ (Novak et al., 2016). The current study yielded also a negative mean δ^{15} N-NO₃ value of -6.3 ‰ in 2016-2017. It appears that with easing atmospheric pollution, open segments of peat bogs in the northwestern Czech Republic received a greater proportion of traffic-derived NO₃⁻ at the expense of coal-burning derived NO₃⁻. The mean δ^{15} N-NH₄⁺ values of atmospheric deposition in an open area were -9.0, -8.5 and -6.6 ‰ in 1995-1997, 2013, and 2016-2017, respectively (Buzek et al., 1998, Novak et al., 2016, and the current study). This trend toward higher δ^{15} N-NH₄⁺ values probably reflects a change in the source area or in land use.

Mean NO3⁻ concentrations of atmospheric input and of stream output were nearly the same and thus provided no insights into within-bog N cycling. By contrast, NO₃⁻N in the stream output was isotopically significantly heavier than the input (a 3.6 ‰ shift to less negative $\delta^{15}N$ values). Figs. 2 and 5 thus clearly showed that NO_3^- in runoff was predominantly secondary, *i.e.*, newly formed following organic N cycling in the peat bog. Interestingly, the mean δ^{15} N value of the atmospheric input was very close to that of the 10-cm deep peat pore water, and the mean $\delta^{15}N$ value of runoff was nearly identical to that of the deepest analyzed peat pore water (Fig. 5). During several hours before cumulative NO₃⁻ sampling by suction cups, a rain event caused a rapid rise of the bog water table from 15 to 5 cm below Sphagnum capitula. The N isotope systematic confirmed that the 10-cm deep NO_3^- sample was derived from fresh rainwater, and, because of its extremely short within-bog residence time, it was not affected by organic N cycling, including nitrification or denitrification. We did not measure the NO₃-N isotope signature of peat pore water at depths between 70 and 200 cm, but hydrological literature agrees that hydraulic conductivity in mountain-top peat bogs sharply decreases with an increasing depth and that runoff is predominantly generated at shallow depths. Nitrogen isotopes suggest that peat depths of approximately 60 cm below

surface may have significantly contributed to runoff generation at the time of sampling. This conclusion is corroborated by similar δ^{18} O-H₂O values of the 60 cm depth pore water and of runoff (a difference of mere 0.5 %; Fig. 4c).

4.3. N cycling through <u>Sphagnum</u> and solid peat

Tab. 7 summarizes temporal changes in atmospheric N deposition at Jezeri (JEZ), a site similar to BR, also situated in the northern Czech Republic. At JEZ, monthly hydrochemical input–output mass balances have been constructed for the past 24 years (Oulehle et al., 2017). Atmospheric deposition of total N_r in unforested parts of JEZ was 12.7, 17.5 and 8.6 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 1995, 2000 and 2015, respectively. According to Lamers et al. (2000), sites receiving < 10 kg N_r ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ can be viewed as low-polluted, sites receiving 10 to 18 kg N_r ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ are medium-polluted, and sites receiving > 18 kg N_r ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ are highly polluted. *Sphagnum* at low- and medium-polluted sites functions as an efficient N filter, and under water-saturated conditions N is not leached to depth greater than 5-10 cm below surface. BR can be currently viewed as a low-polluted site where incoming N is immobilized close to the moss surface. Clearly, at times of a water-table drawdown, rainfall N rapidly reaches all peat layers above the water table depth (15 cm on June 22, 2017)

In the topmost 10 cm, total N concentrations in bulk BR peat systematically increased (Fig. 3). This increase is typical of most *Sphagnum*-dominated peat bogs, regardless of the timing of peak atmospheric N pollution (today *vs.* decades ago), and indicates a certain limited degree of vertical N mobility, accompanying rapid degradation of labile organic compounds in recent plant necromass (see, *e.g.*, Fritz et al., 2014 for discussion). In this study, we did not determine δ^{15} N values of bulk peat. The grey band in Fig. 5 marks a range of typical δ^{15} N values of bulk peat in the Czech mountains, based on 150 δ^{15} N measurements within eight different depth profiles at sites similar to BR, separated into 2-cm vertical segments (similar altitude, N pollution history, and climate; Novak et al., 2015, 2016). The δ^{15} N values of bulk peat (99 wt. % organic N) rapidly increased to the depth of 15-20 cm, and continued to increase more slowly toward the bottom of the peat cores. The shift toward heavier organic N in deeper peat layers, but also in deeper horizons of aerated upland soils, has been interpreted by numerous authors as resulting from preferential mineralization and mobilization of isotopically light N (Nadelfoffer and Fry, 1988). The residual isotopically heavier N remains

in the maturating peat substrate. Importantly, typical residual peat substrate at a depth of 40 to 60 cm, where maximum denitrification rates have been described in other peat bog studies (Goldberg et al., 2008, and references therein), contains isotopically heavier N, compared to NO_3^- -N and N₂O-N at BR (Fig. 5 bottom). Nitrogen isotope systematics thus give an intrinsically consistent picture: Nitrification and denitrification remove from the 60- to 40- cm deep peat N that is isotopically lighter than N of the residual organic matter.

Table 7. Atmospheric deposition fluxes of reactive nitrogen forms in the vicinity of Brumiste (BR). Data from catchment Jezeri, Ore Mts. (Oulehle, 2018)

Site		19	95			20	000		2015				
	open-area precipitation		en-area canopy ipitation throughfall		open-area precipitation		canopy throughfall		open-area precipitation		canopy throughfall		
	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	
						kg ha	¹ yr ⁻¹						
JEZ	7.0	12.7	11.4	13.6	10.0	7.5	15.6	16.8	5.8	2.8	5.0	4.2	

4.4. Scavenging of air-borne N_2O by the wetland

Ombrotrophic peat bogs can function as a source or a sink of N₂O (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007). Under acidic conditions (mean BR bog water pH of 4.2; Tab. 2), nitrification is a generally slow process (Zhu et al., 2013), and large N₂O emissions are not expected. This is in a sharp contrast to higher-pH minerotrophic fens from which sizeable N₂O emissions have been observed (Goldberg et al., 2009). A comparison of atmospheric and porewater N₂O concentrations alone (Fig. 4b) permits a conclusion important in the broader context of atmospheric N₂O budget. N₂O concentrations in the porewater profile (mean of 275 ppb) were significantly (p < 0.05) lower than the local N₂O concentration in the air (327 ppb). Hence, it is unlikely that BR was a net source of N₂O at the time of our study. Instead, N₂O may have been removed from the atmosphere, entering the wet soil along a concentration gradient, and, to some extent, microbially reduced in the porewater. Indeed, in our previous study in the Eagle Mts. (northeastern Czech Republic; Novak et al., 2015) we measured "negative" N₂O emissions from an ombrotrophic Sphagnum bog on one sampling day, and negligible positive N₂O emissions (< 0.02 μ mol m⁻² h⁻¹) on a second sampling day. The previously studied bog in the northeast was not a source of N₂O despite the fact that the N₂O concentrations in the 60-cm deep porewater were 70 times higher than at BR, and despite significantly higher atmospheric N_r inputs due to higher industrial pollution, compared to BR.

Scavenging of atmospheric N_2O by BR wetland was corroborated by the similarity of N_2O -N isotope signature in the shallowest porewater depths and in the atmosphere (both close to 2 %; Fig. 5).

4.5. The role of denitrification at BR

From the atmosphere/peat surface to the depth of 50 cm, the mean $\delta^{15}N$ value of N_2O relatively smoothly decreased (p < 0.05; Fig. 5), while N₂O porewater concentrations remained constant (statistically insignificant differences among individual depths, p > 0.05; Fig. 4b). Given such a combination of concentration and isotope patterns, the decreasing $\delta^{15}\text{N-N}_2\text{O}$ values downcore cannot be explained without invoking denitrification. We are not aware of any experimental data on N isotope effects of N₂O diffusion in a water column, but N₂O containing isotopically light N might be associated with a higher diffusion rate. If so, the diffusion front at greater depth would have a lower δ^{15} N value, in agreement with Fig. 5. At BR, however, diffusion to greater depths was unlikely because of the non-existence of a within-peat N₂O concentration gradient (Fig. 4b). On the other hand, a small rate of *in-situ* denitrification could be consistent with both the N₂O concentration and N₂O-N isotope pattern observed in the porewater. In such a scenario, N2O is both added to, and consumed at, each depth between 30 and 50 cm. The low concentrations of the NO₃⁻ reactant ($\leq 1 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) in BR peat porewater (Fig. 4a) themselves do not preclude the process of denitrification; in our previous study, we found a rain-fed bog with $< 1 \text{ mg NO}_3^- \text{L}^{-1}$ in porewater, producing as much as 140 ppm N₂O (more by a factor of 500, compared to BR; Novak et al., 2015). We assume a dynamic character of the small NO_3^- pool in peat porewater, replenished by nitrification and dispersion/diffusion of atmospherically deposited NO₃, and depleted by reduction to N₂O. Simultaneously, the small N₂O pool in pore water (mainly between depths of 50 and 30 cm), continuously replenished by denitrification, is depleted by further reduction to N₂. It is the N₂O reduction to N₂ that leaves behind isotopically heavier residual N₂O-N, seen upcore in Fig. 5 (lower part). Mixing of this residual N₂O with atmospheric N₂O, more intense in the shallowest peat layers, is needed to explain the relatively stable N₂O concentrations along the vertical porewater profile.

We suggest that the significantly increasing mean δ^{15} N value of NO₃⁻ from the 30 to 50-cm depth (p < 0.05; Fig. 5) is also related to denitrification. Nitrate at the 30-cm depth was isotopically different from atmospheric NO_3^- (on average by -3.6 % lighter). It clearly contained some secondary NO_3^{-} , resulting from nitrification. With an increasing peat depth, isotopically heavier NO₃-N probably reflects higher rates of denitrification. Previous studies have indicated that the 50-60 cm depths in waterlogged organic soils may be associated with the highest denitrification rates (Goldberg et al., 2009); these layers are effectively anoxic and, unlike deeper/older peat, still abound in labile organic C. At a depth of 50 cm, more advanced denitrification left behind isotopically heavier N of residual NO₃, compared to the 30-cm depth. Depending on temperature and chemistry, peat porewater contains at least 100 times more NO₃⁻N than N₂O-N per unit volume. Given that 1mole of NO₃⁻ produces similar to 1 mole of N₂O during denitrification, the N isotope signature of the NO₃⁻ pool at a particular depth is more robust than that of N₂O. Yet, we have seen in Fig. 6 that there was a strong negative correlation ($R^2 = 0.85$, p < 0.05) between δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values in the BR porewater. Between the depths of 30 and 50 cm, the N isotope shifts in NO_3^- and N_2O were of very similar magnitude (-6 and +5 ‰, respectively). We do not have sufficient data to construct an N isotope mass balance, but it is obvious from the discussion above that this negative relationship (solid symbols in Fig. 5) could not be a result of a single process. Laboratory studies have shown that N₂O, as a product of nitrification, can contain N that is isotopically lighter by up to 40 ‰, compared to NO₃⁻N. At BR, we observed isotopically lighter N₂O-N, compared to NO₃-N only at the depths of 50 and 60 cm, however, the difference between both mean $\delta^{15}N$ values was statistically insignificant. In our previous study (Novak et al., 2015) with much more vigorous N₂O production than at BR, we observed even heavier mean N₂O-N in peat porewater (0 to 2 ‰, as opposed to -4 to 0 ‰ at BR-solid symbols). In the cited previous study, partial reduction of porewater N₂O to N₂ was the only feasible explanation of isotopically heavier N₂O-N toward shallower depths, in order to reconcile vigorous N₂O production at a depth of 60 cm with negligible N₂O emission from the bog surface to the atmosphere. We conclude that the isotopically heavier N₂O-N toward shallower depths at BR (solid circles in Fig. 5) must have also been a result of partial reduction of N₂O to N₂ as the final step of denitrification.

Fig. 7a shows that high air temperatures persevered only for four days after the activation of the lysimeters, and that the stormflow on June 23, 2017, which caused re-wetting of the top peat layers, was smaller compared to another precipitation event earlier (on June 4). Fig. 7b shows the results of a water table monitoring four years earlier, published by Bohdalkova et al. (2013). The lower curve shows the water table level just a few meters from our N porewater study (*see* Fig. 1 for location of water table monitoring sites). Similar to 2017, a 15-cm water table drawdown was recorded in 2013. The low N₂O concentrations in porewater observed by us in 2017 may be quite common. The upper curve shows completely wet *Sphagnum* at the central part of BR, close to the pond. That segment of the bog is more favourable for CH₄ emissions (Bohdalkova et al., 2013), and may be also more favourable for N₂O emissions.



Fig.7. Meteorological parameters of the BR bog. (a) Maximum daily temperatures at the time of porewater and gas sampling (solid circles), and daily rainfall totals (solid columns); data from the Horni Blatna meteorological station, located 4 km from BR at the same elevation; (b) Water table level in the central part of the bog (upper curve), and in the southern part of the bog, close to the site of the N isotope study (lower curve). After Bohdalkova et al. (2013). For monitoring sites location *see* Fig. 1b.

We suggest that the unplanned short water table drawdown toward the end of our field experiment at BR did not affect redox processes taking place deeper than 20 cm below bog surface to an extent which would invalidate our interpretations in Sections 4.4. and 4.5. We can support this suggestion by our previous observations of the behavior of another redoxsensitive element, sulfur (S), in rain-fed peat bogs of Central Europe, the U.K. and the U.S. Despite some degree of porewater oxygenation, especially following precipitation events, δ^{34} S values at practically all study sites started to systematically decrease already in the topmost 2 cm of vertical peat profiles, indicating *anaerobic* bacterial sulfate reduction (Novak et al., 1994, 1999, 2005).

5. Conclusions

For the first time, a combination of N isotope profiles is reported for NO₃⁻ and N₂O in pore waters of an ombrotrophic peat bog. Unforested segments of the BR peat bog, situated in the northwestern Czech Republic, experienced a period of medium N deposition (18 kg N ha⁻¹ yr^{-1}) around the year 2000, but today belong to low-polluted areas (9 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Atmospheric deposition in the adjacent spruce stands decreased from 32 to 9 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ over the same period of time. In summer 2017, N₂O concentrations in porewater gas were by 18 % lower than N₂O concentrations in the atmosphere. Consequently, the studied bog was not a source of N₂O for the atmosphere, but rather a sink. Nitrous oxide was scavenged from the air by peat microorganisms and further reduced to N2, a gas with no warming potential. Between the depths of 50-60 cm below bog surface, the mean δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values were similar. Upcore, δ^{15} N-N₂O increased significantly up to a value identical to the $\delta^{15}\text{N-N}_2\text{O}$ in the atmosphere, while the N2O concentrations were nearly constant throughout the pore water profile. This isotope increase was probably caused by the final step of denitrification, N₂O reduction to N₂. Also upcore, the δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ values decreased significantly to a depth of 30 cm. In the uppermost peat segments, the δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ value of pore water became similar to the higher δ^{15} N-NO₃ value of atmospheric deposition. The strong negative correlation between δ^{15} N-NO₃⁻ and δ^{15} N-N₂O values found in deeper pore waters (60-30 cm below surface) could not be a result of a single process, NO_3^- reduction to N₂O, because this process is associated with an isotope fractionation toward isotopically lighter, not heavier, product. Instead, upward diffusion/ebullition of the N₂O generated by more efficient NO₃⁻ reduction in deeper peat layers was probably combined with reduction to

 N_2 . The residual N_2O became progressively enriched in the heavier isotope ¹⁵N. Our study confirmed that ombrotrophic peat bogs are not a major source of the greenhouse gas N_2O for the atmosphere. At the same time, N isotope systematics in BR peat pore water indicated that denitrification proceeded, probably at low rates, even under an acidic pH of around 4.

6. Acknowledgement.

This work was supported by a Czech Science Foundation grant to M.N. (no. 16-180795). Skillful technical assistance in N₂O isotope abundance and concentration analysis by Isolde Baumann (BayCEER – Laboratory of Isotope Biogechemistry, University of Bayreuth), and in installation of the suction cups device by Andreas Kolb (Soil Physics Department, University of Bayreuth) are gratefully acknowledged.

References:

- Bauer, G.A., Gebauer, G., Harrison, A.F., Högberg, P., Högbom, L., Schinkel, H., Taylor, A.F.S., Novak, M., Buzek, F., Harkness, d., Persson, T., Schultze, E.-D., 2000. Biotic and abiotic controls over ecosystem cycling of stable natural nitrogen, carbon, and sulphur isotopes. In: Schultze, E.-D. (Ed.), Carbon and nitrogen cycling in European forest ecosystems, Ecological studies 142, Springer, pp. 189-214.
- Berger, S., Gebauer, G., Blodau, C., Knorr, K.-H., 2017. Peatlands in eutrophic world Assessing the state of a poor fen-bog transition in southern Ontario, Canada, after long term nutrient input and altered hydrological conditions. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 114, 131-144.
- Berger, S., Jang, I., Seo, J., Kang, H., Gebauer, G., 2013. A record of N₂O and CH₄ emissions and underlying soil processes of Korean rice paddies as affected by different water management practices. Biogeochemistry 115, 317–332.
- Billings, S., 2008. Nitrous oxide in flux. Nature, 456, 18, 888-889.
- Blodau, C., Basiliko, N., Mayer, B., & Moore, T.R., 2006. The fate of experimentally deposited nitrogen in mesocosms from two Canadian peatlands. Science of the Total Environment 364, 215-228.
- Bohdalkova, L., Curik, J., Kubena, A.A., Buzek, F., 2013. Dynamics of methane fluxes from two peat bogs in the Ore Mountains, Czech Republic. Plant Soil Environment 59, 1, 14-21.
- Bragazza, L., Limpens, J., Gerdol, R., Grosvernier, P., Hajek, M., Hajek, T., et al., 2005. Nitrogen concentration and δ^{15} N signature of ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* mosses at different N deposition levels in Europe. Global Change Biology 11, 1, 106-114.
- Brand, W.A., 1995. Precon: A fully automated interface for the PRE-GC concentration of trace gases in air for isotopic analysis. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies 31, 3-4, 277-284.
- Bremner, J.M., 1965. Inorganic forms of nitrogen. In: Black, C.A. (Ed.) Methods of soil analysis, Part 2, Agronomy Vol.9. American Society of Agronomy Madison, WI, pp. 179-1237.
- Buzek, F., Cerny, J., Paces, T., 1998. The behavior of nitrogen isotopes in acidified forest soils in the Czech Republic. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 105, 155-164.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J.-L., Bernoux, M., 2007. Soils, a sink for N₂O? A review. Global Change Biology 13, 1-17.
- Dohnal, Z., Kunst, M., Mejstrik, V., Raucina, S., Vydra, V., 1965. Czechoslovak peatlands. Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, Czechoslovakia.
- Esmeijer-Liu, A.J., Kurschner, W.M., Lotter, A.F., Verhoeven, J.T.A., Goslar, T., 2012. Stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes in a peat profile are influenced by early stage diagenesis and changes in atmospheric CO₂ and N deposition. Water Air and Soil Pollution 223, 5, 2007-2022.

- Felix, J.D., Elliot, E.M., Avery, G.B., Kieber, R.J., Mead, R.N., Willey, J.D., Mullaugh,
 K.M., 2015. Isotopic composition in nitrate in sequential Hurricane Irene precipitation
 samples: Implications for changing NO_x sources. Atmospheric Environment 106, 191-195.
- Felix, J.D., Elliot, E.M., Gay, D.A., 2017. Spatial and temporal patterns of nitrogen isotopic composition of ammonia at US ammonia monitoring network. Atmospheric Environment 150, 434-442.
- Franzes, A.J., Loiseau, P., 1999. The fate of mineral nitrogen in a fen with *Sphagnum fallax* klinggr. and *Carex rostrata* stokes (Massif central, France). Canadian Journal of Botany 77, 1136-1143.
- Franzes, A.J., Pinay, G., Josselin, N., Williams, B.L., 2011. Denitrification triggered by nitrogen addition in *Sphagnum magellanicum* peat. Biogeochemistry 106, 3, 435-441.
- Fritz, C., Lamers, L.P.M., Riaz, M., van den Berg, L.J.L., Elzenga, TJ.T.M., 2014. *Sphagnum* mosses masters of efficient N-uptake while avoiding intoxication. Plos One, 9, 1, 1-11.
- Frolking, S., Talbot, J., Jones, M.C., Treat, C.C., Kauffman, J.B., Tuittila, E.S., Roulet, N., 2011. Peatlands in the Earth's 21st century climate system. Environmental Reviews, 19, 371-396.
- Galloway, J.N., Dentener, F.J., Capone, D.G., Boyer, E.W., Howarth, R.W., Sitzinger, S.P., Asner, G.P., Cleveland, C.C., Green, P.A., Holland, E.A., Karl, D.M., Michaels, A.F., Porter, J.H., Townsend, A.R., Vorosmarty, C.J., 2004. Nitrogen cycles: Past, present, future. Biogeochemistry 70, 153-226.
- Goldberg, S.D., Gebauer, G., 2009. Drought turns a Central European Norway spruce forest soil from an N₂O source to a transient N₂O sink. Global Change Biology 15, 850-860.
- Goldberg, S.D., Knorr, K.-H., Blodau, Ch., Lischeid, G., Gebauer, G., 2010. Impact of altering the water table height of an acidic fen on N₂O and NO fluxes and soil concentrations. Global Change Biology, 16, 220-233.
- Goldberg, S.D., Knorr, K.-H., Gebauer, G., 2008. N₂O concentration and isotope signature along profiles provide deeper insight into the fate of N₂O in soils. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies, 44, 4, 377-391.
- Göttlein, A., Hell, U., Blasek, R., 1996. A system for microscale tensiometry and lysimetry. Geoderma 69, 147–156.
- Göttlein, A., Matzner, E., 1997. Microscale heterogeneity of acidity-related stress parameters in the soil solution of a forested cambic podzol. Plant and Soil 192, 95–105.
- Harrison, A.F., Schultze, E.-D., Gebauer, G., Bruckner, G., 2000. Canopy uptake and utilization of atmospheric pollutant nitrogen. In: Schultze, E.-D. (Ed.), Carbon and nitrogen cycling in European forest ecosystems, Ecological studies 142, Springer, pp. 171-188.
- Heil, J., Wolf, B., Brüggemann, N., Emmenegger, L., Tuzson, B., Vereecken, H., Mohn, J., 2014. Site-specific ¹⁵N isotopic signatures of abiotically produced N₂O. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 139, 72-82.

- Hill, B.H., Jicha, T.M., Lehto, L.L.P., Elonen, C.M., Sebestyen, S.D., Kolka, R.K., 2016. Comparisons of soil nitrogen mass balances for an ombrotrophic bog and a minerotrophic fen in northern Minnesota. Science of the Total Environment 550, 880-892.
- Huber, B., Bernasconi, S., Luster, J., Pannatier, E.G., 2011. A new isolation procedure of nitrate from freshwater for nitrogen and oxygen isotope analysis. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 25, 20, 3056-3062.
- Inglett, P.W., Reddy, K.R., Newman, S., Lorenzen, B., 2007. Increased soil stable nitrogen isotopic ratio following phosphorus enrichment: Historical patterns and tests of two hypotheses in a phosphorus-limited wetland. Oecologia 153, 1, 99-109.
- IPCC: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Fifth assessment Report (AR5), 2014.
- Kendall, C., McDonnell, J.J., 1998. Isotope Tracers in Catchment Hydrology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Knowles, R., 1982. Denitrification. Microbiological Reviews 46, 1, 43-70.
- Kohzu, A., Matsui, K., Yamada, T., Sugimoto A., Fujita, N., 2003. Significance of rooting depth in mire plants: Evidence from natural ¹⁵N abundance. Ecological Research 18, 3, 257-266.
- Lamers, L.P.M., Bobbink, R., Roelofs, J.G.M., 2000. Natural nitrogen filter fails in polluted raised bogs. Global Change Biology, 6, 5, 583-586.
- Li, Y.H., Vitt, D.H., 1997. Patterns of retention and utilization of aerially deposited nitrogen in boreal peatlands. Ecoscience 4, 106-116.
- Limpens, J., Heijmans, M.P.D., Berendse, F., 2006. The nitrogen cycle in boreal peatlands. In: Wieder, R.K., Vitt, D.H. (Eds.), Boreal Peatland Ecosystems. Springer – Verlag, Berlin, pp.195-230.
- Manninen, S., Kivimaki, S., Leith, I.D., Leeson, S.R., Sheppard, L.J., 2016. Nitrogen deposition does not enhance *Sphagnum* decomposition. Science of the Total Environment 571, 314-322.
- Morley, N., Baggs, E.M., 2010. Carbon and oxygen controls on N₂O and N₂ production during nitrate reduction. Soil Biology & Biogeochemistry 42, 10, 1864-1871.
- Nadelhoffer, K.J., Fry, B., 1988. Controls on natural nitrogen-15 and carbon-13 abundances in forest soil organic matter. Soil Science Society of American Journal 52, 1633-1640.
- Nordbakken, J.F., Ohlson, M., Högberg, P., 2003. Boreal bog plants: Nitrogen sources and uptake of recently deposited nitrogen. Environmental Pollution 126, 191-200.
- Novak, M., Adamova, M., Wieder, R.K., Bottrell, S.H., 2005. Sulfur mobility in peat. Applied Geochemistry 20, 673-681.
- Novak, M., Buzek, F., Adamova, M., 1999. Vertical trends in δ^{13} C, delta δ^{15} N and δ^{34} S ratios in bulk *Sphagnum* peat. Soil Biology & Biogeochemistry 31, 9, 1343-1346.
- Novak, M., Gebauer, G., Thoma, M., Curik, J., Stepanova, M., Jackova, I., Buzek, F., Barta, J., Santruckova, H., Fottova, D., Kubena, A.A., 2015. Denitrification at two nitrogen-

polluted, ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* bogs in Central Europe: Insights from porewater N₂Oisotope profiles. Soil Biology & Biogeochemistry 81, 48-57.

- Novak, M., Jackova, I., Curik, J., Stepanova, M., Veselovsky, F., Buzek, F., Vile, M.A., Bufkova, I., Valkova, I., Adamova, M., Bohdalkova, L., Komarek, A., 2016. Contrasting δ^{15} N values of atmospheric deposition and *Sphagnum* peat bogs: N fixation as a possible cause. Ecosystems 19, 1037-1050.
- Novak, M., Wieder, R.K., Schell, W.R., 1994. Sulfur during early diagenesis in *Sphagnum* peat: Insights from δ^{34} S ratio profiles in ²¹⁰Pb dated peat cores. Limnology and Oceanography 39, 5, 1172-1185.
- Oulehle, F., Chuman, T., Hruska, J., Kram, P., McDowell, W.H., Myska, O., Navratil, T., Tesar, M., 2017. Recovery from acidification alters concentrations and fluxes of solutes from Czech catchments. Biogeochemistry 132, 251-272.
- Palmer, K., Köpp, J., Gebauer, G., Horn, M.A., 2016. Drying-rewetting and flooding impact denitrifier activity rather than community structure in a moderately acidic fen. Frontiers in Microbiology 7, article 727.
- R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.R-project.org.
- Reddy, K.R., Patrick, W.H., Lindau, C.W., 1989. Nitrification-denitrification at the plant root–sediment interface in wetlands. Limnology and Oceanography 34, 6, 1004-1013.
- Redling, K., Elliot, E., Bain, D., Sherwell, J., 2013. Highway contributions to reactive nitrogen deposition: Tracing the fate of vehicular NO_x using stable isotopes and plant biomonitors. Biogeochemistry 116, 1-3, 261-274.
- Savard, M.M., Cole, A., Smirnoff, A., Vet, R., 2017. δ^{15} N values of atmospheric N species simultaneously collected using sector-based samplers distant from sources: Isotopic inheritance and fractionation. Atmospheric Environment 162, 11-22.
- Tauchnitz, N., Spott, O., Russow, R., Bernsdorf, S., Glaser, B., Meissner, R., 2015. Release of nitrous oxide and dinitrogen from a transition bog under drained and rewetted conditions due to denitrification: results from a ¹⁵N nitrate-bromide double-tracer study. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies 51, 2, 300-321.
- Tiedje, J.M., 1988. Ecology of denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonia. In: Zehnder, A.J.B. (Ed.), Biology of Anaerobic Microorganisms. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 197-244.
- Vile, M.A., Wieder, R.K., Zivkovic, T., Scott, K.D., Vitt, D.H., Hartsock, J.A., Iosue, C.L., Quinn, J.C., Petix, M., Fillingim, H.M., Popma, J.M.A., Dynarski, K.A., Jackman, T.R., Albright, C.M., Wykoff, D.D., 2014. N₂-fixation by methanotrophs sustains carbon and nitrogen accumulation in pristine peatlands. Biogeochemistry 121, 2, 317-328.
- Wieder, R.K., Vitt, D.H., 2006. Boreal Peatland Ecosystems, Ecological Studies 188, Springer, Berlin.
- Williams, B.L., Silcock, D.J., Young, M., 1999. Seasonal dynamics of N in two *Sphagnum* moss species and the underlying peat treated with ¹⁵NH₄¹⁵NO₃. Biogeochemistry 45, 285-302.

- Wrage, N., Velthof, G.L., van Beusichem, M.L., Oenema, O., 2001. Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33, 12-13, 1723-732.
- Xing, Y., Bubier, J., Moore, T.R., Murphy, M., Basiliko, N., Wendel, S., Blodau, C., 2011. The fate of ¹⁵N-nitrate in a northern peatland impacted by long term experimental nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilization. Biogeochemistry 103, 281-296.
- Zając, K., Blodau, C., 2016. The fate of ¹⁵N-nitrate in mesocosms from five European peatlands differing in long-term nitrogen deposition rate. Biogeosciences 13, 707-722.
- Zhu, J., Mulder, J., Bakken, L., Dörsch, P., 2013. The importance of denitrification for N₂O emissions from an N-saturated forest in SW China: Results from in situ ¹⁵N labeling experiments. Biogeochemistry, 116, 103-117.

Declaration – Erklärung

(Eidesstattliche) Versicherungen und Erklärung

(§ 8 S. 1 Nr. 4 PromO):

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass gegen mich wegen eines Verbrechens oder eines vorsätzlichen Vergehens weder ein Ermittlungs- noch ein Strafverfahren anhängig ist.

(§ 8 S. 1 Nr. 5 PromO):

Hiermit erkläre ich eidesstattlich, dass ich die Dissertation selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die von mir angegeben Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. Ich habe die Dissertation nicht bereits zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht und habe auch nicht bereits diese oder eine gleichartige Doktorprüfung endgültig nicht bestanden.

(§ 8 S. 1 Nr. 7 PromO):

Hiermit erkläre ich eidesstattlich, dass ich keine gewerbliche Promotionsvermittlung und beratung in Anspruch genommen habe und auch nicht nehmen werde.

(§ 8 S. 1 Nr. 8 PromO):

Hiermit erkläre ich mich damit einverstanden, dass die elektronische Fassung meiner Dissertation unter Wahrung meiner Urheberrechte und des Datenschutzes einer gesonderten Überprüfung unterzogen werden kann.

(§ 8 S. 1 Nr. 9 PromO):

Hiermit erkläre ich mich damit einverstanden, dass bei Verdacht wissenschaftlichen Fehlverhaltens Untersuchungen durch universitätsinterne Organe der wissenschaftlichen Selbstkontrolle stattfinden können.

.....

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift